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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements. We intend such forward-looking statements to be covered
by the safe harbor provisions for forward-looking statements contained in Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the
“Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). All statements other than
statements of historical facts contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K may be forward-looking statements. In some cases, you can
identify forward-looking statements by terms such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “expects,” “plans,” “anticipates,” “could,” “intends,”
“targets,” “projects,” “contemplates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “forecasts,” “predicts,” “potential” or “continue” or the negative of these
terms or other similar expressions. Forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K include, but are not
limited to statements regarding our future results of operations and financial position, industry and business trends, stock compensation,
business strategy, plans, market growth and our objectives for future operations.

» o« » o«

» « » « » «« » ««

The forward-looking statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are only predictions. We have based these forward-looking
statements largely on our current expectations and projections about future events and financial trends that we believe may affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations. Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and
other important factors that may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results,
performance or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements, including, but not limited to, the important factors
discussed in Part I, “Item 1A. Risk Factors” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The forward-looking statements in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K are based upon information available to us as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and while we believe such
information forms a reasonable basis for such statements, such information may be limited or incomplete, and our statements should not
be read to indicate that we have conducted an exhaustive inquiry into, or review of, all potentially available relevant information. These
statements are inherently uncertain and investors are cautioned not to unduly rely upon these statements.

You should read this Annual Report on Form 10-K and the documents that we reference in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and
have filed as exhibits to this Annual Report on Form 10-K with the understanding that our actual future results, levels of activity,
performance and achievements may be materially different from what we expect. We qualify all of our forward-looking statements by
these cautionary statements. These forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Except as
required by applicable law, we do not plan to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K, whether as a result of any new information, future events or otherwise.
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BASIS OF PRESENTATION

On August 28, 2017, we executed a reorganization of our corporate structure. Our original parent company was called Lulu’s
Holdings, LLC. This entity was converted to Lulu’s Holdings, L.P. (the “LP”). We formed two new subsidiaries, Lulu’s Fashion Lounge
Holdings, Inc. and Lulu’s Fashion Lounge Parent, LLC, to sit between the LP and our operating company. Our operating company,
previously known as Lulu’s Fashion Lounge, Inc., was converted from a California corporation to a Delaware limited liability company,
Lulu’s Fashion Lounge, LLC, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Lulu’s Fashion Lounge Holdings, Inc. In connection with our
initial public offering, the LP was liquidated. Unless otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires, references in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K to the terms “Lulus,” “we,” “us,” “our,” or the “Company” refer to Lulu’s Fashion Lounge Holdings, Inc. and its
consolidated subsidiaries.

Our fiscal year is a “52-53 week” year ending on the Sunday closest in proximity to December 31, such that each quarterly period
will be 13 weeks in length, except during a 53 week year when the fourth quarter will be 14 weeks. References herein to “fiscal 2021
and/or “2021” relate to the year ending January 2, 2022, “fiscal 2020” and/or “2020” relate to the year ended January 3, 2021 and “fiscal
2019” and/or “2019” relate to the year ended December 29. 2019. The year ended January 3, 2021 was a 53-week year.

Throughout this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we provide a number of key performance indicators used by management and
typically used by our competitors in our industry. These and other key performance indicators are discussed in more detail in the section
titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Key Operating and Financial
Metrics.” In this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we also reference Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Diluted Earnings (Net Loss) per
Share, which are non-GAAP (accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America) financial measures. See
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Non-GAAP Financial Measures” for a
discussion of Adjusted EBITDA, as well as a reconciliation of net income (loss) to Adjusted EBITDA. Net income (loss) is the most
directly comparable financial measure to Adjusted EBITDA required by, or presented in accordance, with GAAP. See “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Non-GAAP Financial Measures” for a discussion of
Adjusted Diluted Earnings (Net Loss) per Share, as well as a reconciliation of Adjusted Diluted Earnings (Net Loss) per Share to diluted
earnings (net loss) per share. Diluted earnings (net loss) per share is the most directly comparable financial measure to Adjusted Diluted
Earnings (Net Loss) per Share required by, or presented in accordance, with GAAP.
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SUMMARY RISK FACTORS

Our business is subject to numerous risks and uncertainties, including those described in Part I, “Item 1A. Risk Factors” in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. You should carefully consider these risks and uncertainties when investing in our common stock. The
principal risks and uncertainties affecting our business include the following:

If we are not able to successfully maintain our desired merchandise assortment or manage our inventory effectively, we may be
unable to attract a sufficient number of customers or sell sufficient quantities of our merchandise, which could result in excess
inventories, markdowns, and foregone sales;

The COVID-19 pandemic has had and may in the future have an adverse effect on our labor workforce availability, supply
chain, business, financial condition, and results of operations in ways that remain unpredictable;

Our success depends on our ability to anticipate, identify, measure, and respond quickly to new and rapidly changing fashion
trends, customer preferences and demands, and other factors;

Our efforts to acquire or retain customers may not be successful, which could prevent us from maintaining or increasing our
sales;

We may be unable to maintain a high level of engagement with our customers and increase their spending with us, which could
harm our business, financial condition, and results of operations;

If we fail to provide high-quality customer support, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition,
and results of operations;

Our business depends on our ability to maintain a strong community around the Lulus brand with engaged customers and
influencers. We may not be able to maintain and enhance our existing brand community if we receive customer complaints,
negative publicity or otherwise fail to live up to consumers’ expectations, which could materially adversely affect our business,
financial condition, and results of operations;

We operate in the highly competitive retail apparel industry, and the size and resources of some of our competitors may allow
them to compete more effectively than we can, which could adversely impact our growth and market share, and have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations;

We may not be able to successfully implement our growth strategy;

We rely on third parties to drive traffic to our platform, and these providers may change their algorithms or pricing in ways that
could negatively affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations;

Our use of social media, influencers, affiliate marketing, email, text messages, and direct mail may adversely impact our brand
and reputation or subject us to fines or other penalties;

As we pursue our international growth strategy, we will become subject to international business uncertainties;

We rely on consumer discretionary spending and may be adversely affected by economic downturns and other macroeconomic
conditions or trends;

System security risk issues, including any real or perceived failure to protect confidential or personal information against
security breaches and disruption of our internal operations or information technology systems, could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations;

We continually update, augment and add technology systems, which could potentially disrupt our operations and have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, cash flows, and results of operations;
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®  Our business relies heavily on email and other messaging services, and any restrictions on the sending of emails or messages or
an inability to timely deliver such communications could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, cash
flows, and results of operations;

® Our business, including our costs and supply chain, is subject to risks associated with sourcing, manufacturing, and
warehousing;

o We have three distribution facilities and several administrative offices and disruptions to the operations at these locations could
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, cash flows, and results of operations;

e We rely upon independent third-party transportation providers for substantially all of our merchandise shipments and any
disruptions or increased transportation costs could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, cash
flows, and results of operations; and

e We may be subject to liability and other risks if we, our suppliers or the manufacturers of our merchandise infringe upon the
trademarks, copyrights or other intellectual property rights of third parties, including the risk that we could acquire merchandise
from our suppliers without the full right to sell it.
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PART 1
Item 1. Business.
Our Business

Lulus is a customer-driven, digitally-native fashion brand primarily serving Millennial and Gen Z women. We focus relentlessly on
giving our customers what they want. We do this by using data coupled with human insight to deliver a curated and continuously
evolving assortment of on-point, affordable luxury fashion. Our customer obsession sets the tone for everything we do, from our
personalized online shopping experience to our exceptional customer service.

We are focused on building authentic personal relationships with our customers and offering them coveted products they cannot
purchase elsewhere. We incorporate the pulse of the consumer by engaging with her where she is: across the web, on social media and
across our platform, through reviews, feedback and one-on-one interactions with our Style Advisors, Fit Experts and Bridal Concierge.
Customers express their love for our brand on social media and by word-of-mouth (both in-person and online).

A key differentiator of our business model from traditional fashion retail is our use of data to optimize almost all elements of our
business. Nowhere is this more pronounced than in our product creation and curation cycle. Traditional merchandising approaches are
risk and capital intensive, characterized by extended in-house design cycles, seasonal assortment decisions, deep buys, limited customer
feedback, and high markdowns. Unlike traditional retailers, we leverage a “test, learn, and reorder” strategy to bring hundreds of new
products to market every week; we test them in small batches, learn about customer demand and then quickly reorder winning products
in higher volume to optimize profitability. This strategy allows us to rapidly convert new products into profitable sales on a consistent
and repeatable basis while minimizing fashion and trend risk.

We are proud of our large, diverse community of loyal customers. Our target customer initially meets us in her 20s and stays with us
through her 30s and beyond. We design a broad assortment of affordable luxury fashion for many of life’s moments.

Recent Developments

On November 10, 2021, our registration statement on Form S-1 relating to our initial public offering (“IPO”) was declared effective
by the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) and the shares of our common stock began trading on the Nasdaq Global Market
on November 11, 2021. The IPO closed on November 15, 2021, pursuant to which we issued and sold 5,750,000 shares of our common
stock at a public offering price of $16.00 per share. On November 15, 2021, we received net proceeds of approximately $82.0 million
from the IPO, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions of approximately $6.1 million and other issuance costs of
approximately $3.9 million. Immediately prior to the completion of the IPO, we filed an amended and restated certificate of
incorporation, which authorized a total of 250,000,000 shares of common stock at $0.001 par value per share, and 10,000,000 shares of
preferred stock, $0.001 par value per share. Immediately prior to the completion of the IPO, all shares of the Series A Preferred Stock
then outstanding were converted into 15,000,000 shares of common stock. Additionally, 215,702 shares of common stock were issued to
the LP immediately prior to the completion of the IPO. All shares of the Series B Preferred Stock and the Series B-1 Preferred Stock
were redeemed and extinguished for a total payment of approximately $17.9 million on November 15, 2021.

Why We Win

Customer-Driven Fashion Brand: Lulus is one of the first digitally-native fashion brands in the United States primarily serving
Millennial and Gen Z women. We take pride in our ability to offer more luxurious fabrics and incorporate elevated stylistic details into
our products relative to what is offered by other comparably-priced brands. Our obsessive focus on customer experience creates deep
personal connections, which in turn rewards us with customer loyalty and word-of-mouth sharing of the brand.

Customer-Centric Experience: We are passionate about building a brand synonymous with exceptional customer service. We have
effectively brought the boutique experience online, developing one-on-one relationships with our customers in order to learn and then
address their individual needs. The number one reason our customers contact us is for personalized fit and styling assistance. We are able
to offer standardized sizing across the Lulus assortment, simplifying the shopping experience and giving our customer confidence that
she is selecting the best fit.
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Leveraging Data to Best Serve our Customer: We have built a massive dataset which gives us strong insight into our customers.
Millions of customers have interacted with us, leaving detailed reviews, interacting with our on-demand Style Advisors, Fit Experts, and
Bridal Concierge, and completing checkout surveys. Across Facebook, Instagram, Pinterest, Snapchat, TikTok, Twitter and YouTube, our
over 7.8 million followers engage with us through their comments, feedback, and photographs, and support of our brand with their digital
followers. In aggregate, this dataset gives us a deep understanding of our customers’ preferences.

Marketing and Engagement Strategy: ~ We engage with our customer where she is, in authentic and personalized ways: through
our website, mobile app, email, SMS, and on social media. This strategy helps drive brand awareness while fostering deep connections
with our customers. Our authentic partnerships with brand ambassadors span the full spectrum of followership and engagement levels,
from nano- and micro-influencers, to college ambassadors and celebrities, all of whom wear and genuinely love our brand.

Data-Driven Product Creation Strategy: Our innovative product creation strategy leverages the power of data and our “test, learn,
and reorder” approach to bring new styles online almost every weekday. We are able to optimize our inventory levels to meet customer
demand and minimize markdowns. This efficient, data-driven process, coupled with human insight, allows us to respond to fashion
trends with speed and precision while significantly reducing risk in our business.

Marketing

Our marketing strategy leverages our strong visual brand presence to build awareness and drive engagement with our large, diverse
community of loyal customers. We integrate the power of data across multiple channels to offer a singular brand voice that speaks to
Millennial and Gen Z women. We meet the Lulus customer wherever she is, enabling her discovery of the brand and providing her
numerous opportunities to interact with others in the Lulus community. Through this engagement with our customers, we strive to build
personal connections that are authentic and durable. We attract and engage customers through a combination of owned, earned and paid
media.

Upon attracting a new or existing customer to our website or mobile experience, we seek to maximize conversion through a variety
of strategies:

e Brand Strength and Exclusivity: ~As a digitally-native fashion brand, we benefit from the ability to focus our resources, as well
as our customers’ attention, primarily on the Lulus brand, without the distraction or complexity of managing and marketing a
large multi-brand portfolio. As a result, we focus on offering the best possible assortment of Lulus products for our customers.

® Product Reviews: One of the most important aspects of our digital shopping experience is our extensive database of
proprietary customer product reviews, which we first enabled in 2012 and now amounts to over 750,000 reviews. Our website
has the functionality to allow customers to upload their own product photos along with their reviews, which bring the products
to life on a diverse array of body types.

e Boutique Styling Experience: =~ We strive to offer exceptional customer service before, during, and after each purchase. We
accomplish this by continuously improving the boutique experience on our platform through features such as our product
recommendation engine and targeted messaging and with our in-house team of customer service associates who maintain deep
expertise of our brand, products, and systems.

e Personalized and Optimized Shopping Experience: ~We customize and personalize our interactions with each Lulus customer
by monitoring information such as how she arrives on our site, her on-site behavior, and what she buys. Our customer insights,
predictive capabilities, product recommendations, and custom-built website work seamlessly together to offer each customer a
personalized experience across web, mobile, our mobile app, email, and SMS.

These strategies work in unison to help drive order conversion. Whether she is browsing social media or providing feedback on a
recent purchase, we engage with our customer across a multitude of touchpoints throughout the discovery and purchase journey.
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Our Growth Strategies

Due to the mass market appeal of our brand, we believe there is a significant opportunity to bring new customers into the Lulus
community through increased brand awareness. We intend to grow awareness of the Lulus brand and attract new customers through the
following strategies:

e Further investment in performance digital marketing strategies;

e Exploration and expansion of new marketing channels;

e Continued expansion of our brand ambassador program at all engagement tiers, including celebrity, micro- and nano-
influencers, and college ambassadors to introduce Lulus to new audiences;

e Expansion of marketing programs that leverage word-of-mouth referral;

e Further development and testing of physical retail opportunities to expand on brand awareness, such as in-store partnerships
with third-party retailers and small-format pop-ups and showrooms; and

e Continued development of brand partnerships, with a clear focus on brands with strong customer affinity and crossover
potential. This includes collaborations with apparel brands and influencers, as well as adjacent category opportunities such as
beauty, home, and lifestyle.

Enhance and Retain Existing Customer Relationships

We have a large and growing Lulus community and we served 2.8 million Active Customers during the year ended January 2, 2022.
We continue to leverage data-driven customer insights to develop strong customer relationships and become a one-stop shop for Gen Z
and Millennial women. For example, we have had success leveraging data-driven insights across categories to offer personalized
suggestions and reminders at targeted points in time, and we are focused on expanding these capabilities to provide enhanced real-time
recommendations and post-purchase engagement. Additionally, we continually develop and evaluate new tools and programs designed to
improve the key customer metrics that drive our business, such as frequency of purchase and Average Order Value through the following
strategies:

e Optimization of our website and mobile experience through continued A/B and multivariate testing;

e Improvement of customer segmentation and personalization features;

o Leveraging our expanded multi-region distribution facilities to offer faster order delivery and developing new shipping options
for loyal customers;

o Development of our loyalty program, including through the launch of our revamped loyalty program in February 2022, to
engender even deeper brand engagement, drive repeat purchase behavior and increase wallet share;

e Enhancement of our customer service through the expansion of our Style Advisors, Fit Experts, and Bridal Concierge dedicated
to creating a truly personalized digital boutique experience;

e Continued development of our affordable luxury brand positioning and content; and
e Incorporating new technology that enhances our customers’ experience.

We have learned that enhancing our existing customers’ experience drives increased word-of-mouth (in-person and online)
recommendations, which in turn helps grow brand awareness.
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Pursue Category Expansion

We believe there is tremendous potential to continue to drive growth in our underpenetrated categories. We have a significant
opportunity to grow our share of total apparel budget with expansion into these underdeveloped areas. For example, our recent success in
bridal and swimwear demonstrates our ability to successfully launch and grow share in new categories. Our deep and personal
engagement with our customers through product reviews, exit surveys and social media feedback helps us understand the product
categories they are most interested in shopping and will continue to inform the breadth and depth of the categories we offer.

Due to our customer data-driven product creation strategy, we have the ability to test new categories with minimal upfront
investment and risk. New categories are opened with a controlled assortment of branded and partner products through which we learn to
understand customer demand via our reorder algorithms. Our ability to leverage our existing categories to introduce and grow new ones
has resulted in customer repeat orders with strong product diversification.

Pursue International Expansion

While we expect the majority of our near-term growth to continue to come from the United States, we believe that serving
international customers represents a long-term growth opportunity. To date, we have shipped our merchandise to over 100 countries,
while spending minimal dollars on marketing outside of the United States, demonstrating our global appeal and broader market
opportunity. Our long term strategy is to increase our focus on global performance media and to optimize our platform and distribution
processes for international customers, allowing for more flexibility across languages and currencies. We believe that providing a
localized shopping experience will significantly enhance our ability to serve customers in international markets.

Technology

The www.lulus.com website, mobile app, merchandising, customer, order, and warehouse management systems are proprietary,
purpose-built solutions with the goal of delivering the best possible customer experience and operational efficiency. From payment card
industry compliant checkout to the software running on handheld barcode scanners in order fulfillment, these key software processes are
developed, maintained, and enhanced by our in-house engineering and data teams to meet and exceed our customers’ expectations in a
scalable way. Data-driven insights are core to what we do at Lulus. Technology drives and supports our business in several foundational
areas, like our merchandising test, learn and reorder model, our cost-efficient marketing, and high operational efficiency.

Our proprietary reorder system is informed and powered by our data warehouse with predictive data modeling and business
intelligence. Sales analyses across hundreds of product attributes and assortment architecture and trend analyses inform our buyers’
selection of new styles. Customer demand and return signal data, product profitability, seasonality, and product demand prediction are
taken into consideration to advise our reorder buyers which products to reorder, when those reorders should arrive, and in what
quantities.

We combine purpose-built technology systems with customer focused engineering and data teams, to provide us with deep customer
behavior insights. Integrating information from many available sources, from customer actions and feedback on the platforms to
predictive analysis, continuously enhances our understanding of customer preference. This understanding allows us to activate
personalization across our platform and in our various marketing channels.

We also use our technology to optimize our operational efficiency as e-commerce fulfillment and reverse logistics are critical to
profitability. Our business model is characterized by high SKU velocity, low to no SKU affinity, quick order-to-to-ship requirements,
short return-to-refund timelines, and fast inventory turnover. We have built our own proprietary, integrated e-commerce backend system
to minimize cost and maximize customer satisfaction.

We have built our software development and deployment cycles such that software changes can be deployed daily after being
verified by fully automated testing, as well as by human functional testing. We work with reputable cloud services providers across
multiple data centers, with fully redundant infrastructure within each data center, as well as with full failover capability between data
centers, which allows us to serve our customers at virtually any time. Our infrastructure is flexible and scalable to provide our customers
with the best possible shopping experience.

10
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Security and Data Protection

We are committed to the security of our customers’ data and personal information. We aggregate and analyze data in order to
optimize the customer experience internally, and do not monetize the information we collect by selling it to third parties for their own
external purposes. We utilize both on-premise and cloud-based technologies and undertake technical and other administrative measures
to ensure the protection of our systems and customer data. We use various in-house and third-party tools to support our security policies
and procedures including user access controls, server monitoring, (web) firewalls, security content policies, and data encryption. We also
use external certified security partners to test for vulnerabilities in our software and infrastructure, and assist in our security practices,
which are designed to comply with the Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard. Finally, we have implemented processes and
procedures to allow customers to review and remove their non-transactional account data.

Competition

The women’s apparel, footwear, and accessories industry is large, fragmented, highly competitive and rapidly evolving. The industry
consists of various brands and retailers that employ several different operating models at varying price points, and consumers have the
option to shop both offline and online. Our competition includes traditional brands and retailers who market to consumers via offline and
online channels. Our competition also includes e-commerce retailers that generally operate as online department stores for third-party
and/or private label brands. Further, we may face new competitors and increased competition from existing competitors as we increase
our brand awareness, expand our categories, and pursue international expansion.

Competition in our industry is based on, among other things, quality, concept, price, breadth, and style of merchandise, as well as
customer service, brand image, brand quality, strength of brand relationships, and ability to anticipate, identify, and respond to new and
changing fashion trends. Because we are an early mover in our category, we believe we have a significant head start on becoming the go-
to brand for Millennial and Gen Z consumers. As one of the first digitally-native brands, Lulus is well-positioned to capitalize on our
deep digital footprint, social media infrastructure, loyal and active customer community, and product creation model. As a vertically
integrated business, we retain full control of critical aspects of our business including brand, product, marketing, distribution, and
customer service. Our long operating history means that we have collected a valuable dataset over the last decade while refining an
efficient, scalable business model.

Seasonality

Our results of operations for any interim period are not necessarily indicative of those for the entire year because our business is
subject to seasonal fluctuations. We generally expect demand to be greater in our second and third fiscal quarters compared to the rest of
the year. We believe that this seasonality has affected and will continue to affect our results of operations. We recognized 18%, 28%,
28%, and 26% of our annual net revenue during the first, second, third, and fourth quarters of the fiscal year ended January 2, 2022,
respectively.

Trademarks and Intellectual Property

Our trademarks, including LULUS® and Lulus-®, are registered with the United States Patent and Trademark Office. We also own
the registrations for LULU’S®, LOVELULUS®, and COVETED CURATED COLLECTED®. We own the domain name
www.lulus.com. We believe the Lulus® trademark has significant value in the marketing of our merchandise. We have registrations in
Canada, the European Union (the “EU”), the United Kingdom, Australia, Mexico, China, and several other countries, as well as
additional pending international applications. We vigorously protect our intellectual property rights.

Regulation and Legislation

We are subject to labor and employment laws, laws governing advertising and promotions, privacy laws, safety regulations,
customer protection regulations and other laws that regulate retailers and govern the promotion and sale of merchandise and warehouse
facilities. We monitor changes in these laws and believe that we are in material compliance with applicable laws.

We are also subject to a number of domestic and foreign laws and regulations that affect companies conducting business on the

internet, many of which are still evolving and could be interpreted in ways that could harm our business. These laws and regulations

11
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include federal and state consumer protection laws and regulations, which address, among other things, the privacy and security of
consumer information, sending of commercial email, and unfair and deceptive trade practices.

Under applicable federal and state laws and regulations addressing privacy and data security, we must provide notice to consumers
of our policies with respect to the collection and use of personal information, our sharing of personal information with third parties, and
notice of any changes to our data handling practices. In some instances, we may be obligated to give customers the right to prevent
sharing of their personal information with third parties. Under applicable federal and state laws, we also are required to adhere to a
number of requirements when sending commercial email to consumers, including identifying advertising and promotional emails as
such, ensuring that subject lines are not deceptive, giving consumers an opportunity to opt-out of further communications and clearly
disclosing our name and physical address in each commercial email. Regulation of privacy and data security matters is an evolving area,
with new laws and regulations enacted frequently. For example, California enacted legislation effective January 1, 2020 that, among
other things, requires certain disclosures to California consumers, and affords such consumers new abilities to opt out of certain sales of
personal information. Other states are following suit. In addition, under applicable federal and state unfair competition laws, including
the California Consumer Legal Remedies Act and Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”) regulations, we must, and our network of
influencers may be required to, accurately identify product offerings, not make misleading claims on our websites or in advertising, and
use qualifying disclosures where and when appropriate. The growth and demand for e-commerce could result in more stringent domestic
and foreign consumer protection laws that impose additional compliance burdens on companies that transact substantial business on the
internet.

Our international business is subject to additional laws and regulations, including restrictions on imports from, exports to, and
services provided to persons located in certain countries and territories, as well as foreign laws and regulations addressing topics such as
advertising and marketing practices, customs duties and taxes, privacy, data protection, information security and consumer rights, any of
which might apply by virtue of our sales in foreign countries and territories or our contacts with consumers in such foreign countries and
territories. For example, the United States and China and the United States and Mexico, where certain of our products are manufactured,
have recently engaged in an escalating trade war, which has led to each side threatening tariffs that could adversely affect our business
and results of operations or cause us to relocate manufacturing to other countries and territories, which could disrupt our operations. In
addition, the EU has implemented the General Data Protection Regulation (“GDPR™) which imposes stringent requirements regarding
the handling of personal data of individuals from the EU and provides for substantial penalties for noncompliance. Furthermore, there is
also increased focus on EU and UK privacy laws in respect of cookies, tracking technologies and e-marketing, and there has been
significant recent European court and regulatory decisions in this area, including through privacy activists. More generally, many foreign
jurisdictions have laws, regulations, or other requirements relating to privacy, data protection, and consumer protection, and countries
and territories are adopting new legislation or other obligations with increasing frequency. Many of these laws may require consent from
consumers for the use of data for various purposes, including marketing, which may reduce our ability to market our products.

In many jurisdictions, there is great uncertainty whether or how existing laws governing issues such as property ownership, sales and
other taxes, libel and personal privacy apply to the internet and e-commerce. New legislation or regulation, the application of laws and
regulations from jurisdictions whose laws do not currently apply to our business or the application of existing laws and regulations to the
internet and e-commerce could result in significant additional obligations on our business or may necessitate changes to our business
practices. These obligations or required changes could have an adverse effect on our cash flows and results of operations. Further, any
actual or alleged failure to comply with any of these laws or regulations by us, our suppliers or our network of influencers could hurt our
reputation, brand and business, force us to incur significant expenses in defending against proceedings or investigations, distract our
management, increase our costs of doing business, result in a loss of customers and suppliers and may result in the imposition of
monetary penalties. See “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our Business and Industry—A failure to comply with current laws, rules and
regulations, or changes to such laws, may adversely affect our business, financial performance, results of operations, or business
growth.”

Human Capital Resources
As of January 2, 2022, we had 736 full-time and part-time employees. We use contingent labor in varying levels throughout the year

to augment our workforce. None of our employees are represented by a labor union, and we have had no labor-related work stoppages.
We believe that we have good relationships with our employees.
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Our human capital resources objectives include, as applicable, identifying, recruiting, retaining, incentivizing, and integrating our
existing and additional employees. We believe our compensation programs are competitive relative to others in our industry and
geography and are designed to attract, retain and reward personnel through the combination of cash-based compensation, equity-based
compensation and benefits.

In support of diversity and inclusion, we advanced our Belonging, Dignity, Justice and Joy (“BDJJ”) initiatives during 2021,
including the creation of employee-led affinity groups backed by strong leadership support. These affinity groups create opportunities
for employees to share their diverse perspectives and connect with each other on a deeper level and are intended to foster a culture that is
open, inclusive and respectful.

Available Information

Our investor relations website is investors.lulus.com. In addition to the information about us contained in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K, information about us can be found on our website. Our website and information included in or linked to our website are not
part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-
K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, are available free of charge through our website as soon as reasonably practicable after they are electronically filed with or
furnished to the SEC. Additionally the SEC maintains an internet site that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other
information. The address of the SEC’s website is www.sec.gov.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Our operations and financial results are subject to various risks and uncertainties including these described below. You should
carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below, together with the other information contained in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K, including our consolidated financial statements and related notes. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the
only ones we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us, or that we currently deem immaterial, may also become
important factors that adversely affect our business. If any of the following risks or others not specified below materialize, our business,
financial condition, results of operations and liquidity could be materially and adversely affected. In that case, the market price of our
common stock could decline, and you may lose all or part of your investment. See “Forward-Looking Statements.”

Risks Related to Our Business

Our business depends on our ability to maintain a strong community around the Lulus brand with engaged customers and
influencers. We may not be able to maintain and enhance our existing brand community if we receive customer complaints, negative
publicity or otherwise fail to live up to consumers’ expectations, which could materially adversely affect our business, financial
condition, and results of operations.

We believe that maintaining our brand image, particularly with our core target customers, is important to maintaining and expanding
our customer base and sales. Maintaining and enhancing our brand image may require us to make additional investments in areas such as
merchandising, marketing, online operations, online displays and other promotions, and employee training. These investments may be
substantial and may not ultimately be successful. If we are unable to maintain or enhance our brand image, brand awareness, and
reputation, our business, financial condition, and results of operations may be materially and adversely affected.

Our ability to identify new styles and maintain and enhance our existing brand is critical to retaining and expanding our base of
customers. A significant portion of our customers’ experience depends on third parties outside of our control, including suppliers and
logistics providers such as UPS and the U.S. Postal Service. If these third parties do not meet our or our customers’ expectations or if
they increase their rates, our business may suffer irreparable damage or our costs may increase. In addition, maintaining and enhancing
relationships with third-party brands may require us to make substantial investments, and these investments may not be successful. Also,
if we fail to promote and maintain our brand, or if we incur excessive expenses in this effort, our business, financial condition, and
results of operations may be materially adversely affected. We anticipate that, as our market becomes increasingly competitive,
maintaining, and enhancing our brand may become increasingly difficult and expensive.

Customer complaints or negative publicity about our website or mobile app, products, merchandise quality, product delivery times,
customer data handling and security practices or customer support, especially on social media, blogs, and in reviews, could rapidly and
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severely diminish consumer use of our website or mobile app and customer and supplier confidence in us, and result in harm to our
brand. We believe that much of the growth in our customer base to date has originated from word-of-mouth, including social media and
our influencer-driven marketing strategy. If we are not able to develop and maintain positive relationships with our network of
influencers or our online customer community, our ability to promote and maintain or enhance awareness of Lulus and leverage social
media platforms to drive visits to www.lulus.com or our mobile app may be adversely affected.

The COVID-19 pandemic has had and may in the future have an adverse effect on our labor workforce availability, supply chain,
business, financial condition, and results of operations in ways that remain unpredictable.

The impact of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic is severe, widespread and continues to evolve. These measures, including
quarantines, travel bans, business closures and other heightened restrictions suggested or mandated by governmental authorities or
otherwise elected by companies as a preventive measure, have adversely affected workforces, customers, consumer sentiment,
economies, and financial markets, and, along with decreased consumer spending, have led to an economic downturn in many of our
markets. It is impossible to predict all the effects and the ultimate impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, as the situation continues to
rapidly evolve.

The COVID-19 pandemic and resulting disruptions to our suppliers’ production facilities could materially affect our operations.
Additionally, the COVID-19 pandemic has impacted our business through the suspension, postponement and cancellation of in-person
social, professional and formal events, including business conferences, graduations, bridal parties and weddings. The suspension,
postponement and cancellation of in-person social, professional and formal events due to the COVID-19 pandemic has reduced the
volume of events for which our customer base requires our products, and had an adverse impact on our revenue. Although many in-
person social, professional and formal events have recommenced in recent months, the rapid development and fluidity of this situation
precludes any prediction as to the ultimate impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, which remains a material uncertainty and risk with
respect to us, our performance, and our financial results. Our ability to generate revenue is related to in-person social, professional and
formal events taking place, and we may not generate as much revenue in the long-run as we would have generated without the
cancellations or postponements in the wake of the COVID-19 pandemic.

As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, at certain points in 2020, we temporarily closed most of our offices, and we may have to do
so again as the COVID-19 pandemic continues to develop and related government orders evolve, and particularly, as new variants spread
throughout the United States. During 2021 and as of the date of filing this Annual Report on Form 10-K, a large number of our
employees continue to work remotely as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. If a natural disaster, power outage, connectivity issue, or
other event occurred that impacted our employees’ ability to work remotely, it could be difficult or, in certain cases, impossible, for us to
continue our business effectively for a period of time, particularly if such event also impacted our offices and other areas of work.
Further, as the COVID-19 pandemic continues and as certain businesses return to on-site operations, we may experience disruptions if
our employees or third-party providers’ employees become ill and are unable to perform their duties, and our operations, or the
operations of one or more of our third-party providers, is impacted. The increase in remote working may also result in related consumer
privacy, information technology security, and fraud concerns. In addition, the challenges to working caused by the COVID-19 pandemic
and related restrictions may have an impact on our employees’ wellness, which could impact employee retention, productivity and our
culture. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations-Overview-Impact of the COVID-
19 Pandemic.”

The COVID-19 outbreak has the potential to cause a disruption in our supply chain and may adversely impact economic conditions
in North America, Europe, China, and elsewhere. These and other disruptions, as well as poor economic conditions generally, may lead
to a decline in our sales and operating results. In addition, the continuation of the COVID-19 pandemic may adversely affect the
economies and financial markets of many countries and could result in a sustained reduction in the demand for our products, delayed or
cancelled orders by customers, or unanticipated inventory accumulation or shortages. A decline in the sales and operating results of our
products could in turn materially and adversely affect our ability to pursue our growth strategy. Each of these results would reduce our
future sales and profit margins, which in turn could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of
operations.

We are unable to accurately predict the ultimate impact on our operations that the COVID-19 pandemic will continue to have on our

operations going forward due to uncertainties that will be dictated by the length of time that such disruptions continue, which will, in
turn, depend on among other factors, the currently unknowable duration, trajectory, and severity of the COVID-19 pandemic,
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including with respect to variants, the impact of governmental regulations that might be imposed in response to the COVID-19
pandemic, the distribution, uptake, efficiency and efficacy of vaccination programs and other treatments, and overall changes in
consumer behavior.

Economic conditions, which may have an adverse impact on discretionary consumer spending, could also impact our business. A
reduction in consumer spending or disposable income could affect us more significantly than companies in other industries and
companies with a more diversified product offering due in part to the fact that the discretionary retail items and specialty retail products
we sell are discretionary purchases for consumers. In the past, governments have taken unprecedented actions in an attempt to address
and rectify these extreme market and economic conditions by providing liquidity and stability to financial markets. If these actions are
not successful, the return of adverse economic conditions could have a negative effect on our business, financial condition, and results of
operations.

Our efforts to acquire or retain customers may not be successful, which could prevent us from maintaining or increasing our sales.

Our success depends on our ability to acquire customers in a cost-effective manner. In order to expand our customer base, we must
appeal to and acquire customers who have historically used other means of commerce in shopping for apparel and may prefer
alternatives to our offerings, such as traditional brick-and-mortar retailers and the websites and mobile apps of our competitors. We have
made significant investments related to customer acquisition and expect to continue to spend significant amounts to acquire additional
customers. For example, we engage in social media marketing campaigns and maintain relationships with thousands of social media and
celebrity influencers. Such campaigns can be expensive and may not result in cost-effective acquisition of customers. We cannot assure
that the benefit of acquiring new customers will exceed the cost. If we fail to deliver a quality shopping experience, or if consumers do
not perceive the products we offer to be of high value and quality, we may not be able to acquire new customers. If we are unable to
acquire or retain customers who purchase products in numbers sufficient to grow our business, we may not be able to generate the scale
necessary to drive beneficial network effects with our suppliers, our net revenue may decrease, and our business, financial condition, and
results of operations may be materially adversely affected.

We also seek to engage with our customers and build awareness of our brands through sponsoring unique events and experiences
such as Lulus Style Studio events, which are experiences we create for our customers and influencers. We anticipate that our marketing
initiatives may become increasingly expensive as competition increases and generating a meaningful return on those initiatives may be
difficult. If our marketing efforts are not successful in promoting awareness of our brands and products, driving customer engagement or
attracting new customers, or if we are not able to effectively manage our marketing expenses, our business, financial condition, and
results of operations will be adversely affected.

We obtain a significant amount of traffic via social networking platforms or other online channels used by our current and
prospective customers. As e-commerce and social networking platforms continue to rapidly evolve, we must continue to maintain and
establish relationships with these channels and may be unable to develop or maintain these relationships on acceptable terms. We also
acquire and retain customers through paid search/product listing ads, paid social, retargeting, affiliate marketing, and personalized email
and direct mail marketing. If we are unable to cost-effectively drive traffic to our website or mobile app, our ability to acquire new
customers and our financial condition would suffer.

We may be unable to maintain a high level of engagement with our customers and increase their spending with us, which could harm
our business, financial condition, cash flows, or results of operations.

A high proportion of our net revenue comes from repeat purchases by existing customers, especially those existing customers who
are highly engaged and purchase a significant amount of merchandise from us. If existing customers no longer find our merchandise
appealing, they may make fewer purchases and may stop shopping with us. Even if our existing customers find our merchandise
appealing, if customer buying preferences change, they may decide to purchase less merchandise over time. Additionally, if customers
who purchase a significant amount of merchandise from us were to make fewer purchases or stop shopping with us, then our sales may
decline. A decrease in the number of our customers or a decrease in their spending on the merchandise we offer could negatively impact
our business, financial condition, cash flows, and results of operations. Further, we believe that our future success will depend in part on
our ability to increase sales to our existing customers over time and, if we are unable to do so, our business may suffer.
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Our success depends on our ability to anticipate, identify, measure, and respond quickly to new and rapidly changing fashion trends,
customer preferences and demands and other factors.

Our core market of apparel, footwear, and accessories for women is subject to new and rapidly changing fashion trends, constantly
evolving consumer preferences and demands, and a modest brand loyalty. Accordingly, our success is dependent on our ability to
anticipate, identify, measure and respond to the latest fashion trends and customer demands, and to translate such trends and demands
into appropriate, desirable product offerings in a timely manner. A select team of our employees is primarily responsible for performing
this analysis and making initial product decisions, and they rely on feedback on fashion trends from a variety of sources, which may not
accurately predict evolving fashion trends. Our failure to anticipate, identify or react swiftly and appropriately to new and changing
styles, trends or desired customer preferences or to accurately anticipate and forecast demand for certain product offerings is likely to
lead to lower demand for our merchandise, which could cause, among other things, sales declines, excess inventories, a greater number
of markdowns and lower margins. Further, if we are not able to anticipate, identify and respond to changing fashion trends and customer
preferences, we may lose customers and market share to our competitors who are able to better anticipate, identify and respond to such
trends and preferences. In addition, because our success depends on our brand image, our business could be materially adversely affected
if new product offerings are not accepted by our customers. We cannot assure investors that our new product offerings will be met with
the same level of acceptance as our past product offerings or that we will be able to adequately respond to fashion trends or the
preferences of our customers in a timely manner or at all. If we do not accurately anticipate, identify, forecast, or analyze fashion trends
and sales levels, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, cash flows, and results of operations.

We rely on third parties to drive traffic to our platform, and these providers may change their algorithms or pricing in ways that could
negatively affect our business, financial condition, cash flows, and results of operations.

Our success depends on our ability to attract customers cost effectively. With respect to our marketing channels, we rely heavily on
relationships with providers of online services, search engines, social media, directories, and other websites and e-commerce businesses
to provide content, advertising banners, and other links that direct customers to our websites. We rely on these relationships to provide
significant traffic to our website. In particular, we rely on digital platforms, such as Google and Facebook, as important marketing
channels. Digital channels change their algorithms periodically, and our rankings in organic searches and visibility in social media feeds
may be adversely affected by those changes, as has occurred from time to time, requiring us to increase our spending on paid marketing
to offset the loss in traffic. Search engine companies may also determine that we are not in compliance with their guidelines and
consequently penalize us in their algorithms as a result. Even with an increase in marketing spend to offset any loss in search engine
optimization traffic as a result of algorithm changes, the recovery period in organic traffic may span multiple quarters or years. If digital
platforms change or penalize us with their algorithms, terms of service, display and featuring of search results, or if competition increases
for advertisements, we may be unable to cost-effectively attract customers.

Our relationships with digital platforms are not covered by long-term contractual agreements and do not require any specific
performance commitments. In addition, many of the platforms and agencies with whom we have advertising arrangements provide
advertising services to other companies, including retailers with whom we compete. As competition for online advertising has increased,
the cost for some of these services has also increased. A significant increase in the cost of the marketing providers upon which we rely
could adversely impact our ability to attract customers cost effectively and harm our business, financial condition, results of operations,
and prospects.

Use of social media, influencers, dffiliate marketing, email, text messages, and direct mail may adversely impact our brand and
reputation or subject us to fines or other penalties.

We use social media including Facebook, Instagram, Pinterest, Snapchat, TikTok, Twitter and YouTube, as well as affiliate
marketing, email, SMS, and direct mail as part of our multi-channel approach to marketing, and we encourage our customers to use
social media while shopping. We also maintain relationships with thousands of social media influencers, who serve as our brand
ambassadors, and engage in sponsorship initiatives. Laws and regulations governing the use of these platforms and other digital
marketing channels are rapidly evolving. It may become more difficult for us or our partners to comply with such laws, and future data
privacy laws and regulations or industry standards may restrict or limit our ability to use some or all of the marketing strategies on which
we currently rely. The failure by us, our employees or third parties acting at our direction to abide by applicable laws and regulations in
the use of these platforms could adversely impact our reputation or subject us to fines or other penalties. In addition, our employees or
third parties acting at our direction may knowingly or inadvertently make use of social media in ways that could lead to the loss or
infringement of intellectual property, as well as the public disclosure of proprietary, confidential or sensitive personal information of
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our business, employees, customers, or others. Any such inappropriate use of social media tools could also cause business interruptions
and reputational damage.

Customers value readily available information concerning retailers and their goods and services and often act on such information
without further investigation and without regard to its accuracy. Information concerning us, whether accurate or not, may be posted on
social media platforms at any time and may have a disproportionately adverse impact on our brand, reputation, or business. The harm
may be immediate without affording us an opportunity for redress or correction and could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, and results of operations.

In addition, an increase in the use of social media for product promotion and marketing may cause an increase in the burden on us to
monitor compliance of such materials, and increase the risk that such materials could contain problematic product or marketing claims in
violation of applicable regulations. For example, in some cases, the FTC has sought enforcement action where an endorsement has failed
to clearly and conspicuously disclose a financial relationship between an influencer and an advertiser.

Negative commentary regarding us, our products, or influencers and other third parties who are affiliated with us may also be posted
on social media platforms and may have an adverse impact to our reputation or business. Influencers with whom we maintain
relationships could engage in behavior or use their platforms to communicate directly with our customers in a manner that reflects poorly
on our brand and may be attributed to us or otherwise adversely affect us. It is not possible to prevent such behavior, and the precautions
we take to detect this activity may not be effective in all cases. Our target customers often value readily available information and often
act on such information without further investigation and without regard to its accuracy. The harm may be immediate, without affording
us an opportunity for redress or correction.

We have not historically used traditional advertising channels, and if we become unable to continue to connect with our target
customer base, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We utilize organic, content, affiliate marketing, email, SMS, direct mail, paid search, and social media marketing to capture the
interest of our customers and drive them to our platform. We historically have not used traditional advertising channels, such as
newspapers, magazines, and television, which are used by some of our competitors. In the future, we expect to increase our use of social
media, such as Facebook, Instagram, Pinterest, Snapchat, TikTok, Twitter and YouTube for marketing purposes. If our marketing efforts
are not successful, there may be no immediately available or cost-effective alternative marketing channel for us to use to build or
maintain brand awareness. As we execute our growth strategy, our ability to successfully integrate into our target customers’
communities or to expand into new markets will be dependent on our ability to connect with our target customers through marketing
channels. Failure to successfully connect with our target customers in new and existing markets could have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We may not accurately forecast income and appropriately plan our expenses.

We base our current and future expense levels on our operating forecasts and estimates of future income. Income and results of
operations are difficult to forecast because they generally depend on the volume and timing of the orders we receive, which are uncertain.
Additionally, our business is affected by general economic and business conditions around the world. A softening in income, whether
caused by changes in customer preferences or a weakening in global economies, may result in decreased net revenue levels, and we may
be unable to adjust our spending in a timely manner to compensate for any unexpected shortfall in income. This inability could cause our
(loss)/income after tax in a given quarter to be (higher)/lower than expected. We also will make certain assumptions when forecasting the
amount of expense we expect related to our future share based payments, which includes the expected volatility of our share price, the
expected life of share awards granted and the expected rate of share awards forfeitures. These assumptions are partly based on historical
results. If actual results differ from our estimates, our net income in a given quarter may be lower than expected or our net loss in a given
quarter may be higher than expected.

Our business depends on the transportation of a large number of products. Our ability to accurately forecast and plan expenses could
be adversely impacted by limitations on fuel supplies or increases in fuel prices that result in higher costs of transportation and
distribution of our products. Although we are able to update our forecasts and estimates based on current data and modify the pricing of
our products accordingly, there is often a lag before such modified pricing is reflected in our operating results, and there is a limit to how
much of any fuel price or other distribution cost increases we can pass onto our customers. Any such limits may adversely affect our
results of operations.
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If we fail to provide high-quality customer support, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and
results of operations.

Our ongoing customer support is important to the successful marketing and sale of our merchandise. Providing this support requires
that our customer support personnel have fashion, retail, technical, and other knowledge and expertise, making it difficult for us to hire
qualified personnel and scale our support operations. The demand on our customer support organization will increase as we expand our
business and pursue new customers, and such increased support could require us to devote significant development services and support
personnel, which could strain our team and infrastructure and reduce our profit margins. If we do not help our customers quickly resolve
issues and provide effective ongoing customer support, our ability to sell additional merchandise to existing and future customers could
suffer and our reputation would be harmed. If we are unable to hire and retain customer support personnel capable of consistently
providing customer support at a high level, as demonstrated by their enthusiasm for our culture, understanding of our customers, and
knowledge of the merchandise that we offer, our ability to expand our business may be impaired.

Our business is daffected by seasonality, which could result in fluctuations in our results of operations.

We experience moderate fluctuations in aggregate sales volume during the year. Historically, our net revenue has been highest in our
second fiscal quarter. The seasonality of our business has resulted in variability in our total net revenue quarter-to-quarter. In addition,
our customers may change their order patterns and buying habits, including frequency of purchase and/or number of items per order. As a
result, we may not be able to accurately predict our quarterly sales. Accordingly, our results of operations are likely to fluctuate
significantly from period to period. This seasonality, along with other factors that are beyond our control, including general economic
conditions, changes in consumer preferences, weather conditions, including the effects of climate change, the availability of import
quotas, transportation disruptions and foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations, could adversely affect our business and cause our
results of operations to fluctuate.

We are subject to payment-related risks that could increase our operating costs, expose us to fraud or theft, subject us to potential
liability and potentially disrupt our business.

We accept payments online via credit and debit cards, Klarna, Afterpay, PayPal, Lulus gift cards, and Lulus online credit, which
subject us to certain regulations and risk of fraud, and we may in the future offer new payment options to customers that would be
subject to additional regulations and risks. We pay interchange and other fees in connection with credit card payments, which may
increase over time and adversely affect our results of operations. While we use third parties to process credit and debit card payments, we
are subject to payment card association operating rules and certification requirements, including the Payment Card Industry Data
Security Standard and rules governing electronic funds transfers. If we fail to comply with applicable rules and regulations or experience
a security breach involving payment card information, we may be subject to fines, assessments and/or higher transaction fees and may
lose our ability to accept online payments or other payment card transactions. If any of these events were to occur, our business, financial
condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected.

We may incur significant losses from customer and or credit card fraud.

We have in the past incurred and may in the future incur losses from various types of fraud, including stolen credit card numbers,
claims that a customer did not authorize a purchase, merchant fraud, and customers who have closed bank accounts or have insufficient
funds in open bank accounts to satisfy payments, and any such losses may be significant. In addition to the direct costs of such losses, if
the fraud is related to credit card transactions and becomes excessive, it could potentially result in us paying higher fees or losing the
right to accept credit cards for payment. In addition, under current credit card practices, we are liable for fraudulent credit card
transactions because we do not obtain a cardholder’s signature. Our failure to adequately prevent fraudulent transactions could damage
our reputation, result in litigation or regulatory action and lead to expenses that could substantially impact our results of operations.
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Risks Related to Our Growth

The estimates of market opportunity and forecasts of market growth included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K may prove to be
inaccurate, and even if the markets in which we compete achieve the forecasted growth, our business may not grow at similar rates,
or atall.

Market opportunity estimates and growth forecasts included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are subject to significant
uncertainty and are based on assumptions and estimates which may not prove to be accurate. The estimates and forecasts included in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K relating to size and expected growth of our target market may prove to be inaccurate. Even if the markets
in which we compete meet the size estimates and growth forecasts included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, our business may not
grow at similar rates, or at all. Our growth is subject to many factors, including our success in implementing our business strategy, which
is subject to many risks and uncertainties.

We may be unable to sustain our growth, and we may become unprofitable in the future.

Although our net revenue and profitability have historically grown rapidly, this should not be considered as indicative of our future
performance. As we grow our business, we expect our net revenue growth rates to slow in future periods due to a number of reasons,
which may include slowing demand for our merchandise, increasing competition, a decrease in the growth of our overall market, and our
failure to capitalize on growth opportunities or the maturation of our business.

Our expenses have increased in recent periods, and we expect expenses to increase substantially in the near term, particularly as we
make significant investments in our marketing initiatives, expand our operations and infrastructure, develop and introduce new
merchandise offerings and hire additional personnel. Investors in our common stock should recognize that we may not always pursue
short-term profits but are often focused on long-term growth and this may impact the return on investment. In addition, in connection
with operating as a public company, we will incur additional significant legal, accounting and other expenses that we did not incur as a
private company. If our net revenue does not increase to offset increases in our operating expenses, we may not be profitable in future
periods.

We may not be able to successfully implement our growth strategy.

Our future growth, profitability and cash flows depend upon our ability to successfully implement our business strategy, which, in
turn, is dependent upon a number of factors, including our ability to:

e grow our brand awareness and attract new customers;
e enhance and retain our existing customer relationships;
®  pursue category expansion; and

e pursue international expansion.

We cannot assure that we can successfully achieve any or all of the above initiatives in the manner or time period that we expect.
Further, achieving these objectives will require investments which may result in short-term costs without generating any net revenue and,
therefore, may be dilutive to our earnings. We cannot provide any assurance that we will realize, in full or in part, the anticipated benefits
we expect our strategy will achieve. The failure to realize those benefits could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, and results of operations.

Our current growth plans may place a strain on our existing resources and could cause us to encounter challenges we have not faced
before.

As we expand, our operations will become more complex. We have grown rapidly, with our net revenue increasing from $133
million in 2016 to $370 million in 2019. While our net revenue growth decreased from $370 million in 2019 to $249 million in 2020 due
primarily to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, we expect to continue to grow rapidly in future periods as demonstrated by our net
revenue growth from $249 million in 2020 to $376 million in 2021. We expect our growth to bring new challenges. Among other
difficulties that we may encounter, this growth may place a strain on our existing infrastructure, including our distribution facilities,

19




Table of Contents

information technology systems, financial controls, merchandising, and operations personnel. We may also place increased demands on
our suppliers, to the extent we increase the size of our merchandise orders. The increased demands that our growth plans may place on
our infrastructure may cause us to operate our business less efficiently or effectively, which could cause a deterioration in the
performance of our business. New order delivery times could lengthen as a result of the strains that growth may place on our existing
resources, and our growth may make it otherwise difficult for us to respond quickly to changing trends, customer preferences and other
factors. This could impair our ability to continue to offer on-trend merchandise which could result in excess inventory, greater
markdowns, loss of market share and decreased sales which, in turn, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, and results of operations.

In addition, our growth may place increased demands on our existing operational, managerial, administrative, and other resources.
Specifically, our inventory management systems and personnel processes may need to be further upgraded to keep pace with our growth
strategy. We cannot anticipate all of the demands that our expanding operations will impose on our business, and our failure to
appropriately address these demands could have an adverse effect on business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We may not be able to manage our growth effectively, and such rapid growth may adversely affect our corporate culture.

We have rapidly and significantly expanded our operations and anticipate expanding further as we pursue our growth strategies.
Such expansion increases the complexity of our business and places a significant strain on our management, operations, technical
systems, financial resources, and internal control over financial reporting functions. Our current and planned personnel, systems,
procedures, and controls may not be adequate to support and effectively manage our future operations.

Our collaborative culture is important to us, and we believe it has been a major contributor to our success. We may have difficulties
maintaining our culture or adapting it sufficiently to meet the needs of our future and evolving operations as we continue to grow,
including as we expand internationally. In addition, our ability to maintain our culture as a public company, with the attendant changes in
policies, practices, corporate governance, and management requirements may be challenging. Failure to maintain our culture could have
a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

As we pursue our international growth strategy, we will become subject to international business uncertainties.

We intend to increase sales of our products to customers located outside the United States. Further, we may establish additional
relationships in other countries to grow our operations. The substantial up-front investment required, the lack of consumer awareness of
our products in jurisdictions outside of the United States, differences in consumer preferences and trends between the United States and
other jurisdictions, the risk of inadequate intellectual property protections and differences in packaging, labeling and related laws, rules
and regulations are all substantial matters that need to be evaluated prior to doing business in new territories. We cannot assure that our
international efforts will be successful. International sales and increased international operations may be subject to risks such as:

e (difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations;

e burdens of complying with a wide variety of laws and regulations, including more stringent regulations relating to data privacy
and security, particularly in the EU;

e adverse tax effects and foreign exchange controls making it difficult to repatriate earnings and cash;
e political, economic instability, terrorism and wars, such as the current situation with Ukraine and Russia;

e global macroeconomic conditions, including inflation, labor shortages, supply chain shortages, or other economic, political or
legal uncertainties or adverse developments;

e natural disasters;
e trade restrictions;

e differing employment practices and laws and labor disruptions;
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e the imposition of government controls;

e an inability to use or to obtain adequate intellectual property protection for our key brands and products;
e tariffs and customs duties and the classifications of our goods by applicable governmental bodies;

e alegal system subject to undue influence or corruption;

e abusiness culture in which illegal sales practices may be prevalent;

e Jogistics and sourcing;

e military conflicts; and

e acts of terrorism.

The occurrence of any of these risks could negatively affect our international business and consequently our overall business,
financial condition, and results of operations.

Risks Related to Our Industry
The global apparel industry is subject to intense pricing pressure.

The apparel industry is characterized by low barriers to entry for both suppliers and marketers, global sourcing through suppliers
located throughout the world, trade liberalization, continuing movement of product sourcing to lower cost countries, regular promotional
activity and the ongoing emergence of new competitors with widely varying strategies and resources. These factors have contributed, and
may continue to contribute in the future, to intense pricing pressure and uncertainty throughout the supply chain. Pricing pressure has
been exacerbated by the availability of raw materials in recent years. Additionally, inflation and supply chain constraints caused by
business challenges resulting from, among other things, the COVID-19 pandemic could increase pricing pressure on our business. This
pressure could have adverse effects on our business and financial condition, including:

e reduced gross margins across our product lines and distribution channels;
e increased supplier demands for allowances, incentives, and other forms of economic support; and
e increased pressure on us to reduce our product costs and operating expenses.

We operate in the highly competitive retail apparel industry, and the size and resources of some of our competitors may allow them to
compete more effectively than we can, which could adversely impact our growth and market share, and have a material adverse effect
on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We operate in the highly competitive retail apparel industry. We compete on the basis of a combination of factors, including our
quality, concept, price, breadth, and style of merchandise, as well as our online experience and level of customer service, our brand
image, and our ability to anticipate, identify and respond to new and changing fashion trends and customer demands. While we believe
that we compete primarily with apparel retailers and internet businesses that specialize in women’s apparel, footwear, and accessories, we
also face competition from national and regional department stores, specialty retailers, fast-fashion retailers, value retailers, and mass
merchants. In addition, our expansion into markets served by our competitors and entry of new competitors or expansion of existing
competitors into our markets could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We also compete with a wide variety of large and small retailers for customers, suppliers, influencers and personnel. The competitive
landscape we face, particularly among apparel retailers, is subject to rapid change as new competitors emerge and existing competitors
change their offerings. We cannot assure investors that we will be able to continue to compete successfully and navigate the shifts in the
competitive landscape in our markets.
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Additionally, the COVID-19 pandemic has accelerated the need for traditional brick-and-mortar retailers to invest significant
resources in their e-commerce operations, including traditional retailers that either did not have e-commerce operations prior to the
COVID-19 pandemic or only had a nascent platform. As a result of these significant investments, the e-commerce market for apparel has
become extremely competitive, and we now face competition from a broad range of national and international firms. Although the
COVID-19 pandemic has negatively affected demand for apparel and fashion as retail categories, this increased competition has resulted
in greater and continued downward price pressure, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and
results of operations.

Many of our existing and potential competitors are, and many of our potential competitors may be, larger and have greater name
recognition and access to greater financial, marketing and other resources than us. Therefore, these competitors may be able to adapt to
changes in trends and customer desires more quickly, devote greater resources to the marketing and sale of their products, generate
greater brand recognition or adopt more aggressive pricing policies than we can. Many of our competitors also utilize advertising and
marketing media which we have not historically used, including advertising via newspapers, magazines, and television, which may
provide them with greater brand recognition than we have. As a result, we may lose market share, which could reduce our sales and have
a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Our competitors may also sell certain products or substantially similar products through outlet centers or discount stores, increasing
the competitive pressure for those products. We cannot assure investors that we will continue to be able to compete successfully against
existing or future competitors. Our expansion into markets served by our competitors and entry of new competitors or expansion of
existing competitors into our markets could have a material adverse effect on us. Competitive forces and pressures may intensify as our
presence in the retail marketplace grows.

We do not possess exclusive rights to many of the elements that comprise our online experience and merchandise offerings. Some
apparel retailers offer a personalized shopping experience that in certain ways is similar to the one we strive to provide to our customers.
Our competitors may seek to emulate facets of our business strategy, including “test, learn, and reorder,” speed-to-market and online
experience, which could result in a reduction of any competitive advantage or special appeal that we might possess. In addition, some of
our merchandise offerings are sold to us on a non-exclusive basis. As a result, our current and future competitors, especially those with
greater financial, marketing, or other resources, may be able to duplicate or improve upon some or all of the elements of our online
experience or merchandise offerings that we believe are important in differentiating our website and our customers’ shopping experience.
If our competitors were to duplicate or improve upon some or all of the elements of our online experience or product offerings, our
competitive position could suffer, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of
operations.

We rely on consumer discretionary spending and may be adversely affected by economic downturns and other macroeconomic
conditions or trends.

Our business and results of operations are subject to global economic conditions and their impact on consumer discretionary
spending. Customer purchases of discretionary retail items and specialty retail products, which include our apparel, footwear, and
accessories, may be adversely affected by economic conditions such as employment levels, salary and wage levels, the availability of
customer credit, inflation, high interest rates, high tax rates, high fuel prices, and customer confidence with respect to current and future
economic conditions. Customer purchases may decline during recessionary periods or at other times when unemployment is higher, fuel
prices are higher or disposable income is lower. These risks may be exacerbated for retailers like us that focus significantly on selling
discretionary fashion merchandise to customers who seek value. Customer willingness to make discretionary purchases may decline,
may stall or may be slow to increase due to national and regional economic conditions.

Our sales may be particularly susceptible to economic and other conditions in certain regions or states. Considerable uncertainty and
volatility remains in the national and global economy, and any further or future slowdowns or disruptions in the economy could
adversely affect online shopping traffic and customer discretionary spending and could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, and results of operations. In addition, we may not be able to maintain our recent rate of growth in net revenue if there
is a decline in customer spending.
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Risks Related to Our Merchandise and Inventory

If we are not able to successfully maintain our desired merchandise assortment or manage our inventory effectively, we may be
unable to attract a sufficient number of customers or sell sufficient quantities of our merchandise, which could result in excess
inventories, markdowns, and foregone sales.

We offer our customers a broad merchandise assortment with new styles introduced virtually every day in small batches. This
enables us to learn about customer demand using our proprietary reorder algorithm, which allows us to reorder winning products in
higher volume. We cannot assure investors that we will be able to continue to stock a broad assortment of merchandise at our current
frequency. If we are unable to offer a broad merchandise assortment or manage our inventory effectively, customers may choose to visit
our website less frequently, our brand could be impaired, we could lose sales, and our ability to compete successfully and our market
share may decline. Further, any failure to manage our merchandise assortment could lead to excess inventories which could lead to
markdowns. We have experienced logistics issues that have adversely affected our ability to manage our inventory in the past and may
experience such issues in the future. If we are unable to successfully maintain our desired merchandise assortment, it could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Our ability to obtain merchandise on a timely basis at competitive prices could suffer as a result of any deterioration or change in our
supplier relationships or events that adversely affect our suppliers or their ability to obtain financing for their operations.

We have many important supplier relationships. We do not own or operate any manufacturing facilities. Instead, we purchase nearly
all of our merchandise from third-party suppliers. In the year ended January 2, 2022, our top 12 suppliers accounted for approximately
50% of our purchases, with no single supplier accounting for more than 9.7% of our purchases. In the year ended January 3, 2021, our
top 18 suppliers accounted for approximately 50% of our purchases, with no single supplier accounting for more than 7.3% of our
purchases. Our business and financial performance depend in large part on our ability to evaluate merchandise quickly for style and then
modify if needed or to improve the quality, look, and fit of the item. We must also be able to quickly source merchandise and place
orders in order to successfully execute our strategy of rapidly responding to evolving fashion trends. Merchandise may not be available
to meet our fashion needs on a timely basis, at competitive prices, or at all. Due to the nature of our product strategy, we do not have
long-term commitments with any of our suppliers, and we generally operate without any contractual assurances of continued supply,
pricing, or access to new products. Our standard terms and conditions do not commit us or our suppliers to any particular quantities,
which are established on a purchase order basis.

Our supplier relationships, and therefore our business, could be materially adversely affected if our suppliers:
® raise the prices they charge us;
e change pricing terms to require us to pay upfront or upon delivery;

e reduce our access to styles, brands, and merchandise by entering into broad exclusivity arrangements with our competitors or
otherwise in the marketplace;

e sell similar merchandise to our competitors with similar or better pricing, many of whom already purchase merchandise in
significantly greater volume and, in some cases, at lower prices than we do;

e lengthen their lead times;
e decrease the quality of their merchandise;

e initiate or expand sales of apparel, footwear, and accessories to retail customers directly through their own stores, catalogs, or
on the internet and compete with us directly; or

e otherwise choose to discontinue selling merchandise to us.
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The success of our business is driven in part by the price-value proposition we offer our customers. If the costs of the raw materials,
for example cotton, synthetics, and trim, or other inputs, such as energy costs or prevailing wages, used in producing our merchandise
increase, our suppliers may look to pass these cost increases along to us. The price and availability of such raw materials may fluctuate
significantly, depending on many factors which are outside of our control, including commodity prices, crop yields, and weather patterns.
In addition, the costs of other inputs are also outside of our control. If our suppliers attempt to pass any cost increases on to us and we
refuse to pay the increases, we could lose those suppliers, resulting in the risk that we could not fill our purchase orders in a timely
manner or at all. If we pay the increases, we could either attempt to raise retail prices for our merchandise, which could adversely affect
our sales and our brand image, or choose not to raise prices, which could adversely affect the profitability of our merchandise sales. As a
result, any increase in the cost of raw materials or other inputs could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition,
and results of operations.

We historically have established good working relationships with many suppliers, some of which have more limited resources,
production capacities and operating histories than others. Market and economic events that adversely impact our suppliers could impair
our ability to obtain merchandise in sufficient quantities. Such events include difficulties or problems associated with our suppliers’
business, finances, ability to import or ship merchandise as a result of strikes, labor disruptions or other events, costs, production,
insurance, and reputation. We cannot assure investors that we will be able to acquire desired merchandise in sufficient quantities on
acceptable terms or at all in the future, especially if we need significantly greater amounts of inventory in connection with the growth of
our business, or that we will be able to get such merchandise delivered to our distribution facilities on a timely basis. We may need to
develop new relationships, as our current suppliers may be unable to supply us with needed quantities and we may not be able to find
similar merchandise on the same terms. If we are unable to acquire suitable merchandise in sufficient quantities, at acceptable prices with
adequate delivery times due to the loss of or a deterioration or change in our relationship with one or more of our key suppliers or if
events harmful to our suppliers occur, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of
operations.

If new trade restrictions are imposed or existing trade restrictions become more burdensome, our ability to source imported
merchandise efficiently and cost effectively could be materially adversely affected.

A majority of our inventory is produced by foreign manufacturers, including those based in China, which is either directly imported
by domestic importers or imported by us from foreign suppliers. Our dependence on foreign supply sources are subject to risks
associated with global sourcing and manufacturing which could result in disruptions to our operations.

Suppliers, to the extent they obtain merchandise from outside of the United States, are subject to trade restrictions, including tariffs,
safeguards, or quotas, changes to which could increase the cost or reduce the supply of merchandise available to us. Under the World
Trade Organization Agreement, effective January 1, 2005, the United States and other World Trade Organization member countries
removed quotas on goods from World Trade Organization members, which in certain instances we believe affords our suppliers greater
flexibility in importing textile and apparel products from World Trade Organization countries from which they source our merchandise.
However, as the removal of quotas resulted in an import surge from China, the United States imposed safeguard quotas on a number of
categories of goods and apparel from China and may impose additional quotas in the future. These and other trade restrictions could have
a significant impact on our suppliers’ sourcing patterns in the future. The extent of this impact, if any, and the possible effect on our
purchasing patterns and costs, cannot be determined at this time. We cannot predict whether any of the countries in which our suppliers’
merchandise is currently manufactured or may be manufactured in the future will be subject to additional trade restrictions imposed by
the United States or foreign governments, nor can we predict the likelihood, type or effect of any restrictions. Trade restrictions,
including increased tariffs or quotas, embargoes, safeguards, and customs restrictions against items we offer, as well as U.S. or foreign
labor strikes, work stoppages or boycotts, could increase the cost or reduce the supply of merchandise to our suppliers, and we would
expect the costs to be passed along in increased prices to us, which we may be unable to pass on to our customers, which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Merchandise returns could harm our business.
We allow our customers to return merchandise, subject to our return policy. If merchandise return economics become more costly,
our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be harmed. Further, we modify our policies relating to returns from time

to time, which may result in customer dissatisfaction or an increase in the number of merchandise returns. Supplier non-compliance can
also result in increased returns. From time to time our products are damaged in transit, which can increase return rates and harm our
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brand. Competitive pressures could cause us to alter our return policies or our shipping policies, which could result in an increase in
damaged products and an increase in merchandise returns.

Risks Related to Our Technology Infrastructure

System security risk issues, including any real or perceived failure to protect confidential or personal information against security
breaches and disruption of our internal operations or information technology systems, could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, and results of operations.

External parties, such as experienced computer programmers and hackers, or even internal users (including both employees and non-
employees with authorized access), may be able to penetrate or create systems disruptions or cause shutdowns of our networks, systems
and applications or those of third-party companies with which we have contracted to provide services. We collect and use personal
information about our employees, customers and others, and sometimes rely upon third-party service providers to maintain or process
data on our behalf and to provide security for the information in their possession. Any real or perceived compromise of such information
could deter customers from using our platform, subject us to governmental investigations and/or enforcement actions, fines and penalties,
litigation, claims and other liabilities, and harm our reputation, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations. Moreover, we could incur significant expenses or disruptions of our operations in connection with
system failures or other factors beyond our control. Such failures or breaches in our information systems could also result in the
disclosure, misappropriation or misuse of or unauthorized access to our confidential, proprietary, or personal information, disruption of
our operations or damage to our networks and systems. An increasing number of websites, including several large internet companies,
have recently disclosed breaches of their security, some of which have involved increasingly sophisticated and highly targeted attacks on
portions of their sites. For example, online businesses have been targeted with attacks aimed at compromising the security of payment
card information submitted by customers for online purchases, including by injecting malicious code or scripts on website pages or by
gaining unauthorized access to payment systems. As an online retailer, we may be targeted with similar attempts.

Although we take steps to protect our networks, systems, applications and data, we or our service providers may be unable to
anticipate, defend against, or timely identify and respond to such activity, including hacking, malware, viruses, social engineering (such
as phishing or other scams), extortion, account takeover attacks, denial or degradation of service attacks, supply chain attacks, computer
and network vulnerabilities or the negligence and malfeasance of individuals with authorized access to our data. For example, an
unauthorized actor interfered with one of our payment processing systems during a five-day period in August 2016, and intermittently
may have been able to intercept approximately 12,500 payment card numbers used for purchases by customers entering a new payment
card on our website during that period. We remediated the incident and notified affected customers and state regulators of the incident in
accordance with our response plan. In addition to remediating the issue, we have subsequently implemented various additional security
measures to prevent and mitigate the attack vectors used to gain access to the www.lulus.com file system. When we notified potentially
affected customers, we provided them with information on how to help detect and prevent abuse of their personal and credit card
information. The incident did not appear to have any negative impact on customers’ purchasing confidence. In addition, sophisticated
hardware and operating system software and applications that we buy or license from third parties may contain defects in design or
manufacture, including “bugs” and other problems that could unexpectedly interfere with the security and operation of the systems. The
costs to us to eliminate or alleviate security problems, viruses and bugs, or any problems associated with the outsourced services
provided to us, could be significant, and efforts to address these problems could result in interruptions, delays or cessation of service that
may impede our sales, distribution, or other critical functions and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

In addition, many governments have enacted laws or regulations that require companies to notify individuals about certain types of
security incidents or breaches, and any such disclosures may lead to negative publicity and may deter customers from shopping on our
platform. It is also possible that security breaches affecting our competitors or others in our industry could also result in negative
publicity that indirectly harms our reputation. Increasing public, industry, and governmental focus on privacy and data security may
continue to lead to additional guidance or legislative and regulatory action, and the increased emphasis on privacy may lead customers to
request that we take additional measures to enhance security or restrict the manner in which we collect and use customer information to
gather insights into customer behavior and craft our marketing programs. As a result, we may have to modify our business systems and
practices with the goal of further improving data security, which could result in reduced net revenue, increased expenditures and
operating complexity. Any compromise of our security or security breach could result in a violation of applicable privacy and other laws,
significant legal and financial exposure or damage to our reputation, which could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, and results of operations.
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Our existing general liability and cybersecurity insurance may not cover any, or cover only a portion of any, potential claims or
expenses related to security breaches that affect us or may not be adequate to indemnify us for all or any portion of liabilities that may be
imposed. In addition, we cannot assure investors that the limitations on liability in our contracts would be enforceable or adequate or
would otherwise protect us from any such liabilities with respect to any particular claim. Any imposition of liability that is not covered
by insurance or is in excess of insurance coverage would increase our operating expenses and reduce our net income, if any, or increase
our net loss.

We continually update, augment and add technology systems, which could potentially disrupt our operations and have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Over the years, we have found a balance between developing proprietary applications that are optimized for and tailored to our
business and customers’ needs on the one hand, and best-in-class third-party solutions on the other hand. We periodically evaluate
whether our proprietary application solutions can be replaced by either more advanced or more cost effectively scaled third-party
solutions. While currently our order and warehouse management systems are developed in-house, when suitable third-party solutions
become available, we might replace our internal systems depending on the growth and the demands of the business.

For example, in 2017 we implemented a data warehouse solution that in near real-time integrates data from our proprietary software
applications and third-party software applications to unlock the various data silos and allow for holistic business intelligence analysis and
reporting. The actionable insights we have been able to gather from these analytics have allowed us to detect and act on trends sooner,
identify improvement opportunities and implement predictive analysis models to gain efficiencies.

Additionally, from time to time, our systems require modifications and updates, including by adding new hardware, software, and
applications; maintaining, updating, or replacing legacy programs; and integrating new service providers, and adding enhanced or new
functionality. Although we are actively selecting systems and vendors and implementing procedures to enable us to maintain the integrity
of our systems when we modify them, there are inherent risks associated with modifying or replacing systems, and with new or changed
relationships, including accurately capturing and maintaining data, realizing the expected benefit of the change and managing the
potential disruption of the operation of the systems as the changes are implemented. The failure of our information systems and the third-
party systems we rely on to perform as designed, or our failure to implement and operate them effectively, could disrupt our business or
subject us to liability and thereby harm our profitability.

The risks associated with the above systems changes, as well as any failure of such systems to operate effectively, could disrupt and
adversely impact the promptness and accuracy of our merchandise distribution, transaction processing, financial accounting and
reporting, and our internal controls over financial reporting, the efficiency of our operations and our ability to properly forecast earnings
and cash requirements. We could be required to make significant additional expenditures to remediate any such failures or problems in
the future.

We may not be able to successfully implement these new systems or, if implemented, we may still face unexpected disruptions or
cost overruns in the future, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of
operations.

We rely significantly on technology and systems to support our supply chain, payments, financial reporting and other key aspects of
our business. Any failure, inadequacy, interruption or security failure of those systems could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Our ability to effectively manage our business depends significantly on our information systems and platforms provided by third
parties, which we use primarily to manage items, purchase orders, stock ledgers and allocation and supply chain planning. To manage the
growth of our operations and personnel, we will need to continue to improve and expand our operational and financial systems,
transaction processing and internal controls and business processes; in doing so, we could encounter transitional issues and incur
substantial additional expenses. If we are unable to maintain our current relationships with these service providers, there is no assurance
that we will be able to locate replacements on a timely basis or on acceptable terms. The failure of our information systems to operate
effectively, problems with transitioning to upgraded or replacement systems or expanding them, or a breach in security of these systems,
could materially adversely affect the promptness and accuracy of our merchandise distribution, transaction processing, financial
accounting and reporting, the efficiency of our operations and our ability to properly forecast earnings and cash requirements. We could
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be required to make significant additional expenditures to remediate any such failure, problem or breach. Any such events could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Further, we house many of our systems offsite at third-party data centers. Our data centers may be subject to cyber-attacks or other
technology-related incidents, and also break-ins, sabotage and intentional acts of vandalism that could cause disruptions in our ability to
serve our customers and protect data. Some of our systems are not fully redundant, and our disaster recovery planning cannot account for
all eventualities. The occurrence of a natural disaster, intentional sabotage or other anticipated problems could result in lengthy
interruptions to our service. Any errors or vulnerability in our systems or damage to or failure of our systems, or a third-party data center
hosting our data, could result in interruptions in our operations and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, and results of operations.

In addition, we may now and in the future implement new systems to increase efficiencies and profitability. We may encounter
transitional issues and incur substantial additional expenses in connection with any implementation or change to existing processes, any
of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Our business relies heavily on email and other messaging services, and any restrictions on the sending of emails or messages or an
inability to timely deliver such communications could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of
operations.

Our business is highly dependent upon email and other messaging services for promoting our brand and platform. We send
promotional emails to inform customers of new products, shipping specials and other offers, and transactional emails to communicate
updates to customer orders and returns. We believe these messages are an important part of our customer experience. If we are unable to
successfully deliver emails or other messages to our subscribers, or if subscribers decline to open or read our messages, our net revenue
and profitability would be materially adversely affected. Changes in how web and mail services block, organize and prioritize email may
reduce the number of subscribers who receive or open our emails. For example, Google’s Gmail service has a feature that organizes
incoming emails into categories (for example, primary, social and promotions). Such categorization or similar inbox organizational
features may result in our emails being delivered in a less prominent location in a subscriber’s inbox or viewed as “spam” by our
subscribers and may reduce the likelihood of that subscriber reading our emails. Actions by third parties to block, impose restrictions on
or charge for the delivery of emails or other messages could also adversely impact our business. From time to time, emails service
providers or other third parties may block bulk email transmissions or otherwise experience technical difficulties that could result in our
inability to successfully deliver emails or other messages to customers. Changes in the laws or regulations that limit our ability to send
such communications or impose additional requirements upon us in connection with sending such communications would also materially
adversely impact our business. Our use of email and other messaging services to send communications to customers may also result in
legal claims against us, which may cause us increased expense, and if successful might result in fines or orders with costly reporting and
compliance obligations or might limit or prohibit our ability to send emails or other messages. We also rely on social media platforms to
communicate with our customers and to encourage our customers to engage with our brand. Changes to the terms of these social
networking services to limit promotional communications, any restrictions that would limit our ability or our customers’ ability to send
communications through their services, disruptions or downtime experienced by these social media platforms or decline in the use of or
engagement with social media platforms by consumers could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of
operations.

Risks Related to the Supply of Our Products
Our business, including our costs and supply chain, is subject to risks associated with sourcing, manufacturing, and warehousing.

We currently source nearly all of the merchandise we offer from third-party suppliers, and as a result we may be subject to price
fluctuations or demand disruptions. Our results of operations would be negatively impacted by increases in the prices of our
merchandise, and we have no guarantees that prices will not rise. In addition, as we expand into new categories and product types, we
expect that we may not have strong purchasing power in these new areas, which could lead to higher prices than we have historically
seen in our current categories. We may not be able to pass increased prices on to customers, which could adversely affect our results of
operations. Moreover, in the event of a significant disruption in the supply of the fabrics or raw materials used in the manufacture of the
merchandise we offer, the suppliers we work with might not be able to locate alternative suppliers of materials of comparable quality at
an acceptable price. For example, natural disasters could increase raw material costs, impacting pricing with certain of our suppliers, or
cause shipping delays for certain of our merchandise. Global climate change is resulting in certain types of natural disasters occurring
more frequently
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or with more intense effects. Any delays, interruption, damage to, or increased costs in the manufacture of the merchandise we offer
could result in higher prices to acquire the merchandise or non-delivery of merchandise altogether and could adversely affect our results
of operations.

We believe that we have strong supplier relationships, and we work continuously with our suppliers to manage cost increases. Our
overall profitability depends, in part, on the success of our ability to mitigate rising costs or shortages of raw materials used to
manufacture our merchandise. Cotton, synthetics and other raw materials used to manufacture our merchandise are subject to availability
constraints and price volatility impacted by a number of factors, including supply and demand for fabrics, weather, government
regulations, economic climate, and other unpredictable factors. In addition, our sourcing costs may fluctuate due to labor conditions,
transportation, or freight costs, energy prices, currency fluctuations, or other unpredictable factors. The cost of labor at many of our third-
party suppliers has been increasing in recent years, and we believe it is unlikely that such cost pressures will abate.

Most of our merchandise is shipped from our suppliers by ocean vessel. If a disruption occurs in the operation of ports through
which our merchandise is imported, we may incur increased costs related to air freight or use of alternative ports. Shipping by air is
significantly more expensive than shipping by ocean and our margins and profitability could be reduced. Shipping to alternative ports
could also lead to delays in receipt of our merchandise. We rely on third-party shipping companies to deliver our merchandise to us.
Failures by these shipping companies to deliver our merchandise to us or lack of capacity in the shipping industry could lead to delays in
receipt of our merchandise or increased expense in the delivery of our merchandise. Any of these developments could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

In addition, we cannot guarantee that merchandise we receive from suppliers will be of sufficient quality or free from damage, or
that such merchandise will not be damaged during shipping, while stored in one of our distribution facilities, or when returned by
customers. While we take measures to ensure merchandise quality and avoid damage, including evaluating supplier product samples,
conducting inventory inspections and inspecting returned product, we cannot control merchandise while it is out of our possession or
prevent all damage while in our distribution facilities. We may incur additional expenses and our reputation could be harmed if
customers and potential customers believe that our merchandise is not of sufficiently high quality or may be damaged.

We have three distribution facilities and disruptions to the operations at these locations could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We have two distribution facilities located in California and one in Pennsylvania. All of our merchandise is shipped from our
suppliers to one of our distribution facilities and then packaged and shipped from our distribution facilities to our customers. The success
of our business depends on our timely receipt of merchandise so we can continuously bring new, on-trend products online for sale. The
success of our business also depends on customer orders being timely processed and delivered to meet promised delivery dates and
satisfy our customers. The efficient flow of our merchandise requires that we have adequate capacity and uninterrupted service in our
distribution facilities to support both our current level of operations and the anticipated increased levels that may follow from our growth
plans. In order to accommodate future growth, we will either need to expand and upgrade our existing distribution facilities or open
additional distribution facilities. Upgrading our existing distribution facilities or transferring our operations to a facility with greater
capacity will require us to incur additional costs, which could be significant, and may require us to secure additional favorable real estate
or may require us to obtain additional financing. Appropriate locations or financing for the purchase or lease of such additional real
estate may not be available at reasonable costs or at all. Our failure to provide adequate order fulfillment, secure additional distribution
capacity when necessary, or retain a suitable third-party logistics provider could impede our growth plans. Further increasing this
capacity could increase our costs, which in turn could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of
operations.

In addition, if we encounter difficulties associated with our distribution facilities or if they were to shut down or be unable to operate
for any reason, including because of fire, natural disaster, power outage, or other event, we could face inventory shortages, resulting in
“out-of-stock” conditions on our website, and delays in shipments, resulting in significantly higher costs and longer lead times
distributing our merchandise. In addition, operations and distribution staff would need to find an alternative location, causing further
disruption to our business and operations and increased costs associated with opening a new location.

Without stronger disaster recovery, business continuity and document retention plans, if we encounter difficulties or disasters with

our distribution facilities or corporate offices, our critical systems, operations and information may not be restored in a timely manner, or
at all, and this could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
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We rely on third-party suppliers, manufacturers, distributors, and other suppliers, and they may not continue to produce products or
provide services that are consistent with our standards or applicable regulatory requirements, which could harm our brand, cause
consumer dissatisfaction, and require us to find alternative suppliers of our products or services.

We do not own or operate any manufacturing facilities. We use multiple third-party suppliers who source from manufacturers based
primarily in China and, to a lesser extent, Brazil, the Dominican Republic, Guatemala, India, Italy, Korea, Mexico, Nicaragua, Spain,
United States, and Vietnam, to source and manufacture all of our products under our owned brand and third-party brands. We engage our
third-party suppliers and manufacturers on a purchase order basis combined with customary terms and conditions and are not party to
any long-term contracts containing purchase obligations. The ability of these third parties to supply and manufacture our products may
be affected by competing orders placed by other clients and the demands of those clients. If we experience significant increases in
demand, or need to replace a significant number of existing suppliers or manufacturers, we cannot assure that additional supply and
manufacturing capacity will be available when required on terms that are acceptable to us, or at all, or that any supplier or manufacturer
will allocate sufficient capacity to us in order to meet our requirements.

In addition, quality control problems, such as the use of materials and delivery of products that do not meet our quality control
standards and specifications or comply with applicable laws or regulations, could harm our business. We do not regularly inspect our
suppliers and quality control problems could result in regulatory action, such as restrictions on importation, products of inferior quality or
product stock outages or shortages, harming our sales, and creating inventory write-downs for unusable products.

Further, our third-party manufacturers, suppliers, and distributors may:

e have economic or business interests or goals that are inconsistent with ours;

e take actions contrary to our instructions, requests, policies or objectives;

e be unable or unwilling to fulfill their obligations under relevant purchase orders, including obligations to meet our production
deadlines, quality standards, pricing guidelines and product specifications, and to comply with applicable regulations, including
those regarding the safety and quality of products;

e have financial difficulties;

e encounter raw material or labor shortages;

e encounter increases in raw material or labor costs which may affect our procurement costs;

e disclose our confidential information or intellectual property to competitors or third parties;

® engage in activities or employ practices that may harm our reputation; and

e work with, be acquired by, or come under control of, our competitors.

Any failure by us or our suppliers to comply with product safety, labor or other laws, or our standard terms and conditions, or to
provide safe factory conditions for their workers may damage our reputation and brand and harm our business.

The merchandise we sell to our customers is subject to regulation by the U.S. Consumer Product Safety Commission (the “CPSC”)
and similar state and international regulatory authorities. As a result, such merchandise could be in the future subject to recalls and other
remedial actions. Product safety, labeling, and licensing concerns may require us to voluntarily remove selected merchandise from our
inventory. Such recalls or voluntary removal of merchandise can result in, among other things, lost sales, diverted resources, potential
harm to our reputation, and increased customer service costs and legal expenses, which could have a material adverse effect on our
results of operations.

Additionally, we are subject to regulations related to the manufacture of the merchandise that we sell. For example, in California, we
are subject to record keeping and wage guarantor obligations pursuant to SB 62 (the “Garment Worker Protection Act”), for certain
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items that we contract to manufacture, as well as AB 701, which requires us to ensure that quotas do not interfere with warehouse worker
meal and rest periods under California's wage orders.

Some of the merchandise we sell may expose us to product liability claims and litigation or regulatory action relating to personal
injury or environmental or property damage. Although we maintain liability insurance, we cannot be certain that our coverage will be
adequate for liabilities actually incurred or that insurance will continue to be available to us on economically reasonable terms or at all.
In addition, some of our agreements with our suppliers may not indemnify us from product liability for a particular supplier’s
merchandise or our suppliers may not have sufficient resources or insurance to satisfy their indemnity and defense obligations.

We purchase our merchandise from numerous domestic and international suppliers. Our standard vendor terms and conditions
require suppliers to comply with applicable laws. Failure of our suppliers to comply with applicable laws and regulations and contractual
requirements could lead to litigation against us, resulting in increased legal expenses and costs. In addition, the failure of any such
suppliers to provide safe and humane factory conditions and oversight at their facilities could damage our reputation with customers or
result in legal claims against us.

Our current and future products may experience quality problems from time to time that could result in negative publicity, litigation,
product recalls and warranty claims, which could result in decreased net revenue and harm to our brand.

We cannot assure that we will be able to detect, prevent or fix all defects that may affect our merchandise. Inconsistency of
legislation and regulations may also affect the costs of compliance with such laws and regulations. Such problems could hurt the image
of our brand, which is critical to maintaining and expanding our business. Any negative publicity or lawsuits filed against us related to
the perceived quality of our products could harm our brand and decrease demand for our products.

We rely upon independent third-party transportation providers for substantially all of our merchandise shipments and any disruptions
or increased transportation costs could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We currently rely upon independent third-party transportation providers for substantially all of our merchandise shipments, including
shipments to all of our distribution facilities and our customers. Our shipments are subject to risks, including increases in fuel prices,
which would increase our distribution costs, and employee strikes and inclement weather, which may impact the third party’s ability to
provide delivery services that adequately meet our needs. For example, it can take as long as six to seven days to get shipments from our
distribution facilities. If we change shipping companies, we could face logistical difficulties that could adversely impact deliveries and
we would incur costs and expend resources in connection with such change. Moreover, we may not be able to obtain terms as favorable
as those received from the independent third-party transportation providers we currently use, which would increase our costs.
Historically, the shipping and handling fees we charge our customers are intended to partially offset the related shipping and handling
expenses. Pure-play and omni-channel retailers are increasing their focus on delivery services, as customers are increasingly seeking
faster, guaranteed delivery times and low-price or free shipping. To remain competitive, we may be required to offer discounted, free or
other more competitive shipping options to our customers, including expedited delivery services, which may result in declines in our
shipping and handling fees and increased shipping and handling expense. Any increase in shipping costs or any other significant shipping
difficulties or disruptions could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Risks Related to Regulation, Taxation and Litigation

We may be subject to liability and other risks if we, our suppliers or the manufacturers of our merchandise infringe upon the
trademarks, copyrights or other intellectual property rights of third parties, including the risk that we could acquire merchandise
from our suppliers without the full right to sell it.

We purchase merchandise that may be subject to copyrights, design patents, trademark, trade dress or otherwise may incorporate
protected intellectual property. Typically we are not involved in the manufacture of any of the merchandise that we purchase from our
suppliers for sale to our customers, and we do not independently investigate whether our suppliers or the manufacturers with whom they
do business hold intellectual property rights to the merchandise we purchase. Third parties have and may bring legal claims, or threaten
to bring legal claims, against us that their intellectual property rights are being infringed or violated by our use of intellectual property if
our suppliers or the manufacturers of our merchandise infringe upon the intellectual property rights of third parties. Litigation or
threatened litigation, regardless of merit, could be costly, time consuming to defend, require us to redesign or rebrand our products or
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packaging, if feasible, distract our senior management from operating our business and require us to enter into royalty or licensing
agreements in order to obtain the right to use a third party’s intellectual property. Any such royalty or licensing agreements, if required,
may not be available to us on acceptable terms or at all. If we were to be found liable for any such infringement, we could be required to
pay substantial damages which our indemnifying suppliers may not be able to fully pay, and could be subject to injunctions preventing
further infringement. In addition, any payments we are required to make and any injunctions with which we are required to comply as a
result of infringement claims could be costly. While our standard terms and conditions require our suppliers to indemnify us against
third-party intellectual property claims, certain agreements with our suppliers may not indemnify us from intellectual property claims for
a particular supplier’s merchandise or our suppliers may not have sufficient resources or insurance to satisfy their indemnity and defense
obligations. Any legal claims or litigation could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of
operations.

If a third party claims to have licensing rights with respect to merchandise we purchased from a supplier, or if we acquire unlicensed
merchandise, we may be obligated to remove this merchandise from our platform, incur costs associated with this removal if the
distributor or supplier is unwilling or unable to reimburse us and be subject to liability under various civil and criminal causes of action,
including actions to recover unpaid royalties and other damages and injunctions. Additionally, we could need to purchase new
merchandise to replace any we remove. Any such events could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and
results of operations.

We may be unable to protect our trademarks or other intellectual property rights.

We believe that our trademarks are integral to our business and our success in building our brand image and customer loyalty. We
rely on trademark registrations and common law trademark rights to protect the distinctiveness of our brand and have registered, or have
applied to register, those trademarks that we believe are important to our business with the United States Patent and Trademark Office
and in many foreign countries. We cannot assure that our applications will be approved or that these registrations will prevent imitation
of our name, merchandising concept, website design or merchandise or the infringement of our other intellectual property rights by
others. Third parties may also oppose our trademark applications or otherwise challenge our use of the trademarks. In certain cases, the
merchandise we sell is purchased on a non-exclusive basis from suppliers that also sell to our competitors. While we use our brand name
on these items, our competitors may seek to replicate aspects of our business strategy and online experience, thereby diluting the
experience we offer and adversely affecting our brand and competitive position. Imitation of our name, concept, website design or
merchandise in a manner that projects lesser quality or carries a negative connotation of our brand image could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We cannot be certain that the actions we have taken to establish, police and protect our trademarks or our resources will be adequate
to prevent imitation of our merchandise by others or to prevent others from seeking to block sales of our merchandise as a violation of
the trademarks or proprietary rights of others. If disputes arise in the future, we may not be able to successfully resolve these types of
conflicts to our satisfaction. In the event that our trademarks are successfully challenged, we could be forced to rebrand our products,
which could result in loss of brand recognition and could require us to devote resources to advertising and marketing new brands.
Although we cannot currently estimate the likelihood of success of any such lawsuit or ultimate resolution of such a conflict, such a
conflict, regardless of outcome, could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Litigation may be necessary to protect our trademarks and other intellectual property rights or to enforce these rights. Any litigation
or claims brought by us could result in substantial costs and diversion of our resources, which could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Unfavorable changes or failure by us to comply with evolving internet and e-commerce regulations could substantially harm our
business and results of operations.

We are subject to general business regulations and laws as well as regulations and laws specifically governing the internet and e-
commerce. These regulations and laws may involve taxes, privacy and data security, customer protection, the ability to collect and/or
share necessary information that allows us to conduct business on the internet, marketing communications and advertising, content
protection, electronic contracts or gift cards. Furthermore, the regulatory landscape impacting internet and e-commerce businesses is
constantly evolving.
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We collect personally identifiable information and other data from our employees, customers, prospective customers and others. We
use this information to provide services and relevant products to our customers, to support, expand and improve our business, and to
tailor our marketing and advertising efforts. We may also share customers’ personal data with certain third parties as authorized by the
customer or as described in our privacy policy.

As a result, we are subject to or affected by laws, governmental regulation and other legal obligations related to data protection,
privacy and information security in certain countries where we do business, and there has been and will continue to be new proposed
laws and regulations and changes to existing legal frameworks that govern how we collect, use, share, and process personal data.

In the United States, the federal government and various state governments have adopted or proposed guidelines or rules for the
collection, distribution, use and storage of information collected from or about individuals or their devices. For example, in 2020, the
California Consumer Privacy Act (“CCPA”), came into force, and provides new data privacy rights for California consumers and new
operational requirements for covered companies. Specifically, the CCPA mandates that covered companies provide new disclosures to
California consumers and afford such consumers new data privacy rights that include, among other things, the right to request a copy
from a covered company of the personal information collected about them, the right to request deletion of such personal information, and
the right to request to opt-out of certain sales of such personal information. The California Attorney General can enforce the CCPA,
including seeking an injunction and civil penalties for violations. The CCPA also provides a private right of action for certain data
breaches that is expected to increase data breach litigation. Additionally, a new privacy law, the California Privacy Rights Act (“CPRA”),
was approved by California voters in the November 3, 2020 election. The CPRA, which takes effect on January 1, 2023 and significantly
modifies the CCPA, could result in further uncertainty and require us to incur additional costs and expenses in an effort to comply. In
addition, on March 2, 2021, Virginia enacted the Virginia Consumer Data Protection Act, (the “CDPA”), which becomes effective on
January 1, 2023, and on June 8, 2021, Colorado enacted the Colorado Privacy Act, (the “CPA”), which takes effect on July 1, 2023. The
CPA and CDPA are similar to the CCPA and CPRA but aspects of these state privacy statutes remain unclear, resulting in further legal
uncertainty and potentially requiring us to modify our data practices and policies and to incur substantial additional costs and expenses in
an effort to comply. Complying with the GDPR in Europe, the UK General Data Protection Regulation (“UK GDPR”) and the UK Data
Protection Act 2018 in the UK, the CCPA, CPRA, CDPA, CPA, or other laws, regulations, amendments to or re-interpretations of
existing laws and regulations, and contractual or other obligations relating to privacy, data protection, data transfers, data localization, or
information security may require us to make changes to our services to enable us or our customers to meet new legal requirements, incur
substantial operational costs, modify our data practices and policies, and restrict our business operations. Any actual or perceived failure
by us to comply with these laws, regulations, or other obligations may lead to significant fines, penalties, regulatory investigations,
lawsuits, significant costs for remediation, damage to our reputation, or other liabilities. Other state regulators and the FTC with authority
to enforce federal and state customer protection laws may also impose standards for the online collection, use and dissemination of data.

Foreign privacy laws are also undergoing a period of rapid change, have become more stringent in recent years and may increase the
costs and complexity of offering our products and services in new geographies. In Canada, the Personal Information Protection and
Electronic Documents Act, or PIPEDA, and various provincial laws require that companies give detailed privacy notices to consumers;
obtain consent to use personal information, with limited exceptions; allow individuals to access and correct their personal information;
and report certain data breaches. In addition, Canada’s Anti-Spam Legislation, or CASL, prohibits email marketing without the
recipient’s consent, with limited exceptions. Failure to comply with PIPEDA, CASL or provincial privacy or data protection laws could
result in significant fines and penalties or possible damage awards.

The GDPR imposes stringent requirements for processing personal data. The GDPR has increased compliance burdens, including by
mandating extensive documentation requirements and granting certain rights to individuals to control how businesses collect, use,
disclose, retain and leverage information about them or how they obtain consent from them. In addition, the GDPR and UK GDPR
provide for breach reporting requirements, more robust regulatory enforcement and greater penalties for noncompliance than previous
data protection laws, including fines under each regime of up to €20/£17.5 million or 4% of a noncompliant company’s global annual
revenues for the preceding financial year, whichever is greater.

EU and United Kingdom rules also relate to cross-border transfers of personal data out of the EEA and the United Kingdom,
respectively. In July 2020, the Court of Justice of the European Union (“CJEU”) invalidated the EU-U.S. Privacy Shield framework, a
mechanism for companies to comply with data protection requirements when transferring personal data from the EU to the United States.
Additionally, in September 2020, the Federal Data Protection and Information Commissioner of Switzerland issued an opinion
concluding that the Swiss-U.S. Privacy Shield did not provide an adequate level of protection for data transfers from Switzerland to the

32




Table of Contents

United States under Swiss data protection law. Following these decisions and subsequent guidance, it seems that reliance on standard
contractual clauses alone may not necessarily be sufficient in all circumstances. Use of the standard contractual clauses must now be
assessed on a case-by-case basis taking into account the legal regime applicable in the destination country, in particular applicable
surveillance laws and rights of individuals and additional measures and/or contractual provisions may need to be put in place. We make
use of alternative data transfer mechanisms such as standard contractual clauses approved by the European Commission, or the SCCs. On
June 4, 2021, the European Commission adopted new SCCs under the GDPR for personal data transfers outside the EEA, and more
recently the United Kingdom’s Information Commissioner’s Office has published new data transfer standard contracts for transfers from
the UK under the UK GDPR. This new documentation will be mandatory for relevant data transfers from September 21, 2022; existing
standard contractual clauses arrangements must be migrated to the new documentation by March 21, 2024 — these changes may require
us to expend significant resources to update our contractual arrangements and to comply with such obligations. Further, data protection
authorities may require measures to be put in place in addition to SCCs for transfers to countries outside of the European Economic Area,
or EEA, as well as Switzerland and the United Kingdom, or UK. Our third-party service providers may also be affected by these changes.
In addition to other impacts, we may experience additional costs to comply with these changes, and we and our customers face the
potential for regulators in the EEA, Switzerland, or the UK to apply different standards to the transfer of personal data from the EEA,
Switzerland, or the UK to the United States and other non-EEA countries, and to block, or require ad hoc verification of measures taken
with respect to certain data flows from the EEA, Switzerland, and the UK to the United States and other non-EEA countries. We also
may be required to engage in new contract negotiations with third parties that aid in processing data on our behalf, to the extent that any
of our service providers or consultants have been relying on invalidated or insufficient contractual protections for compliance with
evolving interpretations of and guidance for cross-border data transfers pursuant to the GDPR. In such cases, we may not be able to find
alternative service providers, which could limit our ability to process personal data from the EEA, Switzerland, or the UK and increase
our costs.

EU and UK privacy laws on cookies, tracking technologies and e-marketing are also evolving. In the EU and the UK under national
laws derived from the ePrivacy Directive, informed consent is required for the placement of a cookie or similar technologies on a user’s
device and for direct electronic marketing. The GDPR also imposes conditions on obtaining valid consent for cookies, such as a
prohibition on pre-checked consents and a requirement to ensure separate consents are sought for each type of cookie or similar
technology. The current national laws that implement the ePrivacy Directive are highly likely to be replaced across the EU (but not
directly in the UK) by an EU regulation known as the ePrivacy Regulation which will significantly increase fines for non-compliance.
While the text of the ePrivacy Regulation is still under development, there has been significant enforcement activity including through
privacy activists. driving increased attention to cookies and tracking technologies. If the trend of increasing enforcement by regulators of
the strict approach in recent guidance and decisions continues, this could lead to substantial costs, require significant systems changes,
limit the effectiveness of our marketing activities, divert the attention of our technology personnel, adversely affect our margins, increase
costs and subject us to additional liabilities. Regulation of cookies and similar technologies, and any decline of cookies or similar online
tracking technologies as a means to identify and potentially target users, may lead to broader restrictions and impairments on our
marketing and personalization activities and may negatively impact our efforts to understand users.

As we continue to expand and new laws are enacted or existing laws change, we may be subject to new laws, regulations or
standards or new interpretations of existing laws, regulations or standards, which could require us to incur additional costs and restrict
our business operations. Furthermore, these obligations may be interpreted and applied inconsistently from one jurisdiction to another
and may conflict with other requirements or our practices. Any failure or perceived failure by us to comply with rapidly evolving data
protection laws and regulations, policies (including our own stated privacy policies), legal obligations, contractual obligations or industry
standards, or any security incident that results in the unauthorized release or transfer of personally identifiable information or other
customer data, may result in governmental investigations and/or enforcement actions, litigation (including customer class actions),
claims by our customers and other third parties, fines, penalties and other liabilities, damage to our reputation or adverse publicity, and
could cause our customers to lose trust in us, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial
condition, and prospects.

If our suppliers fail to comply with applicable laws, including a failure to use acceptable labor practices, or if our suppliers suffer
disruptions in their businesses, we could suffer adverse business consequences.

Our suppliers source the merchandise we sell from manufacturers both inside and outside of the United States. Although each of our
purchase orders is subject to our terms and conditions, which require compliance with all applicable laws including labor and
employment, immigration, customs, environmental and product safety, we do not own, supervise or control our suppliers or the
manufacturers that produce the merchandise we sell. In the past we have purchased merchandise from our suppliers solely within the
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United States. In the future, we expect to increase direct purchases from suppliers outside the United States, which may expose us to
additional risks. The violation, or perception of any violation, of any labor, immigration, product safety, or other laws by any of our
suppliers, their U.S. and non-U.S. manufacturers, or our direct suppliers, such as use of forced or child labor, or the divergence of the
labor practices followed by any of our suppliers or these manufacturers from those generally accepted in the United States, could damage
our brand image or subject us to boycotts by our customers or activist groups which could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, and results of operations.

Any event causing a sudden disruption of manufacturing or imports, including the imposition of additional import restrictions, could
interrupt, or otherwise disrupt the shipment of finished products to us by our suppliers. Political and financial instability outside the
United States, strikes, adverse weather conditions or natural disasters that may occur or acts of war or terrorism in the United States or
worldwide, may affect the production, shipment or receipt of merchandise. These factors, which are beyond our control, may require us
to modify our current business practices or incur increased costs and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, and results of operations.

Changes in laws, including employment laws and laws related to our merchandise, could make conducting our business more
expensive or otherwise cause us to change the way we do business, which could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, and results of operations.

We are subject to numerous regulations, including labor and employment, truth-in-advertising, California’s Proposition 65 and other
environmental laws and regulations, customer protection and zoning and occupancy laws and ordinances that regulate retailers generally
or govern the promotion and sale of merchandise and the operation of warehouse facilities. If these regulations were to change or were
violated by our management, employees, or suppliers, the costs of certain goods could increase, or we could experience delays in
shipments of our goods, be subject to fines or penalties or suffer reputational harm, which could reduce demand for our merchandise and
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations. In addition to increased regulatory
compliance requirements, changes in laws could make the ordinary conduct of our business more expensive or require us to change the
way we do business.

Laws related to employee benefits and treatment of employees, including laws related to limitations on employee hours, immigration
laws, child labor laws, supervisory status, leaves of absence, wages, mandated health benefits or overtime pay, could also increase
compensation and benefits costs. Moreover, changes in product safety or other customer protection laws, could lead to increased costs to
us for some merchandise, or additional labor costs associated with readying merchandise for sale. It is often difficult for us to plan and
prepare for potential changes to applicable laws, and future actions or increased costs related to these changes could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Amendments to existing tax laws, rules or regulations or enactment of new unfavorable tax laws, rules or regulations could have an
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Many of the underlying laws, rules or regulations imposing taxes and other obligations were established before the growth of the
internet and e-commerce. Tax authorities in non-U.S. jurisdictions and at the U.S. federal, state and local levels are currently reviewing
the appropriate treatment of companies engaged in internet commerce and considering changes to existing tax or other laws that could
regulate our transmissions and/or levy sales, income, consumption, use or other taxes relating to our activities, and/or impose obligations
on us to collect such taxes. For example, many U.S. states have enacted or are enacting new sales tax laws following the U.S. Supreme
Court’s 2018 decision in South Dakota v. Wayfair, as discussed below under “—The application of indirect taxes could adversely affect
our business and results of operations.” We cannot predict the effect of current attempts to impose taxes on commerce over the internet.
If such tax or other laws, rules or regulations were amended, or if new unfavorable laws, rules or regulations were enacted, the results
could increase our tax payments or other obligations, prospectively or retrospectively, subject us to interest and penalties, decrease the
demand for our services if we pass on such costs to the consumer, result in increased costs to update or expand our technical or
administrative infrastructure or effectively limit the scope of our business activities if we decided not to conduct business in particular
jurisdictions. As a result, these changes may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, and
prospects.

In addition, various governments and intergovernmental organizations could introduce proposals for tax legislation, or adopt tax

laws, that may have a significant adverse effect on our worldwide effective tax rate, or increase our tax liabilities, the carrying value of
deferred tax assets, or our deferred tax liabilities. For example, the U.S. federal government could enact significant changes to the
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taxation of business entities including, among others, a permanent increase in the corporate income tax rate, an increase in the tax rate
applicable to the global intangible low-taxed income and elimination of certain exemptions, and the imposition of minimum taxes or
surtaxes on certain types of income. As another example, in October 2015, the Organization for Economic Co-Operation and
Development (the “OECD”) released a final package of recommended tax measures for member nations to implement in an effort to
limit “base erosion and profit shifting” (the “BEPS”) by multinational companies. Since then, the OECD has continued to monitor key
areas of action and issue additional reports and guidance on implementation of the BEPS recommendations. Multiple jurisdictions,
including some of the countries in which we operate, have begun implementing recommended changes aimed at addressing perceived
issues within their respective tax systems that may lead to reduced tax liabilities among multinational companies. It is possible that other
jurisdictions in which we operate or do business could react to the BEPS initiative or their own concerns by enacting tax legislation that
could adversely affect us through increasing our tax liabilities.

The application of indirect taxes could adversely affect our business and results of operations.

The application of indirect taxes, such as sales and use tax, value-added tax, provincial taxes, goods and services tax, business tax
and gross receipt tax, to our business and to our retailers and brands is a complex and evolving issue. Significant judgment is required to
evaluate applicable tax obligations. As a result, amounts recorded may be subject to adjustments by the relevant tax authorities. In many
cases, the ultimate tax determination is uncertain because it is not clear how new and existing statutes might apply to our business or to
the businesses of our retailers and brands. One or more states, the federal government or other countries may seek to impose additional
reporting, record-keeping or indirect tax collection obligations on businesses like ours that facilitate e-commerce. For example, state and
local taxing authorities in the United States and taxing authorities in other countries have identified e-commerce platforms as a means to
calculate, collect and remit indirect taxes for transactions taking place over the internet. Multiple U.S. states have enacted related
legislation and other states are now considering similar legislation. Such legislation could require us to incur substantial costs in order to
comply, including costs associated with legal advice, tax calculation, collection, remittance and audit requirements, which could make
selling in such markets less attractive and could adversely affect our business. In 2018, the U.S. Supreme Court held in South Dakota v.
Wayfair that a U.S. state may require an online retailer to collect sales taxes imposed by that state, even if the retailer has no physical
presence in that state, thus permitting a wider enforcement of such sales tax collection requirements. Most U.S. states have enacted or are
enacting new sales tax laws following the decision in South Dakota v. Wayfair.

U.S. import taxation levels may increase and could harm our business.

Increases in taxes imposed on goods imported to the United States have been proposed by U.S. lawmakers and the President of the
United States and, if enacted, may impede our growth and negatively affect our results of operations. The majority of our inventory is
made outside of the United States and would be subject to increased taxation if new taxes on imports were imposed. Such taxes would
increase the cost of our inventory and would raise retail prices of our merchandise to the extent we pass the increased costs on to
customers, which could adversely affect our results of operations.

A failure to comply with current laws, rules and regulations or changes to such laws, rules and regulations and other legal
uncertainties may adversely affect our business, financial performance, results of operations or business growth.

Our business and financial performance could be adversely affected by unfavorable changes in or interpretations of existing laws,
rules, and regulations or the promulgation of new laws, rules and regulations applicable to us and our businesses, including those relating
to the internet and e-commerce, including geo-blocking and other geographically based restrictions, internet advertising and price
display, customer protection, anti-corruption, antitrust and competition, economic and trade sanctions, tax, banking, data security, data
protection, and privacy. As a result, regulatory authorities could prevent or temporarily suspend us from carrying on some or all of our
activities or otherwise penalize us if our practices were found not to comply with applicable regulatory or licensing requirements or any
binding interpretation of such requirements. Unfavorable changes or interpretations could severely damage our reputation and our
relationship with our customers, associates and investors as well as decrease demand for our services, limit marketing methods and
capabilities, affect our margins, increase costs or subject us to additional liabilities.

For example, there are, and will likely continue to be, an increasing number of laws and regulations pertaining to the internet and e-
commerce that may relate to liability for information retrieved from or transmitted over the internet, display of certain taxes and fees,
online editorial and customer-generated content, user privacy, data security, behavioral targeting and online advertising, taxation, liability
for third-party activities and the quality of services. Furthermore, the growth and development of e-commerce may prompt calls
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for more stringent customer protection laws and more aggressive enforcement efforts, which may impose additional burdens on online
businesses generally.

Likewise, the SEC, the U.S. Department of Justice, the U.S. Treasury Department’s Office of Foreign Assets Controls (“OFAC”),
the U.S. Department of State, as well as other foreign regulatory authorities continue to enforce economic and trade regulations and anti-
corruption laws, across industries. U.S. trade sanctions relate to transactions with designated foreign countries and territories, as well as
specifically targeted individuals and entities that are identified on U.S. and other blacklists, and those owned by them or those acting on
their behalf. Anti-corruption laws, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (the “FCPA”), generally prohibit direct or indirect
corrupt payments to government officials and, under certain laws, private persons to obtain or retain business or an improper business
advantage.

Although we have policies and procedures in place designed to promote compliance with laws and regulations, our employees,
partners, or agents could take actions in contravention of our policies and procedures, or violate applicable laws or regulations. As
regulations continue to develop and regulatory oversight continues to focus on these areas, we cannot guarantee that our policies and
procedures will ensure compliance at all times with all applicable laws or regulations. In the event our controls should fail or we are
found to be not in compliance for other reasons, we could be subject to monetary damages, civil and criminal monetary penalties,
withdrawal of business licenses or permits, litigation, and damage to our reputation and the value of our brand.

As we expand our operations in existing and new jurisdictions internationally, we will need to increase the scope of our compliance
programs to address the risks relating to the potential for violations of the FCPA and other anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws. Further,
the promulgation of new laws, rules and regulations, or the new interpretation of existing laws, rules and regulations, in each case that
restrict or otherwise unfavorably impact the ability or manner in which we or our retailers and brands conduct business could require us
to change certain aspects of our business, operations and commercial relationships to ensure compliance, which could decrease demand
for services, reduce net revenue, increase costs or subject us to additional liabilities.

Regulations related to conflict minerals may cause us to incur additional expenses and could limit the supply and increase the costs
of certain metals used in the manufacturing of our products.

We are subject to requirements under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010, which will require
us to conduct due diligence on and disclose whether or not our products contain conflict minerals. The implementation of these
requirements could adversely affect the sourcing, availability, and pricing of the materials used in the manufacture of components used in
our products. In addition, we will incur additional costs to comply with the disclosure requirements, including costs related to conducting
diligence procedures to determine the sources of minerals that may be used or necessary to the production of our products and, if
applicable, potential changes to products, processes, or sources of supply as a consequence of such due diligence activities. It is also
possible that we may face reputational harm if we determine that certain of our products contain minerals not determined to be conflict
free or if we are unable to alter our products, processes, or sources of supply to avoid such materials.

Risks Related to Our Indebtedness

We have outstanding borrowings and we may incur additional indebtedness in the future, which may require us to use a portion of
our cash flow to service debt and limit our financial and operating flexibility.

During November 2021, we entered into a Credit Agreement (the “Credit Agreement”) with Bank of America (the “New Revolving
Facility”) to provide a revolving facility that allows for borrowings up to $50.0 million, under which we borrowed $25.0 million on
November 15, 2021 that remained outstanding as of January 2, 2022. The New Revolving Facility matures three years after November
15, 2021 and requires interest payments. Further, the New Revolving Facility contains a financial maintenance covenant requiring a
maximum total leverage ratio of no more than 2.50:1.00, stepping down to 2.00:1.00 after 18 months. We believe that our cash and cash
equivalents and cash flows from operating activities will be sufficient to meet our debt and interest payment requirements for the
foreseeable future. However, we cannot ensure that our business will generate sufficient cash flow from operating activities or that future
borrowings will be available under our borrowing agreements in amounts sufficient to fund other working capital needs.
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Risks Related to Our Company and Our Ownership Structure
The transition to managing a public company will present new challenges.

We are subject to various regulatory requirements, including those of the SEC and Nasdaq. These requirements include record
keeping, financial reporting and corporate governance rules and regulations. While certain members of our management team have
experience managing a public company, we do not have the resources typically found in a public company. Our internal infrastructure
may not be adequate to support our increased reporting obligations, and we may be unable to hire, train, or retain necessary staff and may
be reliant on engaging outside consultants or professionals to overcome our lack of experience or personnel. If our internal infrastructure
is inadequate, we are unable to engage outside consultants or are otherwise unable to fulfill our public company obligations, it could have
a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Concentration of ownership among our existing executive officers, directors and principal stockholders may prevent new investors
from influencing significant corporate decisions.

As of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, our executive officers, directors, and principal stockholders own, in the
aggregate, approximately 85% of our outstanding common stock. These stockholders will be able to exercise significant control over all
matters requiring stockholder approval, including the election of directors, amendment of our amended and restated certificate of
incorporation, and approval of significant corporate transactions and will have significant control over our management and policies.
This concentration of influence could be disadvantageous to other stockholders with interests different from those of our officers,
directors, and principal stockholders and could have an adverse effect on the price of our common stock.

In addition, these stockholders could take actions that have the effect of delaying or preventing a change-in-control of us or
discouraging others from making tender offers for our shares, which could prevent stockholders from receiving a premium for their
shares. These actions may be taken even if other stockholders oppose them.

Anti-takeover provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws and under Delaware law could make an
acquisition of us more difficult, limit attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management and limit the market
price of our common stock.

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws may have the effect of delaying or preventing a change of control or
changes in our management. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws include provisions

that:

e authorize our board of directors (the “Board of Directors”) to issue, without further action by the stockholders, up to 10,000,000
shares of undesignated preferred stock;

e subject to certain exceptions, including that entities affiliated with H.I.G Capital, LLC (“H.I.G.”), Institutional Venture Partners
(“IVP”) and the Canada Pension Plan Investment Board (“CPPIB”) hold at least 50% of our common stock, require that any

action to be taken by our stockholders be effected at a duly called annual or special meeting and not by written consent;

e specify that special meetings of our stockholders can be called only by a majority of our Board of Directors, the Chair of our
Board of Directors or our Chief Executive Officer;

e establish an advance notice procedure for stockholder proposals to be brought before an annual meeting, including proposed
nominations of persons for election to our Board of Directors;

e establish that our Board of Directors is divided into three classes, with each class serving three-year staggered terms;
e prohibit cumulative voting in the election of directors; and
e provide that vacancies on our Board of Directors may be filled only by a majority of directors then in office, even though less

than a quorum.
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These provisions may frustrate or prevent any attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management by making
it more difficult for stockholders to replace members of our Board of Directors, which is responsible for appointing the members of our
management.

In addition, because we are incorporated in Delaware, we have opted out of the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General
Corporation Law (the “DGCL”), which generally prohibits a Delaware corporation from engaging in any of a broad range of business
combinations with any “interested” stockholder (any stockholder with 15% or more of our capital stock) for a period of three years
following the date on which the stockholder became an “interested” stockholder. However, our amended and restated certificate of
incorporation contain a provision that provides us with protections similar to Section 203 of the DGCL and prevent us from engaging in
a business combination with a person who acquires at least 15% of our common stock for a period of three years from the date such
person acquired such common stock, unless board or stockholder approval is obtained prior to the acquisition, except that it provides that
H.I.G. or any affiliate thereof, or any person or entity to which any of the foregoing stockholders transfers shares of our voting stock
(subject to specified exceptions), in each case regardless of the total percentage of our voting stock owned by such stockholder or such
person or entity, shall not be deemed an “interested stockholder” for purposes of this provision of our amended and restated certificate of
incorporation and therefore not subject to the restrictions set forth in this provision.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation designates the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware and the federal
district courts of the United States as the sole and exclusive forums for certain types of actions and proceedings that may be initiated
by our stockholders, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with the Company or
our directors, officers, or other employees.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that, unless we consent to the selection of an alternative forum, the
Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, be the sole and exclusive forum for any (1)
derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of the Company, (2) action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any
of our directors or officers to the Company or our stockholders, (3) action asserting a claim against the Company or any director or
officer of the Company arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL or our amended and restated certificate of incorporation or our
amended and restated bylaws, or (4) action asserting a claim against us or any director or officer of the Company governed by the
internal affairs doctrine. Additionally, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation further provides that the federal district
courts of the United States will be the exclusive forum for resolving any complaint asserting a cause or causes of action arising under the
Securities Act, including all causes of action asserted against a defendant to such complaint. The choice of forum provisions would not
apply to claims or causes of action brought to enforce a duty or liability created by the Exchange Act or any other claim for which the
federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction, as Section 27 of the Exchange Act creates exclusive federal jurisdiction over all claims
brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Exchange Act or the rules and regulations thereunder. Accordingly, actions by our
stockholders to enforce any duty or liability created by the Exchange Act or the rules and regulations thereunder must be brought in
federal court. We note that there is uncertainty as to whether a court would enforce the choice of forum provision with respect to claims
under the federal securities laws, and that investors cannot waive compliance with the federal securities laws and the rules and
regulations thereunder.

Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in any shares of our capital stock shall be deemed to have notice
of and to have consented to the forum provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation. This choice-of-forum
provision may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with us or our directors,
officers, or other employees, which may discourage such lawsuits. Alternatively, if a court were to find this provision of our amended
and restated certificate of incorporation inapplicable or unenforceable with respect to one or more of the specified types of actions or
proceedings, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such matters in other jurisdictions, which could materially and
adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations and result in a diversion of the time and resources of our
management and Board of Directors. These provisions may also result in increased costs for investors seeking to bring a claim against us
or any of our directors, officers, or other employees.

Lulu’s Fashion Lounge Holdings, Inc. is a holding company with no operations of its own and, as such, it depends on its subsidiaries
for cash to fund its operations and expenses, including future dividend payments, if any.

As a holding company, our principal source of cash flow will be distributions or payments from our operating subsidiaries.

Therefore, our ability to fund and conduct our business, service our debt, and pay dividends, if any, in the future will depend on the
ability of our subsidiaries and intermediate holding companies to make upstream cash distributions or payments to us, which may be
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impacted, for example, by their ability to generate sufficient cash flow or limitations on the ability to repatriate funds whether as a result
of currency liquidity restrictions, monetary or exchange controls, or otherwise. Our operating subsidiaries and intermediate holding
companies are separate legal entities, and although they are directly or indirectly wholly owned and controlled by us, they have no
obligation to make any funds available to us, whether in the form of loans, dividends, or otherwise.
Risks Related Ownership of Our Common Stock
An active trading market for our common stock may not be sustained.

An active market for our common stock may not be maintained. If an active trading market is not sustained, investors may have
difficulty selling any of our common stock they have bought. Consequently, we cannot assure investors of their ability to sell shares of

common stock when desired or the prices that may obtained for shares of common stock.

We expect that our stock price will fluctuate significantly, which could cause the value of investments in our common stock to decline,
and investors may not be able to resell their shares at a price at or above the price for which they purchased them.

Securities markets worldwide have experienced, and are likely to continue to experience, significant price and volume fluctuations.
The market volatility, as well as general economic, market or political conditions, could reduce the market price of our common stock
regardless of our results of operations. The trading price of our common stock is likely to be volatile and subject to significant price
fluctuations in response to many factors, including:

e market conditions or trends in our industry or the economy as a whole and, in particular, in the retail sales environment;

e changes in our merchandise mix and supplier base;

e timing of promotional events;

e changes in key personnel;

e entry into new markets;

e changes in customer preferences and fashion trends;

e announcements by us or our competitors of new product offerings or significant acquisitions, divestitures, strategic
partnerships, joint ventures, or capital commitments;

e actions by competitors;

e inventory shrinkage beyond our historical average rates;

e changes in operating performance and stock market valuations of other retail companies;
e investors’ perceptions of our prospects and the prospects of the retail industry;

e fluctuations in quarterly results of operations, as well as differences between our actual financial results and results of
operations and those expected by investors;

e the public’s response to press releases or other public announcements by us or third parties, including our filings with the SEC
and/or negative earnings or other announcements by us or other retail apparel companies;

e announcements, media reports, or other public forum comments related to litigation, claims, or reputational charges against us;
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e guidance, if any, that we provide to the public, any changes in this guidance, or our failure to meet this guidance;

e changes in financial estimates or ratings by any securities analysts who follow our common stock, our failure to meet these
estimates, or the failure of those analysts to initiate or maintain coverage of our common stock;

e the development and sustainability of an active trading market for our common stock;

e downgrades in our credit ratings or the credit ratings of our competitors;

e investor perceptions of the investment opportunity associated with our common stock relative to other investment alternatives;
e future sales of our common stock by our officers, directors, and significant stockholders;

e global macroeconomic conditions, including inflation, labor shortages, supply chain shortages, or other economic, political or
legal uncertainties or adverse developments;

e political unrest, terrorism and wars, such as the current situation with Ukraine and Russia, which could delay or disrupt our
business, and if such political unrest escalates or spills over to or otherwise impacts additional regions it could heighten many
of the other risk factors included in this Item 1A;

e other events or factors, including those resulting from system failures and disruptions, earthquakes, hurricanes, other natural
disasters, pandemics, or responses to these events; and

e changes in accounting principles.

These and other factors may cause the market price and demand for shares of our common stock to fluctuate substantially, which
may limit or prevent investors from readily selling their shares of our common stock and may otherwise negatively affect the liquidity of
our common stock. As a result of these factors, our quarterly and annual results of operations and sales may fluctuate significantly.
Accordingly, results for any one quarter are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected for any other quarter or for any year and
sales for any particular future period may decrease. In the future, our results of operations may fall below the expectations of securities
analysts and investors. In that event, the price of our common stock would likely decrease. In the past, when the market price of a stock
has been volatile, security holders have often instituted class action litigation against the company that issued the stock. If we become
involved in this type of litigation, regardless of the outcome, we could incur substantial legal costs and our management’s attention could
be diverted from the operation of our business, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and
results of operations.

Future sales of our common stock in the public market could cause the market price of our common stock to decrease significantly.

Sales of substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market by our existing stockholders, upon the exercise of stock
options granted in the future or by persons who acquired shares in our initial public offering (“IPO”) may cause the market price of our
common stock to decrease significantly. The perception that such sales could occur could also depress the market price of our common
stock. Any such sales could also create public perception of difficulties or problems with our business and might also make it more
difficult for us to raise capital through the sale of equity securities in the future at a time and price that we deem appropriate.

Certain of our outstanding shares of common stock are “restricted securities,” as defined under Rule 144 under the Securities Act
and eligible for sale in the public market subject to the requirements of Rule 144, are subject to lock-up agreements, and will become
available for resale in the public market beginning 180 days after the date of our prospectus, dated November 10, 2021, filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) in accordance with Rule 424(b) of the Securities Act of November 12, 2021 (the
“Prospectus”) in connection with our IPO, subject to certain earlier termination as described in the Prospectus.

With limited exceptions, the lock-up agreements with the underwriters of our IPO prohibit a holders of shares of our common stock

prior to the IPO from selling, contracting to sell or otherwise disposing of any common stock or securities that are convertible or
exchangeable for common stock or entering into any arrangement that transfers the economic consequences of ownership of our common
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stock for at least 180 days from the date of the Prospectus (subject to earlier termination as described in the Prospectus), although the
lead underwriters may, in their sole discretion and at any time without notice, release all or any portion of the securities subject to these
lock-up agreements. Upon a request to release any shares subject to a lock-up, the lead underwriters would consider the particular
circumstances surrounding the request including, but not limited to, the length of time before the lock-up expires, the number of shares
requested to be released, reasons for the request, the possible impact on the market for our common stock and whether the holder of our
shares requesting the release is an officer, director or other affiliate of ours. As a result of these lock-up agreements, notwithstanding
earlier eligibility for sale under the provisions of Rule 144, none of these shares may be sold until at least 180 days after the date of the
Prospectus (subject to earlier termination as described in the Prospectus).

As restrictions on resale expire or as shares are registered, our share price could drop significantly if the holders of these restricted or
newly registered shares sell them or are perceived by the market as intending to sell them. These sales might also make it more difficult
for us to raise capital through the sale of equity securities in the future at a time and at a price that we deem appropriate.

We do not intend to pay dividends on our common stock and, consequently, the ability of common stockholders to achieve a return on
investment will depend on appreciation, if any, in the price of our common stock.

Investors should not rely on an investment in our common stock to provide dividend income. Because we do not expect to pay any
cash dividends for the foreseeable future, investors may be forced to sell their shares in order to realize a return on their investment, if
any. We do not anticipate that we will pay any dividends to holders of our common stock for the foreseeable future. Any payment of cash
dividends will be at the discretion of our Board of Directors and will depend on our financial condition, capital requirements, legal
requirements, earnings, and other factors. Consequently, investors in our common stock should not rely on dividends in order to receive a
return on their investment. Accordingly, investors must rely on sales of their common stock after price appreciation, which may never
occur, as the only way to realize any return on their investment. As a result, investors seeking cash dividends should not purchase our
common stock.

General Risk Factors

There are claims made against us from time to time that can result in litigation that could distract management from our business
activities and result in significant liability or damage to our brand.

As a growing company with expanding operations, we increasingly face the risk of litigation and other claims against us. Litigation
and other claims may arise in the ordinary course of our business and include employee claims, commercial disputes, intellectual
property issues, privacy and customer protection claims, and product-oriented allegations. These claims can raise complex factual and
legal issues that are subject to risks and uncertainties and could require significant management time and allocation. Litigation and other
claims and regulatory proceedings against us could result in unexpected expenses and liabilities, which could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We depend on our senior management personnel and may not be able to retain or replace these individuals or recruit additional
personnel, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Our future success is substantially dependent on the continued service of our senior management, particularly David McCreight, our
Chief Executive Officer. Mr. McCreight has extensive experience in our industry and is familiar with our business, systems, and
processes. The loss of services of Mr. McCreight or any other of our key employees could impair our ability to manage our business
effectively, as we may not be able to find suitable individuals to replace them on a timely basis or at all, which could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations. In addition, any departures of key personnel could be
viewed in a negative light by investors and analysts, which could cause our common stock price to decline. We do not maintain key
person insurance on any employee.

In addition to our CEO, we have other employees in positions, including those employees responsible for our merchandising,
marketing, software development, accounting, finance, information technology, and operations departments, that, if vacant, could cause a
temporary disruption in our operations until such positions are filled, which could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, and results of operations. Our success depends in part upon our ability to attract, motivate, and retain a sufficient
number of employees who understand our business, customers, brand and corporate culture. Our planned growth will require us to hire
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and train even more personnel to manage such growth. If we are unable to hire and retain personnel capable of consistently performing at
a high level, our ability to expand our business may be impaired.

If securities analysts or industry analysts downgrade our shares, publish negative research or reports, or do not publish reports about
our business, our share price and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock is influenced by the research and reports that industry or securities analysts publish about
us, our business and our industry. If one or more analysts adversely change their recommendation regarding our shares or our
competitors’ stock, our share price would likely decline. If one or more analysts cease coverage of us or fail to regularly publish reports
on us, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which in turn could cause our share price or trading volume to decline. As a
result, the market price for our common stock may decline and shares of our common stock may not be resold at or above the price at
which they were purchased.

Our results of operations could be adversely affected by natural disasters, public health crises, political crises, or other catastrophic
events.

Our principal offices and one of our distribution facilities are located in Chico, California, an area which has a history of wildfires,
and are thus vulnerable to damage. We also operate offices in other cities and states and have a second distribution facility in Southern
California and a third distribution facility in Pennsylvania. Natural disasters, such as earthquakes, wildfires, hurricanes, tornadoes,
floods, and other adverse weather and climate conditions; unforeseen public health crises, such as pandemics and epidemics; political
crises, such as terrorist attacks, war, and other political instability; or other catastrophic events, whether occurring in the United States or
internationally, could disrupt our operations in any of our offices and distribution facilities or the operations of one or more of our third-
party providers or suppliers. For example, in the fall of 2018 there was a wildfire near Chico, California where our headquarters and one
of our distribution facilities are located. In particular, these types of events could impact our merchandise supply chain, including our
ability to ship merchandise to customers from or to the impacted region, our suppliers’ ability to ship merchandise or our ability to
operate our platform. In addition, these types of events could negatively impact customer spending in the impacted regions. Sales of
certain seasonal apparel items are dependent in part on the weather and may decline when weather conditions do not favor the use of this
apparel. To the extent any of these events occur, our business and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Increased scrutiny and changing expectations from investors, customers, employees and others regarding our environmental,
social and governance practices and reporting could cause us to incur additional costs, devote additional resources and expose us to
additional risks, which could adversely impact our reputation, customer acquisition and retention, access to capital and employee
retention.

Companies across all industries are facing increasing scrutiny related to their environmental, social and governance (“ESG”)
practices and reporting. Investors, customers, employees and other stakeholders have focused increasingly on ESG practices and placed
increasing importance on the implications and social cost of their investments, purchases and other interactions with companies. With
this increased focus and demand, public reporting regarding ESG practices is becoming more broadly expected. If our ESG practices
and reporting do not meet investor, customer or employee expectations, which continue to evolve, our brand, reputation and customer
retention may be negatively impacted.

Our ability to achieve any ESG objective is subject to numerous risks, many of which are outside of our control. Examples of such
risks include:

e the availability and cost of low- or non-carbon-based energy sources;

e the evolving regulatory requirements affecting ESG standards or disclosures;

e the availability of suppliers that can meet our sustainability, diversity and other ESG standards;
e our ability to recruit, develop and retain diverse talent in our labor markets; and

e the success of our organic growth and acquisitions or dispositions of businesses or operations.
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If we fail, or are perceived to be failing, to meet the standards included in any sustainability disclosure or the expectations of our
various stakeholders, it could negatively impact our reputation, customer acquisition and retention, access to capital and employee
retention. In addition, new sustainability rules and regulations have been adopted and may continue to be introduced in various states and
other jurisdictions, and our failure to comply with any applicable rules or regulations could lead to penalties and adversely impact our
reputation, customer acquisition and retention, access to capital and employee retention.

We are an emerging growth company, and the reduced disclosure requirements applicable to emerging growth companies may make
our common stock less attractive to investors.

We are an emerging growth company as defined in the JOBS Act. Under the JOBS Act, emerging growth companies can delay
adopting new or revised financial accounting standards until such time as those standards apply to private companies. We intend to take
advantage of the extended transition period for adopting new or revised financial accounting standards under the JOBS Act as an
emerging growth company.

For as long as we continue to be an emerging growth company, we may also take advantage of other exemptions from certain
reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies, including not being required to comply with the auditor attestation
requirements of Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, exemption from any rules that may be adopted by the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board requiring mandatory audit firm rotations or a supplement to the report of independent registered public
accounting firm, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy statements,
exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and any golden parachute
arrangements, and reduced financial reporting requirements. Investors may find our common stock less attractive because we will rely on
these exemptions, which could result in a less active trading market for our common stock, increased price fluctuation, and a decrease in
the trading price of our common stock.

We will remain an emerging growth company until the earlier of (1) the last day of the fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of
our IPO, (2) the last day of the fiscal year in which we have total annual gross revenue of at least $1.07 billion, (3) the last day of the
fiscal year in which we are deemed to be a “large accelerated filer,” as defined in the rules under the Exchange Act, or (4) the date on
which we have issued more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt during the prior three-year period.

Failure to achieve and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting in accordance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

As a privately held company, we were not required to evaluate our internal control over financial reporting in a manner that meets
the standards of publicly traded companies required by Section 404(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (“Section 404”). Section 404 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires annual management assessments of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting,
starting with the second annual report that we file with the SEC as a public company, and generally requires in the same report a report
by our independent registered public accounting firm on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. However,
under the JOBS Act, our independent registered public accounting firm will not be required to attest to the effectiveness of our internal
control over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act until we are no longer an emerging growth company.
We could be an emerging growth company for up to five years subsequent to becoming a public company.

Once we are no longer an emerging growth company, our independent registered public accounting firm will be required to attest to
the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting on an annual basis. The rules governing the standards that must be met
for our management to assess our internal control over financial reporting are complex and require significant documentation, testing and
possible remediation and the incurrence of significant additional expenditures. Testing and maintaining internal controls may divert our
management’s attention from other matters that are important to our business.

The process of designing and implementing effective internal controls is a continuous effort that requires us to anticipate and react to
changes in our business and the economic and regulatory environments and to expend significant resources to maintain a system of
internal controls that is adequate to satisfy our reporting obligations as a public company. If we are unable to establish or maintain
appropriate internal financial reporting controls and procedures, it could cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations on a timely
basis, result in material misstatements in our consolidated financial statements and harm our results of operations.
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In connection with the implementation of the necessary procedures and practices related to internal control over financial reporting,
we may identify deficiencies that we may not be able to remediate in time to meet the deadline imposed by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act for
compliance with the requirements of Section 404. In addition, we may encounter problems or delays in completing the remediation of
any deficiencies identified by our independent registered public accounting firm in connection with the issuance of their attestation
report. Our testing, or the subsequent testing by our independent registered public accounting firm, may reveal deficiencies in our
internal controls over financial reporting that are deemed to be material weaknesses. We may not be able to conclude on an ongoing basis
that we have effective internal control over financial reporting in accordance with Section 404. If we are unable to conclude that we have
effective internal control over financial reporting, investors may lose confidence in our reported financial information, which could have
a material adverse effect on the trading price of our common stock, and we could become subject to litigation or investigations by
Nasdagq, the SEC, or other regulatory authorities, which could require additional financial and management resources.

The requirements of being a public company may strain our resources, divert management’s attention and dffect our ability to attract
and retain executive management and qualified board members.

Previously, as a privately held company, we were not required to comply with certain corporate governance and financial reporting
practices and policies required of a publicly traded company. As a publicly traded company, we will incur significant legal, accounting,
and other expenses that we were not required to incur in the recent past, particularly after we are no longer an emerging growth company
as defined under the JOBS Act. We are required to file with the SEC annual and quarterly information and other reports that are specified
in Section 13 of the Exchange Act. We are also required to ensure that we have the ability to prepare financial statements that are fully
compliant with all SEC reporting requirements on a timely basis. We are also subject to other reporting and corporate governance
requirements, including the requirements of Nasdaq, and certain provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the regulations promulgated
thereunder, which impose significant compliance obligations upon us. As a public company, among other things, we have to:

e prepare and distribute periodic public reports and other stockholder communications in compliance with our obligations under
the federal securities laws and applicable Nasdaq rules;

e create or expand the roles and duties of our Board of Directors and committees of the board;

e institute more comprehensive financial reporting and disclosure compliance functions;

e enhance our investor relations function;

e establish new internal policies, including those relating to disclosure controls and procedures; and
e involve and retain to a greater degree outside counsel and accountants in the activities listed above.

These changes will require a significant commitment of additional resources and many of our competitors already comply with these
obligations. We may not be successful in complying with these obligations and the significant commitment of resources required for
complying with them could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations. In addition, if
we fail to implement the requirements with respect to our internal accounting and audit functions, our ability to report our results of
operations on a timely and accurate basis could be impaired and we could suffer adverse regulatory consequences or violate Nasdaq
listing standards. There could also be a negative reaction in the financial markets due to a loss of investor confidence in us and the
reliability of our consolidated financial statements, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and
results of operations.

The changes necessitated by becoming a public company require a significant commitment of resources and management oversight
that has increased and may continue to increase our costs and might place a strain on our systems and resources. As a result, our
management’s attention might be diverted from other business concerns. If we fail to maintain an effective internal control environment
or to comply with the numerous legal and regulatory requirements imposed on public companies, we could make material errors in, and
be required to restate, our consolidated financial statements. Any such restatement could result in a loss of public confidence in the
reliability of our consolidated financial statements and sanctions imposed on us by the SEC.
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Short sellers of our stock may be manipulative and may drive down the market price of our common stock.

Short selling is the practice of selling securities that the seller does not own, but rather has borrowed or intends to borrow from a
third party with the intention of buying identical securities at a later date to return to the lender. A short seller hopes to profit from a
decline in the value of the securities between the sale of the borrowed securities and the purchase of the replacement shares, as the short
seller expects to pay less in that purchase than it received in the sale. It is therefore in the short seller’s interest for the price of the stock
to decline, and some short sellers publish, or arrange for the publication of, opinions or characterizations regarding the relevant issuer,
often involving misrepresentations of the issuer’s business prospects and similar matters calculated to create negative market momentum,
which may permit them to obtain profits for themselves as a result of selling the stock short.

As a public entity, we may be the subject of concerted efforts by short sellers to spread negative information in order to gain a
market advantage. In addition, the publication of misinformation may also result in lawsuits, the uncertainty and expense of which could
adversely impact our business, financial condition, and reputation. There are no assurances that we will not face short sellers' efforts or
similar tactics in the future, and the market price of our common stock may decline as a result of their actions.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

Not applicable.

Item 2. Properties

We do not own any real property. Our corporate headquarters are located in a leased facility in Chico, California. We also operate a
leased facility primarily used for office space in Chico, California, and we also lease a retail space in Chico, California. We operate three
leased distribution facilities: a facility (which includes office space) located in Chico, California; a facility located in Easton,
Pennsylvania; and a facility located in Ontario, California. Our creative buying and inventory planning offices are located in Los
Angeles, California in a leased facility.

Some of our facilities located in Chico are leased from related persons. See Note 11 — Related Party Transactions of the
accompanying notes to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere within this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional
information.

Location Type
Chico, California Distribution facility and office space
Chico, California Corporate headquarters
Chico, California Office space
Chico, California Retail space
Los Angeles, California Office space
Ontario, California Distribution facility
Easton, Pennsylvania Distribution facility

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are from time to time subject to various legal proceedings and claims, including employment claims, wage and hour claims,
intellectual property claims, contractual and commercial disputes and other matters that arise in the ordinary course of our business.
While the outcome of these and other claims cannot be predicted with certainty, we do not believe that the outcome of these matters will
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, cash flows, or results of operations. We are not presently a party to
any legal proceedings that we believe would, if determined adversely to us, materially and adversely affect our future business, financial
condition, cash flows, or results of operations.
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Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.

Information about our Executive Officers and Directors

The following table provides information regarding our executive officers as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

Name Age Position

David McCreight 59 Chief Executive Officer and Director

Crystal Landsem 38 Co-President, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary
Mark Vos 52 Co-President and Chief Information Officer

The following are biographies of our executive officers:

David McCreight has served as our Chief Executive Officer since April 2021 and on our Board of Directors since April 2021. Previously,
he was the CEO of Anthropologie Group, Inc. from 2011 to 2018. He also served as the President of URBN, Inc. from 2016 to 2018, and
as the President of Under Armour, Inc. from 2008 to 2010. He is currently a board member of CarMax, Inc. and Wolverine Worldwide,
Inc. Mr. McCreight received his Bachelor of Arts degree from the University of Virginia.

Crystal Landsem has served as our Co-President since July 2020 and Chief Financial Officer since September 2015. Previously, she was
the Co-Founder and Chief Financial Officer of sqwrl LLC, a consulting and project management services firm, where she oversaw
finance and accounting functions, budgeting, forecasting, cash management, accounting, and analysis for small to mid-sized e-commerce
companies from August 2015 to January 2016. Ms. Landsem also served as the Director of Finance for 11 Main, an Alibaba Group
Company, where she was responsible for the administrative, financial, and risk management operations of five U.S.-based Alibaba
companies from May 2012 to August 2015. Ms. Landsem holds a CPA in California and received her B.A. in Accounting from
California State University-Chico.

Mark Vos has served as our Co-President since July 2020 and Chief Information Officer since January 2018. Prior to that, Mr. Vos held
roles of increasing responsibility at the Company since October 2015. Previously, Mr. Vos was the Co-Founder and CEO of sqwrl LLC, a
consulting and project management services firm from July 2015 to March 2016. He also served as Senior Director of Engineering at 11
Main, an Alibaba Group Company, from December 2013 to July 2015. Mr. Vos holds a Masters in International Management from
Universitat zu Koln, Germany and a MSc in Business Administration from Erasmus University Rotterdam, The Netherlands.

The following table provides information regarding members of our Board of Directors as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-
K:

Name Age Position
David McCreight 59 Chief Executive Officer and Director
Dara Bazzano 53 Director
John Black 52 Director
Evan Karp 45 Director
Eric Liaw 44 Director
Michael Mardy 73 Director
Danielle Qi 37 Director
Kira Yugay 37 Director

The following are biographies of our directors:

See page 46 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for a biography of David McCreight.
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Dara Bazzano has served on our Board of Directors since January 2022. Ms. Bazzano currently serves as T- Mobile’s SVP, Chief
Accounting Officer, overseeing the T-Mobile/Sprint finance integration and finance transformation, since July 2020. She also leads the
finance operations, corporate accounting, policy, technical and SEC reporting, and innovation teams. From April 2018 to July 2020, Ms.
Bazzano previously served as SVP, Chief Accounting Officer at CBRE, the world’s largest commercial real estate services and
investment company, where she led the global finance controller, technology and compliance organization. Prior to that, from July 2013
to April 2018, Ms. Bazzano was Chief Accounting Officer, VP of Finance and Global Corporate Controller at GAP Inc., and served in
Assurance Partner roles at PwC from February 2011 to June 2013, and KPMG from Jan 2000 to February 2011, in each case in the
Consumer, Retail and Technology Industries. Ms. Bazzano serves as an independent director for Self. Inc and is also on the board of
Girls on the Run International. Ms. Bazzano’s experience provides her with the qualifications and skills to serve as a director.

John Black has served on our Board of Directors since October 2017. Mr. Black has served as a Senior Advisor at H.I.G. Growth
Partners from July 2021. From March 2010 to July 2021, he served as the Head of H.I.G. Growth Equity, the dedicated growth equity
investment group for H.I.G. Capital, LLC. Prior to that, since joining H.I.G. in 1996, Mr. Black has led or had a significant role in more
than forty H.I.G. investments in a wide range of industries including technology, media, healthcare, consumer oriented, and business
service companies. Prior to H.I.G., Mr. Black was a senior professional with several leading firms working with lower middle market
businesses to identify and implement operational initiatives to enable the businesses to realize their full growth potential. Mr. Black has
held several executive level management positions including chief operating officer and chief financial officer. Mr. Black began his
career in the Corporate Finance Group at Ernst & Young. He currently serves on the board of directors of Adtheorent Holding Company,
LLC. Mr. Black received his Bachelor of Arts in Applied Mathematics from Harvard University. Mr. Black’s experience as an executive
level manager and leadership roles in a wide range of industries and business situations provides him with valuable and relevant
experience in finance, accounting, reporting, operational matters, and leadership of complex organizations, and provides him with the
qualifications and skills to serve as a director.

Evan Karp has served on our Board of Directors since August 2017 and as a board member of Lulu’s Holdings, L.P. since July 2014. Mr.
Karp has been a Managing Director at H.I.G. Growth Partners, focusing on e-commerce, tech-enabled business services, and consumer-
oriented investments since January 2018. Prior to that he was a Principal at H.I.G from May 2012 to December 2017. Prior to H.I.G.
Growth Partners, Mr. Karp was a Principal at SKM Growth Investors investing primarily in consumer oriented, multi-channel businesses
and served as a board representative for numerous portfolio companies from July 2001 to April 2012. Prior to that, he was an Associate
at J.H. Whitney & Co. He began his career at Salomon Smith Barney focusing on telecom mergers & acquisitions advisory services. Mr.
Karp currently serves on the boards of directors of a number of privately held companies. Mr. Karp graduated from the Business Honors
Program at the University of Texas at Austin with a B.A. in Finance. Mr. Karp’s involvement with his respective firms’ investments in
many e-commerce and branded consumer companies over the past 20 years, including investments in the retail industry, in-

depth knowledge and industry experience, coupled with his skills in private financing and strategic planning, provides him with the
qualifications and skills to serve as a director.

Eric Liaw has served as a member of our Board of Directors since April 2018. Since March 2011, Mr. Liaw has served in roles of
increasing responsibility at Institutional Venture Partners, a venture capital firm, where he currently serves as a general partner. From
August 2003 to January 2011, Mr. Liaw served in several roles at Technology Crossover Ventures, a venture capital firm, including most
recently as a vice president. From 2014 to February 2019, Mr. Liaw served on the board of directors of Mindbody, Inc. Mr. Liaw
currently serves on the board of directors of The Honest Company, Inc. and ZipRecruiter, Inc. Mr. Liaw also serves on the boards of
directors of a number of privately held companies. Mr. Liaw holds a B.A. degree in Economics with a minor in Computer Science and an
M.S. degree in Management Science and Engineering from Stanford University. Mr. Liaw’s involvement with his respective firms’
investments in many e-commerce and branded consumer companies, including investments in the retail industry, in-depth knowledge and
industry experience, coupled with his skills in private financing and strategic planning, provides him with the qualifications and skills to
serve as a director.

Michael Mardy has served on our Board of Directors since October 2017. Mr. Mardy served as Executive Vice President and director of
specialty retailer, Tumi Holding Inc. from July 2003 to August 2016. Prior to joining Tumi, from 1996 to 2002, he served as Executive
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Keystone Foods LLC, a processor and distributor, supplying the quick service restaurant
industry. From 1982 to 1996, he served as Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and in various other finance positions at
Nabisco Biscuit Company, a snack food and consumer products company. Mr. Mardy currently serves on the board of directors of Vince
Holding Corp., where he also acts as the audit committee chair. Mr. Mardy also currently serves on the boards of directors of a number of
privately held companies. Mr. Mardy previously served on the board of directors of David’s Tea Inc., and on the board of directors of
Keurig Green Mountain Inc. from 2007 until 2016 and ModusLink Global Solutions, Inc. from 2003 until
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2013, in each case acting as audit committee chair and a member of their respective compensation committees. Mr. Mardy also served on
the New York Stock Exchange Advisory Board from 2014 until 2016 and is a trustee of the New Jersey chapter of the financial
Executive Institute. Mr. Mardy holds an MBA from Rutgers University and undergraduate degree from Princeton University. He is a
member of the American institute of Certified Public Accountants, and the New Jersey Society of Certified Public Accountants, as well
as a member of the National Association of Corporate Directors. Mr. Mardy’s experience as a chief financial officer in the consumer
products industry and vast knowledge of operations provide him with valuable and relevant experience in management, operations and
leadership of complex organizations, as well as extensive industry knowledge, and provides him with the qualifications and skills to
serve as a director.

Danielle Qi has served on our Board of Directors since August 2017 and as a board member of Lulu’s Holdings, L.P. since July 2017.
Ms. Qi has served as a Managing Director at H.I.G. since April 2021, focusing primarily on the internet, consumer, media, and
technology-enabled services sectors, prior to which she was a Principal and Vice President at H.I.G. since July 2018 and July 2015,
respectively. From December 2012 to June 2015, Ms. Qi worked at Alliance Holdings, a private equity firm focused on lower middle
market companies in a wide range of industries. Ms. Qi currently serves on the boards of directors of AdTheorent, Inc. as well as a
number of privately held companies. Ms. Qi received a B.S. in Economics and B.A. in History from the University of Pennsylvania and
an M.B.A. from the Kellogg School of Management at Northwestern University. Ms. Qi’s experience working with companies in a wide
range of industries, including the internet, consumer, media, and technology-enabled services sectors and knowledge of complex
financial matters provides her with valuable and relevant experience in strategic planning, corporate finance, financial reporting, and
leadership of complex organizations, and provides her with the qualifications and skills to serve as a director.

Kira Yugay has served as a member of our Board of Directors since March 31, 2022. Since 2019, Ms. Yugay has served in roles of
increasing responsibility at H.I.G. Capital, a leading private equity investment firm, where she currently serves as a Principal. At H.I.G.,
Ms. Yugay focuses on private equity investments in middle market businesses in the technology sector, and is responsible for all key
aspects of the transaction process, including deal origination, transaction structuring and negotiating, and post-closing portfolio company
oversight. Prior to joining H.I.G. Capital, Ms. Yugay held private equity investing roles at Warburg Pincus between 2014 and 2018 and at
Greenbriar Equity Group between 2010 and 2012. She has also held operating roles at healthcare services and technology companies.
Ms. Yugay began her career at Citigroup, where she advised clients on M&A transactions, capital raises, and other strategic initiatives.
Ms. Yugay earned her undergraduate B.A. degree, summa cum laude, from Columbia University and M.B.A., with distinction, from
Harvard Business School.
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PART II
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters, and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Market Price of and Dividends on the Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters
Market Information

Our common stock is listed on the Nasdaq and began trading under the symbol “LVLU” on November 11, 2021. Prior to that date,
there was no public trading market for our common stock.

Holders of Record
As of March 28, 2022, there were 43 number of holders of record of our common stock.
Dividends

We currently intend to retain all available funds and future earnings, if any, to fund the development and expansion of our business,
and we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Any future determination regarding the declaration and
payment of dividends, if any, will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend on then-existing conditions, including our
financial condition, operating results, contractual restrictions, capital requirements, business prospects and other factors our board of
directors may deem relevant. Our future ability to pay cash dividends on our capital stock is limited by the terms of our New Revolving
Facility and may be limited by any future debt instruments or preferred securities.

Performance Graph

The following graph and table compare the performance of (1) an investment in our common stock over the period of November 11,
2021 through January 2, 2022, beginning with an investment at the $13.06 closing market price on November 11, 2021, the end of the
first day our common stock traded on the Nasdaq following our initial public offering at $16.00 per share, and thereafter based on the
closing price of our common stock on the Nasdaq, with (2) an investment in the S&P 500 and the S&P Retail Select Industry, in each
case beginning with an investment at the closing price on November 11, 2021 and thereafter based on the closing price of the index. The
graph and table assume $100 was invested on the starting date at the price indicated above and that dividends, if any, were
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reinvested. The comparisons are based on historical data and are not indicative of, nor intended to forecast, the future performance of our
common stock.

Cumulative Stock Performance Graph (Since Listing)
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November 11, January 2,
Company/Index 2021 2022
Lulu's Fashion Lounge Holdings, Inc. $ 100.00 $ 78.33
S&P 500 Index $ 100.00 $ 102.51
S&P Retail Select Industry Index $ 100.00 $ 89.54

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities; Use of Proceeds from Registered Securities
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
None.

Use of Proceeds from Registered Securities

On November 15, 2021, we completed our IPO, in which we issued and sold 5,750,000 shares of our common stock at a price to the
public of $92.0 million or $16.00 per share. We raised net proceeds to us of approximately $82.0 million, after deducting the
underwriting discounts and commissions of approximately $6.1 million and other issuance costs of approximately $3.9 million. All
shares sold were registered pursuant to a registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333- 260194), as amended (the “Registration
Statement”), declared effective by the SEC on November 10, 2021. Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC, BofA Securities, Inc. and Jefferies LLC
acted as representatives of the underwriters for the offering. The offering terminated after the sale of all securities registered pursuant to
the Registration Statement. No payments for such expenses were made directly or indirectly to (i) any of our officers or directors or their
associates, (ii) any persons owning 10% or more of any class of our equity securities or (iii) any of our affiliates. The net proceeds from
our IPO, together with our existing cash, cash equivalents and borrowings under our New Revolving Facility were used to redeem all
Series B and Series B-1 Redeemable Preferred Stock and to repay in full all outstanding amounts under our previous credit facility (the
“Credit Facility”) that was comprised of a term loan (the “Term Loan”) and revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Facility”). As of the
date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we have used all of the net proceeds from the IPO.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

None.
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Item 6. [Reserved]
Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together with our
consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This discussion contains
forward-looking statements based upon current plans, expectations and beliefs involving risks and uncertainties. Our actual results may
differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including those set forth in
Part I, “Item 1A. Risk Factors” and other factors set forth in other parts of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Overview

Lulus is a customer-driven, digitally-native fashion brand primarily serving Millennial and Gen Z women. We focus relentlessly on
giving our customers what they want. We do this by using data coupled with human insight to deliver a curated and continuously
evolving assortment of on-trend affordable luxury fashion. Our customer obsession sets the tone for everything we do, from our
personalized online shopping experience to our exceptional customer service.

Initial Public Offering

On November 10, 2021, our registration statement on Form S-1 relating to its [IPO was declared effective by the SEC and the shares
of its common stock began trading on the Nasdaq Global Market on November 11, 2021. The IPO closed on November 15, 2021,
pursuant to which we issued and sold 5,750,000 shares of our common stock at a public offering price of $16.00 per share. On November
15, 2021, we received net proceeds of approximately $82.0 million from the IPO, after deducting underwriting discounts and
commissions of approximately $6.1 million and other issuance costs of approximately $3.9 million. Immediately prior to the completion
of the IPO, we filed an amended and restated certificate of incorporation, which authorized a total of 250,000,000 shares of common
stock at $0.001 par value per share, and 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock, $0.001 par value per share. Immediately prior to the
completion of the IPO, all shares of the Series A Preferred Stock then outstanding were converted into 15,000,000 shares of common
stock. Additionally, 215,702 shares of common stock were issued to the LP immediately prior to the completion of the IPO. All shares of
the Series B Preferred Stock and the Series B-1 Preferred Stock were redeemed and extinguished for a total payment of approximately
$17.9 million on November 15, 2021.

Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic

The COVID-19 pandemic has had a material impact on the global fashion apparel, accessories and footwear industry as a significant
portion of in-person social, professional, and formal events over the last 18 months were postponed or cancelled.

Historically, our business model has resulted in strong historical growth. Between fiscal years 2016 and 2019, we grew our net
revenue by 179% to $370 million, or an annual compounded growth rate of 41%. In fiscal year 2020, our net revenue declined by 33% to
$249 million as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. Our business rebounded from the initial impact of the pandemic on consumer
behavior and, for the three and 12-month periods ended January 2, 2022, we grew our net revenue by 77.5% and 51.1%, respectively,
compared to the same periods of the prior year.

We expect ongoing volatility in these trends as the continued impact from COVID-19 remains uncertain. We may take further
actions that impact our business operations as may be required by federal, state, or local authorities or that we determine to be in the best
interests of our employees and our customers. For additional discussion of risks related to the COVID-19 pandemic and the impact of
the COVID-19 pandemic on our Company, see “Risk Factors—Risks Related to our Business—The COVID-19 pandemic has had and
may in the future have an adverse effect on our labor workforce availability, supply chain, business, financial condition, cash flows, and
results of operations in ways that remain unpredictable.”
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Key Operating and Financial Metrics

We collect and analyze operating and financial data to assess the performance of our business and optimize resource allocation. The
following table sets forth our key performance indicators for the periods presented (in thousands, except for percentages and Average
Order Value).

Years Ended
January 2, January 3, December 29,
2022 2021 2019

Gross Margin 471 % 44.4 % 43.6 %
Net income (loss) $ 2,045 $ (19304) $ (469)
Adjusted EBITDA (1) $ 41,406 $ 18911 $ 21,021
Adjusted EBITDA Margin (1) 11.0 % 7.6 % 5.7 %
Active Customers (2) 2,760 2,000 2,880
Average Order Value $ 120 $ 106 $ 110

(1) For a reconciliation of non-GAAP financial measures to the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure and why we
consider them useful, see “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Non-
GAAP Financial Measures.”

(2) Active Customers count is based on de-duplication logic using customer account and guest checkout name, address, and email
information. Active Customer count is as of the last day of the relevant period.

Active Customers

We define Active Customers as the number of customers who have made at least one purchase across our platform in the prior 12-
month period. We consider the number of Active Customers to be a key performance metric on the basis that it is directly related to
consumer awareness of our brand, our ability to attract visitors to our digital platform, and our ability to convert visitors to paying
customers. Active Customers counts are based on de-duplication logic using customer account and guest checkout name, address, and
email information.

Average Order Value

We define Average Order Value (“AOV”) as the sum of the total gross sales before returns across our platform in a given period,
plus shipping revenue, less discounts and markdowns, divided by the Total Orders Placed in that period. AOV reflects average basket
size of our customers. AOV may fluctuate as we continue investing in the development and introduction of new Lulus merchandise and
as a result of our promotional discount activity.

Total Orders Placed

We define Total Orders Placed as the number of customer orders placed across our platform during a particular period. An order is
counted on the day the customer places the order. We do not adjust the number of Total Orders Placed for any cancellation or return that
may have occurred subsequent to a customer placing an order. We consider Total Orders Placed as a key performance metric on the basis
that it is directly related to our ability to attract and retain customers as well as drive purchase frequency. Total Orders Placed, together
with Average Order Value, is an indicator of the net revenue we expect to generate in a particular period.

Gross Margin
We define Gross Margin as gross profit as a percentage of our net revenue. Gross profit is equal to our net revenue less cost of

revenue. Certain of our competitors and other retailers report cost of revenue differently than we do. As a result, the reporting of our
gross profit and Gross Margin may not be comparable to other companies.
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Non-GAAP Financial Measures

We report our financial results in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the U.S. (“GAAP”). However,
management believes that certain non-GAAP financial measures provide investors of our financial information with additional useful
information in evaluating our performance and that excluding certain items that may vary substantially in frequency and magnitude
period-to-period from net income (loss) provides useful supplemental measures that assist in evaluating our ability to generate earnings
and to more readily compare these metrics between past and future periods. These non-GAAP financial measures may be different than
similarly titled measures used by other companies.

To supplement our audited consolidated financial statements which are prepared in accordance with GAAP, we use “Adjusted
EBITDA” and “Adjusted EBITDA Margin” which are non-GAAP financial measures (collectively referred to as “Adjusted EBITDA”).
Our non-GAAP financial measures should not be considered in isolation from, or as substitutes for, financial information prepared in
accordance with GAAP. There are several limitations related to the use of our non-GAAP financial measures as compared to the closest
comparable GAAP measures. Some of these limitations include:

e Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect our cash expenditures, or future requirements for capital expenditures or contractual
commitments;

e Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital needs;

e Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect the interest expense, or the cash requirements necessary to service interest or principal
payments on our debt;

e Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect our tax expense or the cash requirements to pay our taxes;

e although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized will often have to
be replaced in the future and such measures do not reflect any cash requirements for such replacements; and

e other companies in our industry may calculate such measures differently than we do, limiting their usefulness as
comparative measures.

Due to these limitations, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA margin should not be considered as measures of discretionary
cash available to us to invest in the growth of our business. We compensate for these limitations by relying primarily on our GAAP
results and using these non-GAAP measures only supplementally. As noted in the table below, Adjusted EBITDA includes adjustments
to exclude the impact of depreciation and amortization, interest expense, income taxes, management fees, transaction fees, which
represent the write-off of offering costs deferred during 2019 upon abandonment of a prior offering in 2020, and equity-based
compensation. It is reasonable to expect that some of these items will occur in future periods. However, we believe these adjustments are
appropriate because the amounts recognized can vary significantly from period to period, do not directly relate to the ongoing operations
of our business and may complicate comparisons of our internal results of operations and results of operations of other companies over
time. In addition, Adjusted EBITDA includes adjustments for other items that we do not expect to regularly record. Each of the normal
recurring adjustments and other adjustments described in this paragraph and in the following reconciliation table help management with
a measure of our core operating performance over time by removing items that are not related to day-to-day operations. Adjusted
EBITDA Margin is a non-GAAP financial measure that we calculate as Adjusted EBITDA (as defined above) as a percentage of our net
revenue.
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The following table provides a reconciliation for Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA margin:

Year Ended
January 2, January 3, December 29,
2022 2021 2019
(in thousands)
Net income (loss) $ 2,045 $ (19,304) $ (469)
Depreciation and amortization 2,828 3,216 3,041
Interest expense 12,774 16,037 15,206
Loss on extinguishment of debt 1,392 — —
Income tax provision (benefit) 6,212 (1,271) 445
Management fees (1) 534 626 758
Write-off of previously capitalized transaction fees (2) — 1,950 —
Transaction fees (3) 476 — —
Equity-based compensation expense (4) 13,664 9,086 2,040
Equity-based compensation expense related to redeemable
preferred stock issuance (5) 1,481 8,571 —
Adjusted EBITDA $ 41,406 $ 18,911 $ 21,021
Adjusted EBITDA margin 11.0 % 7.6 % 5.7 %
(1) Represents management fees and expenses paid pursuant to the professional services agreement with H.I.G. and IVP for consulting

&)
3

“

)

and other services. All outstanding management fees were settled and the management agreement was terminated at the time of the
Company’s IPO.

Represents the write-off of offering costs deferred during 2019 upon abandonment of a prior offering in 2020.

Represents costs related primarily to marketing and presentations for the investment community, as well as travel and other
miscellaneous costs incurred as a result of the Company’s IPO.

Represents equity-based compensation expense related to modifications and vesting of Class P unit awards. The year ended January
2, 2022 also includes equity-based compensation expense for stock options and special compensation awards granted during the
year.

Represents the excess of fair value over the consideration paid for Series B Preferred Stock that was issued to an employee, H.I.G.,
and IVP in June 2020. In addition, represents the excess of fair value over the consideration paid for Series B-1 Preferred Stock that
was issued to certain employees in March 2021.

Adjusted Diluted Earnings (Net Loss) per Share

Adjusted Diluted Earnings (Net Loss) per Share is a non-GAAP financial measure that we calculate as diluted net loss per share

attributable to common stockholders adjusted to exclude the per share impact of the deemed dividend due to triggering a down round
feature as part of our IPO. This common feature provided protection to our convertible preferred stockholders by limiting the amount of
dilution when the IPO was priced lower than previous rounds. We also excluded the impact of the acceleration of stock-based
compensation expenses at the time of the IPO and a one-time stock dividend at the time of the IPO. We believe Adjusted Diluted
Earnings (Net Loss) per Share is a measure that is useful to investors and management in understanding our ongoing operations and in
analysis of ongoing operating trends. See Note 2, Significant Accounting Policies—Net Loss Per Share Attributable to Common
Stockholders, of the accompanying notes to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-
K for more information regarding our calculation of net loss per share attributable to common stockholders.
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A reconciliation of non-GAAP Adjusted Diluted Earnings (Net Loss) per Share from diluted net loss per share attributable to
common stockholders for the years ended 2021, 2020 and 2019 is as follows (in dollars):

Year Ended

January 2, 2022 January 3,2021 December 29, 2019

Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders — diluted $ (6.08) $ (1.13) $ (0.03)
Deemed dividend to preferred stockholders (1) 6.08 0.03 —
Stock dividend issued to LP (2) 0.17 — —
Stock compensation expense accelerated upon IPO (3) 0.40 — —
Deemed contribution from redemption of redeemable preferred stock (4) (0.07) — —
Equity-based compensation expense related to award modifications (5) — 0.48 —
Equity-based compensation expense related to redeemable preferred stock issuance (6) 0.07 0.49 —

Adjusted Diluted Earnings (Net Loss) per Share (7) $ 0.57 $ (0.13) $ (0.03)

(1) Removes the impact of a one-time $123.0 million deemed dividend that was recorded at the time of our IPO related to the
conversion of convertible preferred stock in 2021 and a $0.5 million deemed dividend in 2020. The dilution associated with this
transaction only impacted stockholders and management who held units in the LP prior to the IPO.

(2) Removes the impact of a $3.5 million one-time stock dividend issued to the LP at the time of our IPO in 2021.

(3) Removes the impact of $8.0 million of non-recurring stock compensation expenses triggered by our IPO in 2021.

(4) Removes the impact of a $1.4 million deemed contribution resulting from the redemption of our redeemable preferred stock at the
time of our IPO in 2021.

(5) Removes the impact of $8.4 million of equity-based compensation expense related to modifications of Class P unit awards in 2020.

(6) Removes the per share impact in 2020 of the excess of fair value over the consideration paid for Series B Preferred Stock that was
issued to an employee, H.I.G., and IVP in June 2020. Removes the per share impact in 2021 of the excess of fair value over the
consideration paid for Series B-1 Preferred Stock that was issued to certain employees in March 2021.

(7) These adjustments did not impact the weighted-average shares used to compute Adjusted Diluted Earnings (Net Loss) per Share as
the impact from potentially dilutive securities would have been anti-dilutive.

Net Debt

We define Net Debt as total debt, which includes short-term borrowings and long-term obligations, less cash and cash equivalents.
We consider net debt to be an important supplemental measure of our financial position, which allows us to analyze our leverage.

A reconciliation of non-GAAP Net Debt as of January 2, 2022 and January 3, 2021 is as follows:

As of
January 2, 2022 January 3, 2021
(in thousands)

Revolving line of credit, current $ — 3 (8,580)
Long-term debt, current — (10,125)
Revolving line of credit, long term (25,000) —
Long-term debt, net of current portion — (96,856)
Cash and cash equivalents 11,402 15,554
Net Debt $ (13,598) $ (100,007)

55




Table of Contents

Factors Affecting Our Performance

Our financial condition and results of operations have been, and will continue to be, affected by a number of factors that present
significant opportunities for us but also pose risks and challenges, including what is discussed below. See “Risk Factors.”

Customer Acquisition

Our business performance depends in part on our continued ability to cost-effectively acquire new customers. We define customer
acquisition cost (“CAC”) as our brand and performance marketing expenses attributable to acquiring new customers, including, but not
limited to, agency costs and marketing team costs but excluding any applicable equity-based compensation, divided by the number of
customers who placed their first order with us in a given period. As a digital brand, our marketing strategy is primarily focused on brand
awareness marketing and digital advertising in channels like search, social, and programmatic — platforms that enable us to engage our
customer where she spends her time, and in many cases also quickly track the success of our marketing, which allows us to adjust and
optimize our marketing spend.

Customer Retention

Our continued success depends in part on our ability to retain and drive repeat purchases from our existing customers. We monitor
retention across our entire customer base. Our goal is to attract and convert visitors into active customers and foster relationships that
drive repeat purchases. During the year ended January 2, 2022, we served 2.8 million Active Customers compared to 2.0 million for the
year ended January 3, 2021.

Inventory Management

We utilize a data-driven strategy that leverages our proprietary reorder algorithm to manage inventory as efficiently as possible. Our
“test, learn, and reorder” approach consists of limited inventory purchases followed by the analysis of proprietary data including real-
time transaction data and customer feedback, which then informs our selection and customization of popular merchandise prior to
reordering in larger quantities. While our initial orders are limited in size and financial risk and our supplier partners are highly
responsive, we nonetheless purchase inventory in anticipation of future demand and therefore are exposed to potential shifts in customer
preferences and price sensitivity over time. As we continue to grow, we will adjust our inventory purchases to align with the current
needs of the business.

Investment in Our Operations and Infrastructure

We will continue to invest in our operations and infrastructure to facilitate further growth of our business. While we expect our
expenses to increase accordingly, we will harness the strength of our existing platform and our on-trend fashion expertise to make
informed investment decisions. We intend to invest in headcount, inventory, fulfillment, logistics, and our software and data capabilities
in order to improve our platform, expand into international markets, and drive operational efficiencies. We cannot guarantee that
increased spending on these investments will be cost effective or result in future growth in our customer base. However, we set a high bar
for approval of any capital spending initiative. We believe that our disciplined approach to capital spending will enable us to generate
positive returns on our investments over the long term.

Components of Our Results of Operations
Net Revenue

Net revenue consists primarily of gross sales, net of merchandise returns and promotional discounts and markdowns, generated from
the sale of apparel, footwear, and accessories. Net revenue excludes sales taxes assessed by governmental authorities. We recognize net
revenue at the point in time when control of the ordered product is transferred to the customer, which we determine to have occurred
upon shipment.

Net revenue is impacted by our number of customers and their spending habits, Average Order Value, product assortment and

availability, and marketing and promotional activities. During any given period, we may seek to increase sales by increasing promotional
discounts, and in other periods we may instead seek to increase sales by increasing our selling and marketing expenses. We consider
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both actions together, so increased promotional discounts in a period, which would reduce net revenue accordingly in such period, might
also result in lower selling and marketing expenses in such period. Similarly, if we increase selling and marketing expenses in a given
period, promotional discounts may be correspondingly reduced, thereby improving net revenue. We expect our net revenue to increase in
absolute dollars as we grow our business, although our net revenue growth rate may slow in future periods.

Cost of Revenue and Gross Margin

Cost of revenue consists of the product costs of merchandise sold to customers; shipping and handling costs, including all inbound,
outbound, and return shipping expenses; rent, insurance, business property tax, utilities, depreciation and amortization, and repairs and
maintenance related to our distribution facilities; and charges related to inventory shrinkage, damages, and our allowance for excess or
obsolete inventory. Cost of revenue is primarily driven by growth in orders placed by customers, the mix of the product available for sale
on our site, and transportation costs related to inventory receipts from our suppliers. We expect our cost of revenue to fluctuate as a
percentage of net revenue primarily due to how we manage our inventory and merchandise mix.

Gross profit is equal to our net revenue less cost of revenue. We calculate Gross Margin as gross profit as a percentage of our net
revenue. Our Gross Margin varies across Lulus, exclusive to Lulus, and third-party branded products. Exclusive to Lulus consists of
products that we develop with design partners and have exclusive rights to sell across our platform, but that do not bear the Lulus brand.
Gross Margin on sales of Lulus and exclusive to Lulus merchandise is generally higher than Gross Margin on sales of third-party
branded products, which we offer for customers to “round out” the shopping basket. We expect our Gross Margin to increase modestly
over the long term, as we continue to optimize our distribution capabilities and gain more negotiation leverage with suppliers as we scale,
although our Gross Margin may fluctuate from period to period depending on the interplay of these factors.

Selling and Marketing Expenses

Our selling and marketing expenses consist primarily of payment processing fees, advertising, targeted online performance
marketing and customer order courtesy adjustments. Selling and marketing expenses also include our spend on brand marketing
channels, including compensation and free clothing to social media influencers, events, and other forms of online and offline marketing
related to growing and retaining the customer base. As discussed in “Net Revenue” above, in any given period, the amount of our selling
and marketing expense can be affected by the use of promotional discounts in such period. We expect our selling and marketing expenses
to increase in absolute dollars as we continue to invest in increasing brand awareness.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of payroll and benefits costs, including equity-based compensation for our
employees involved in general corporate functions including finance, merchandising, marketing, and technology, as well as costs
associated with the use by these functions of facilities and equipment, including depreciation, rent, and other occupancy expenses.
General and administrative expenses are primarily driven by increases in headcount required to support business growth and meeting our
obligations as a public company.

In the near term, we also expect to incur significant legal, accounting, and other expenses that we did not incur as a private company.
We expect that compliance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, as well
as rules and regulations subsequently implemented by the SEC, will increase our legal and financial compliance costs and will make
some activities more time consuming and costly. We expect our general and administrative expenses to increase in absolute dollars as we
continue to grow our business.
Other Income (Expense), Net

Other income (expense), net consists primarily of interest expense and other miscellaneous income.
Provision for Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes represents federal, state, and local income taxes. The effective rate differs from the statutory rate

primarily due to non-deductible equity-based compensation expenses and state taxes. Our effective tax rate will change from quarter to
quarter based on recurring and nonrecurring factors including, but not limited to, the geographical mix of earnings, enacted tax
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legislation, state and local income taxes, the impact of permanent tax adjustments, tax audit settlements, and the interaction of various tax
strategies.

Our Results of Operations

The following tables set forth our consolidated results of operations for the years presented and as a percentage of net revenue:

Year Ended
January 2, January 3, December 29,
2022 2021 2019
(in thousands)

Net revenue $ 375,625 $ 248,656 $ 369,622
Cost of revenue 198,893 138,364 208,418

Gross profit 176,732 110,292 161,204
Selling and marketing expenses 66,684 47,812 72,875
General and administrative expenses 87,710 67,155 73,386
Income (loss) from operations 22,338 (4,675) 14,943
Other income (expense), net:

Interest expense (12,774) (16,037) (15,206)

Loss on extinguishment of debt (1,392) — —

Other income, net 85 137 239
Total other expense, net (14,081) (15,900) (14,967)
Income (loss) before income taxes 8,257 (20,575) (24)
Income tax (provision) benefit (6,212) 1,271 (445)
Net income (loss) $ 2,045 § (19,3049) $ (469)
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Year Ended
January 2, January 3, December 29,
2022 2021 2019
(in thousands, except percentages)

Net revenue 100 % 100 % 100 %
Cost of revenue 53 56 56

Gross profit 47 44 44
Selling and marketing expenses 18 19 20
General and administrative expenses 23 27 20
Income (loss) from operations 6 ) 4

Other income (expense), net:
Interest expense 3) (6) 4
Loss on extinguishment of debt — — _
Other income, net — _ _

Total other expense, net 3) (6) 4)
Income (loss) before income taxes 3 (€)) —
Income tax (provision) benefit ) — —
Net income (loss) 1% (8)% — %

Comparisons for the Fiscal Years Ended January 2, 2022 and January 3, 2021

Net Revenue
Year Ended Change
January 2, January 3,
2022 2021 A %
(in thousands, except percentages)
Net revenue $ 375,625 $ 248,656 $ 126,969 51.1 %

Net revenue increased in 2021 by $127.0 million, or 51.1%, compared to 2020. The increase in revenue was primarily due to
increases in Active Customers and customer spend coupled with fewer markdowns and promotional discounts compared to the same
period of the prior year. The higher revenue was partially offset by higher sales returns in 2021. The 2020 return rate was suppressed due
to a shift in our sales mix toward product categories with lower return rates as a result of the pandemic.

Cost of Revenue

Year Ended Change
January 2, January 3,
2022 2021 A %
(in thousands, except percentages)
Cost of revenue $ 198,893 $ 138,364 $ 60,529 43.7 %

Cost of revenue increased in 2021 by $60.5 million, or 43.7%, compared to 2020, consistent with the increase in our net revenue.
Additionally, there was a shift in sales mix to higher gross margin products combined with lower markdowns and discounts, driving the
cost of revenue as a percentage of net revenue down in 2021 compared to 2020.
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Selling and Marketing Expenses

Year Ended Change
January 2, January 3,
2022 2021 Amount %
(in thousands, except percentages)
Selling and marketing expenses $ 66,684 $ 47,812 $ 18,872 39.5 %

Selling and marketing expenses increased in 2021 by $18.9 million, or 39.5% compared to 2020. Discretionary marketing spend was
suppressed in 2020 in response to lower customer demand due to the COVID-19 pandemic. We ramped our marketing spend up in 2021
resulting in a $14.4 million increase in online marketing expenses to acquire new customers and retain existing customers compared to
2020. In addition, merchant processing fees increased by $3.7 million in 2021 compared to the same period of the prior year largely due
to the increase in net revenue.

General and Administrative Expenses

Year Ended Change
January 2, January 3,
2022 2021 A %
(in thousands, except percentages)
General and administrative expenses $ 87,710 $ 67,155 $ 20,555 30.6 %

General and administrative expenses increased by $20.6 million in 2021, or 30.6%, compared to 2020. The increase was due to a
$7.8 million increase in variable labor costs, which increased by 52.9% from 2020 to 2021, and was in line with our increase in net
revenue. Fixed labor costs were $12.1 million higher driven by $5.9 million higher bonus costs due to improved business performance
and $6.2 million higher fixed headcount costs compared to the previous year where costs were suppressed due to furloughs related to the
COVID-19 pandemic.

Interest Expense

Interest expense decreased in 2021 by $3.3 million, or 20.3%, compared to 2020. The decrease was primarily due to a reduced
amount of borrowings outstanding for 2021 compared to 2020 and the higher average interest rate through our previous Credit Facility
that was comprised of a Term Loan and a Revolving Facility.

Loss on Extinguishment of Debt

Loss on extinguishment of debt in 2021 was $1.4 million, compared to $0 loss on extinguishment of debt in 2020. The loss on
extinguishment of debt was incurred with the repayment and termination of our Credit Facility, at which time we recognized a write-off
of $2.3 million in unamortized debt issuance costs and debt discounts and forgiveness of accrued debt modification costs of $0.9 million
in accordance with the Fifth Amendment.

Income Tax (Provision) Benefit

Our income tax provision in 2021 increased by $7.5 million, or 589% to $6.2 million, compared to an income tax benefit of $1.3

million in 2020. The increase in the income tax provision was primarily due to an increase in our income before taxes coupled with an
increase in non-deductible equity-based compensation expenses.
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Comparisons for the Fiscal Years Ended January 3, 2021 and December 29, 2019

Net Revenue
Year Ended Change
January 3, December 29,
2021 2019 Amount %
(in thousands, except percentages)
Net revenue $ 248,656 $ 369,622 $ (120,966) (32.7)%

Net revenue decreased in 2020 by $121.0 million, or 33%, compared to 2019. The decrease in net revenue was primarily driven by a
decrease of 36% in the number of Total Orders Placed by customers caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. Consumer spending declined in
2020 due to the economic uncertainty surrounding the COVID-19 pandemic and lockdown restrictions, which resulted in a 31% decrease
in Active Customers compared to 2019. While we saw improvements in units per transaction (“UPT”) and Average Order Value net of
returns, our 2020 sales were heavier in markdowns and promotional discounts compared to 2019 in order to reduce event related
inventory on hand. UPT represents the average number of items that a customer purchases per transaction. It is calculated by dividing the
total number of items sold for a given period by the total number of orders placed during that same time period. A higher UPT indicates
that customers are purchasing more items per transaction, while a lower UPT indicates that customers are purchasing fewer items per
transaction.

Cost of Revenue

Year Ended Change
January 3, December 29,
2021 2019 A t %
(in thousands, except percentages)
Cost of revenue $ 138,364 $ 208,418 $ (70,054) (33.6)%

Cost of revenue decreased in 2020 by $70.1 million, or 34%, compared to 2019, consistent with the decrease in our net revenue.

Selling and Marketing Expenses

Year Ended Change
January 3, December 29,
2021 2019 Amount %
(in thousands, except percentages)
Selling and marketing expenses $ 47,812 $ 72,875  $ (25,063) (34.4)%

Selling and marketing expenses decreased in 2020 by $25.1 million, or 34%, compared to 2019. The decrease was primarily driven
by our efforts to reduce discretionary marketing expenses and cash outlays in response to lower customer demand due to the COVID-19
pandemic. We reduced our online marketing investment to acquire new customers and retain existing customers by $21.3 million in 2020
compared to 2019. Other marketing expenses also decreased by $0.8 million. In addition, merchant processing fees decreased by $3.0
million in 2020 compared to 2019 due to the decline in net revenue.

General and Administrative Expenses

Year Ended Change
January 3, December 29,
2021 2019 Amount %
(in thousands, except percentages)
General and administrative expenses $ 67,155 $ 73,386 $ (6,231) (8.5)%

General and administrative expenses decreased in 2020 by $6.2 million, or 9%, compared to 2019. The decrease was primarily
driven by a $15.9 million decrease in payroll and benefits expense as a result of lower direct labor costs in line with lower sales volumes,
as well as a shift of approximately 60% of our employees to furlough in response to the COVID-19 pandemic who gradually returned to
work throughout the year, a $3.0 million decrease in professional services, legal and accounting fees, and a $4.3 million decrease in
hardware, software and fulfillment and office supplies. These decreases were partially offset by a $13.1 million increase in equity-based
compensation due to award modifications and grants in 2020, which included a $6.1 million charge for the excess of fair value over
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consideration paid for the Series B Preferred Stock issued to an employee in June 2020. There was also a $2.3 million increase in
management fees driven by recognition of the excess of fair value over consideration paid for Series B Preferred Stock issued to H.I.G.
and IVP in June 2020.

Interest Expense

Interest expense increased in 2020 by $0.8 million, or 5%, compared to 2019. The increase was primarily attributable to increased
borrowings under our Credit Facility and higher variable interest rates in 2020 compared to 2019.

Income Tax (Provision) Benefit

Our income tax provision in 2019 decreased by $1.7 million to an income tax benefit of $1.3 million in 2020. The change in the
income tax provision for 2020 as compared to 2019 was primarily due to an increase in our loss before taxes and a one-time benefit in
2020 for the release of certain interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions as a result of settlements with taxing authorities,
partially offset by an increase in non-deductible equity-based compensation expenses.

Seasonality

Our results of operations for any interim period are not necessarily indicative of those for the entire year because our business is
subject to seasonal fluctuations. We generally expect demand to be greater in our second and third fiscal quarters compared to the rest of
the year. We believe that this seasonality has affected and will continue to affect our results of operations.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our primary sources of liquidity and capital resources are cash generated from operating activities, proceeds from the issuance of
preferred stock and borrowings under our Credit Facility. Our primary requirements for liquidity and capital are inventory purchases,
payroll and general operating expenses, capital expenditures associated with distribution, network expansion and capitalized software
and debt service requirements.

Initial Public Offering

On November 15, 2021, we completed our IPO, in which we issued and sold 5,750,000 shares of our common stock at a price to the
public of $16.00 per share and raised net proceeds of approximately $82.0 million, after deducting the underwriting discounts and
commissions of approximately $6.1 million and other issuance costs of approximately $3.9 million.

Credit Facilities

During November 2021, we entered into a Credit Agreement with Bank of America to provide a revolving facility that provides for
borrowings up to $50.0 million. During the term of the Credit Agreement, we may increase the aggregate amount of the New Revolving
Facility up to an additional $25.0 million (for maximum aggregate lender commitments of up to $75.0 million), subject to the satisfaction
of certain conditions under the Credit Agreement, including obtaining the consent of the administrative agent and an increased
commitment from existing or new lenders. In addition, the Credit Agreement may be used to issue letters of credit up to $7.5 million. As
of January 2, 2022, we had drawn $25.0 million under the New Revolving Facility and utilized $0.25 million under the letter of credit.
As of January 2, 2022, we had $25.0 million available for borrowing under the New Revolving Facility and $7.25 million available to
issue letters of credit.

The New Revolving Facility matures three years after November 15, 2021, and borrowings thereunder will accrue interest at a rate
equal to, at our option, either (x) the term SOFR rate, plus the applicable SOFR adjustment plus a margin of 1.75% per annum or (y) the
base rate plus a margin of 0.75% (with the base rate being the highest of the federal funds rate plus 0.50%, the prime rate and term SOFR
for a period of one month plus 1.00%). The New Revolving Facility contains a financial maintenance covenant requiring a maximum
total leverage ratio of no more than 2.50:1.00, stepping down to 2.00:1.00 after 18 months. A commitment fee of 37.5 basis points will
be assessed on unused commitments under the New Revolving Facility.
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With the net proceeds from the IPO and borrowings from the New Revolving Facility, we repaid our Term Loan of $107.2 million
on November 15, 2021, which comprised of $105.8 million in principal and $1.4 million of interest. The Credit Facility was terminated
on November 15, 2021 and no prepayment penalties were incurred.

Avadilability and Use of Cash

As of January 2, 2022, we had cash and cash equivalents of $11.4 million and restricted cash of $0.5 million. We believe that our
cash and cash equivalents, cash flows from operating activities and the available borrowings under our New Revolving Facility, will be
sufficient to meet our capital expenditures, working capital needs and debt repayments for at least the next 12 months from the date of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K. However, we cannot ensure that our business will generate sufficient cash flow from operating
activities or that future borrowings will be available under our borrowing agreements in amounts sufficient to pay indebtedness or fund
other working capital needs. Actual results of operations will depend on numerous factors, many of which are beyond our control as
further discussed in Part I, “Item 1A. Risk Factors” included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Cash Flow Analysis

The following table summarizes our cash flows for the periods indicated:

Year Ended
January 2, January 3, December 29,
2022 2021 2019
(in thousands)

Net cash (used in) provided by:

Operating activities $ 26,896 $ 4,856 $ 11,874

Investing activities (3,394) (1,913) (4,042)

Financing activities (27,653) 6,755 (9,721)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents $ 4,151) $ 9,698 $ (1,889)

Operating Activities

Cash from operating activities consists primarily of net income (loss) adjusted for certain non-cash items, including depreciation and
amortization, amortization of debt discount and debt issuance costs, interest expense capitalized to principal of debt, equity-based
compensation, and the effect of changes in working capital and other activities.

In 2021, net cash provided by operating activities increased $22.0 million from $4.9 million in 2020 to $26.9 million in 2021. The
changes in cash provided was primarily driven by an increase of $21.3 million due to the change from a net loss of $19.3 million in 2020
to net income of $2.0 million in 2021 and an increase of $9.5 million related to changes in our operating assets and liabilities from a net
decrease of $2.9 million in 2020 to a net increase of $6.6 million in 2021, which was primarily driven by higher accrued expenses,
including higher accrued compensation, bonuses and benefits, as well as an increase in the returns reserve as a result of higher sales
coupled with a higher returns rate offset by increases in inventories, assets for recovery and prepaids and other current assets due to the
overall increase in sales as the Company recovered from the impacts of COVID-19 during 2021. This was offset by a decrease of $8.8
million in non-cash items primarily due to the payment of interest capitalized to principal of long-term debt and revolving line of credit
of $3.8 million in 2021 due to the repayment of the Term Loan upon the IPO, a decrease in equity-based compensation expense related to
redeemable preferred stock of $7.1 million due to issuance of less redeemable preferred stock in 2021 and a decrease in write-off of
deferred offering costs of $2.0 million as there were no such write-offs in 2021, offset by an increase in equity-based compensation
expense related to the new CEO special compensation awards of $3.3 million in 2021 and loss on debt extinguishment of $1.4 million in
2021 due to the repayment of the Term Loan upon the IPO.

In 2020, net cash provided by operating activities decreased $7.0 million from $11.9 million in 2019 to $4.9 million in 2020. The
changes in cash provided was primarily driven by a decrease due to the increase in net loss of $18.8 million, a decrease of $9.7 million
related to changes in our operating assets and liabilities from a net increase of $6.8 million in 2019 to a net decrease of $2.9 million,
which was primarily related to the overall decline in business due to the impacts of COVID-19. This was offset by an increase of $21.5
million in non-cash items due to an increase in equity-based compensation expense of $15.6 million due to the modification of Class P
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unit awards and the expense related to the issuance of redeemable preferred stock in 2020, an increase of $1.7 million due to interest
capitalized to principal of long-term debt and revolving line of credit in 2020, and an increase of $2.0 million in write-off of deferred
offering costs as there were no such write-offs in 2019.

Investing Activities

Our primary investing activities have consisted of purchases of equipment to support our overall business growth and internally
developed software for the continued development of our proprietary technology infrastructure. Purchases of property and equipment
may vary from period-to-period due to timing of the expansion of our operations. We have no material commitments for capital
expenditures.

In 2021, net cash used in investing activities was $3.4 million, which was a $1.5 million increase from $1.9 million in 2020. This
was attributable to capital expenditures relating to equipment for our general operations, software and hardware purchases, and internally
developed software increasing due to initial investments in our new distribution facility in Ontario, California in 2021.

In 2020, net cash used in investing activities was $1.9 million, which was a $2.1 million decrease from $4.0 million in 2019. This
was attributable to capital expenditures relating to equipment for our general operations, software and hardware purchases, and internally
developed software decreasing due to general lower capital expenditures during a slower business period in 2020 due to COVID-19. In
addition, 2019 included higher costs due to initial investments in our new distribution facility in Pennsylvania in 2019.

Financing Activities

Financing activities consist primarily of borrowings and repayments related to our Credit Facility and New Revolving Facility and
issuance of common and preferred stock.

In 2021, net cash used in financing activities was $27.7 million, which was a decrease of $34.5 million from $6.8 million of net cash
provided by financing activities in 2020. The decrease was due to an increase in repayments of our Term Loan of $107.1 million,
redemption of our redeemable preferred stock of $17.9 million in 2021, and a decrease in proceeds from issuance of redeemable
preferred stock of $5.9 million. Such decrease was offset by the $82.5 million of net proceeds from our IPO in 2021, an increase in net
borrowings on revolving lines of credit of $11.9 million, and a decrease in repayment of advance from LP of $2.0 million.

In 2020, net cash provided by financing activities was $6.8 million, which was an increase of $16.5 million from net cash used in
financing activities of $9.7 million in 2019. The increase was due to proceeds from issuance of our redeemable preferred stock of $7.3
million in 2020, an increase in net proceeds from borrowings under our Revolving Facility of $0.5 million, a decrease in repayments on
our Term Loan of $10.1 million, a decrease in payment of debt issuance costs of $0.4 million, and a decrease in payment of deferred
offering costs of $2.2 million, offset by a decrease in advance from LP of $2.0 million and the repayment on advance from LP of $2.0
million in 2020.

64




Table of Contents

Contractual Obligations and Other Commitments

Our most significant contractual obligations relate to our New Revolving Facility and operating lease obligations on our distribution
facilities and corporate offices. For information on our New Revolving Facility, see Note 5, Debt, and for information on our contractual
obligations for operating leases, see Note 6, Commitments and Contingencies, of the accompanying notes to our consolidated financial
statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements and the related notes thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are
prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, costs and expenses and related disclosures. We base our estimates on
historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could
differ significantly from our estimates. To the extent that there are differences between our estimates and actual results, our future
financial statement presentation, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows will be affected.

We believe that the assumptions and estimates associated with revenue recognition, equity-based compensation, and income taxes
have the greatest potential impact on our consolidated financial statements. Therefore, we consider these to be our critical accounting
policies and estimates. For further information on all of our significant accounting policies, please see Note 2, Significant Accounting
Policies, of the accompanying notes to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Revenue Recognition

While our revenue recognition does not involve significant judgment, it represents an important accounting policy. We generate
revenue from the sale of merchandise products sold directly to end customers. We recognize revenue when the product is transferred to
the customer, which is generally upon shipment. We estimate a reserve of future returns based on historical return rates. There is
judgment in utilizing historical trends for estimating future returns. Our refund liability for sales returns is included in returns reserve on
the consolidated balance sheets and represents the expected value of the refund that will be due to our customers.

Equity-Based Compensation

Stock Options

We granted stock option awards to our CEO in April 2021 in accordance with terms of an Employment Agreement. We account for
the related equity-based compensation expense by calculating the estimated fair value of each award at the grant date or modification
date by applying the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The model utilizes the estimated per share fair value of our underlying
common stock at the measurement date, the expected or contractual term of the option, the expected stock price volatility, risk-free
interest rates, and the expected dividend yield of the common stock. Equity-based compensation expense is recognized on a straight-line
basis over the period the executive is required to provide service in exchange for the award, which is generally the vesting period.

We base estimates of expected volatility on the historical volatility of comparable companies from a representative peer group
selected based on industry, financial, and market capitalization data and recognizes forfeitures as they occur.

Determining the grant date fair value of options using the Black-Scholes option pricing model requires us to make assumptions and
judgments. These estimates involve inherent uncertainties and, if different assumptions had been used, stock-based compensation
expense could have been materially different from the amounts recorded.

Series B and Series B-1 Redeemable Preferred Stock

During June 2020, we issued and sold 7,500,001 shares of Series B Redeemable Preferred Stock (“Series B Preferred Stock”) at
$1.00 per share to the general partner and a limited partner of LP and the holders of Series A Preferred Stock and during March 2021, we
issued and sold 1,450,000 shares of Series B-1 Preferred Stock at $1.00 per share to current executives of the Company.

We elected to record our Series B Preferred Stock and Series B-1 Preferred Stock at the greater of its redemption value or the

issuance date fair value, net of issuance costs, as it is probable of becoming redeemable due to the passage of time. For accounting
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purposes, we determined the fair value of the Series B Preferred Stock and Series B-1 Preferred Stock to be $2.21 per share and $2.02
per share, respectively at issuance. The excess of fair value over the consideration paid was recorded as equity-based compensation for
shares purchased by entities related to current employees, board members, and service providers and as a deemed dividend for shares
purchased by existing holders of Series A Preferred Stock.

The fair value of the Series B Preferred Stock and Series B-1 Preferred Stock was estimated using a two-step process. First, our
enterprise value was established using generally accepted valuation methodologies, including discounted cash flow analysis and
comparable public company analysis. These methods consider operating and financial performance including estimating future cash
flows and discounting those cash flows at an appropriate rate, the lack of liquidity of capital stock and general and industry specific
economic outlook, among other factors. Second, our enterprise value was allocated among the various classes of outstanding securities
using the Black-Scholes option-pricing method. The option-pricing method treats all levels of the capital structure as call options on the
enterprise’s value, with the exercise price based on the “breakpoints” between each of the different claims on the securities. The inputs
necessary for the Series B Preferred Stock and Series B-1 Preferred Stock option-pricing model include our then-current enterprise value,
breakpoints (the various characteristics for each class of equity, including liquidation preferences and priority distributions), time to
liquidity (depending on the scenario), risk-free rate, and volatility. Certain of such assumptions involve inherent uncertainties and the
application of significant judgment. As a result, if factors or expected outcomes change and we use significantly different assumptions or
estimates, equity-based compensation could be materially different. We redeemed all of our Series B and B-1 Preferred Stock upon our
IPO on November 15, 2021.

Class P Units

Prior to the dissolution of the LP and our IPO on November 15, 2021, we recorded equity-based compensation related to equity
awards (consisting of Class P units) granted through our majority owner, LP. The LP’s Class P units were available to be issued as
incentive compensation to employees, officers, directors, and other nonemployee service providers or consultants of the Company.

Through June 2020, we concluded that LP’s Class P units were not a substantive class of equity and any associated pre-vesting
distributions allocated to LP’s Class P units were recorded as equity-based compensation once the contingent payment becomes probable
of payment, which is upon vesting of the Class P units.

During June and July 2020, certain Class P units were modified to update forfeiture terms related to employment requirements and
vesting conditions were added to some of the Class P units. Due to the modifications to the employment requirements, we concluded that
the Class P units are a substantive class of equity to be accounted for under FASB ASC Topic No. 718, Compensation—Stock
Compensation (“ASC 718”).

Equity-based compensation is measured at the grant date or modification date for all equity-based awards made to employees and
nonemployees based on the fair value of the awards. Awards with only service conditions are recognized as expense on a straight-line
basis over the requisite service period, which is generally four years.

Certain of the outstanding Class P units which were modified in fiscal year 2020 vest upon the satisfaction of both a service
condition and a performance condition. The service-based vesting condition for these Class P units is satisfied by the end of 2022. When
the performance-based vesting condition becomes probable, which is upon the completion of a qualifying distribution event, the
Company will immediately record cumulative stock-based compensation expense using the accelerated attribution method for the awards
that have met the service-based vesting condition. Upon our IPO on November 15, 2022, we recognized stock-based compensation
expense for the performance-based Class P units as a qualifying distribution event.

The fair value of the Class P units at the modification dates during fiscal year 2020 was estimated using a two-step process. First,
our enterprise value was established using generally accepted valuation methodologies, including discounted cash flow analysis and
comparable public company analysis. These methods consider operating and financial performance including estimating future cash
flows and discounting those cash flows at an appropriate rate, the lack of liquidity of capital stock and general and industry specific
economic outlook, among other factors. The fair value of LP is determined based on the fair value of our common stock. Second, LP’s
enterprise value was allocated among the various classes of units that comprise the capital structure of LP using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing method. The option-pricing method treats all levels of the capital structure as call options on the enterprise’s value, with
the exercise price based on the “breakpoints” between each of the different claims on the securities. The inputs necessary for the option-
pricing model include LP’s current enterprise value, breakpoints (the various characteristics for each class of equity, including liquidation
preferences and priority distributions, in accordance with the limited partnership agreement and the Class P units), term, risk-free rate,
and volatility.
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See Note 9, Equity-Based Compensation, of the accompanying notes to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K for more information concerning certain of the specific assumptions and methodologies we used to
determine the estimated fair value of our stock options and Class P units and see Note 7, Preferred Stock, of the accompanying notes to
our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for more information concerning certain
of the specific assumptions and methodologies we used to determine the estimated fair value of our Series B Preferred Stock and Series
B-1 Preferred Stock. Certain of such assumptions involve inherent uncertainties and the application of significant judgment. As a result,
if factors or expected outcomes change and we use significantly different assumptions or estimates, equity-based compensation could be
materially different.

Income Taxes

We compute our provision for income taxes using the asset and liability method, under which deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognized for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and
liabilities and for operating losses and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the currently
enacted tax rates that apply to taxable income in effect for the years in which they are expected to be realized or settled.

Deferred tax assets are evaluated for future realization and reduced by a valuation allowance to the amount that is more likely than
not to be realized. We consider many factors when assessing the likelihood of future realization, including our recent cumulative loss,
earnings expectations in earlier future years, and other relevant factors. We believe that it is more likely than not that forecasted income,
together with future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences and results of recent operations, will be sufficient to fully recover
the deferred tax assets. In the event that the Company determines all or part of the net deferred tax assets are not realizable in the future,
the Company would record a valuation allowance.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 2, Significant Accounting Policies—Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements, of the accompanying notes to our
consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for more information about recent accounting
pronouncements, the timing of their adoption, and our assessment, to the extent we have made one, of their potential impact on our
financial position and our results of operations.

JOBS Act Accounting Election

We are an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the JOBS Act. Under the JOBS Act, emerging growth companies can delay
adopting new or revised accounting standards until such time as those standards apply to private companies. We have elected to use this
extended transition period until we are no longer an emerging growth company or until we affirmatively and irrevocably opt out of the
extended transition period. Accordingly, our consolidated financial statements and our unaudited interim consolidated financial
statements may not be comparable to companies that comply with new or revised accounting pronouncements as of public company
effective dates.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

Our operations are solely based within the United States and the majority of our sales are within the United States. We are exposed
to market risks in the ordinary course of our business, including the effects of foreign currency fluctuations, interest rate changes and
inflation. Information relating to quantitative and qualitative disclosures about these market risks is set forth below.

Interest Rate Sensitivity

Cash and cash equivalents are held primarily in money market funds and cash deposits. The fair value of our cash and cash
equivalents would not be significantly affected by either an increase or decrease in interest rates due mainly to the short-term nature of
these instruments. Interest on any borrowings incurred pursuant to our New Revolving Facility accrue at a floating rate based on a
formula tied to certain market rates at the time of incurrence; however, we do not expect that any change in prevailing interest rates will
have a material impact on our results of operations.
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Foreign Currency Risk

All of our sales and operating expenses are denominated in U.S. dollars, and therefore, our net revenue are not currently subject to
foreign currency risk.

Inflation
We do not believe that inflation has had a material effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations. We continue to
monitor the impact of inflation in order to minimize its effects through pricing strategies, productivity improvements and cost reductions.

If our costs were to become subject to significant inflationary pressures, we may not be able to fully offset such higher costs through
price increases. Our inability or failure to do so could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the stockholders and the Board of Directors of Lulu’s Fashion Lounge Holdings, Inc.
Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Lulu’s Fashion Lounge Holdings, Inc. and subsidiaries (the
"Company") as of January 2, 2022 and January 3, 2021, the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income
(loss), redeemable preferred stock, convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows, for each of the three
years in the period ended January 2, 2022, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the "financial statements"). In our opinion, the
financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of January 2, 2022 and January 3,
2021, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended January 2, 2022, in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Company's financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S.
federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The
Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our
audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error
or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

San Francisco, California
March 31, 2022

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2017.
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LULU’S FASHION LOUNGE HOLDINGS, INC.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
Inventory, net
Asset for recovery
Income tax refund receivable
Prepaids and other current assets
Total current assets
Restricted cash
Property and equipment, net
Goodwill
Tradename
Intangible assets, net
Other noncurrent assets
Total assets

Liabilities, Redeemable Preferred Stock, Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders' Equity (Deficit)
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities
Returns reserve
Stored-value card liability
Revolving line of credit
Long-term debt, current portion
Total current liabilities
Revolving line of credit
Long-term debt, net of current portion
Other noncurrent liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 6)

Redeemable preferred stock: $0.001 par value, 7,500,001 shares authorized, 7,500,001 shares issued and outstanding
and aggregate liquidation preference of $15,000 as of January 3, 2021, no shares authorized, issued or outstanding as of
January 2, 2022
Convertible preferred stock: $0.001 par value, 3,129,635 shares authorized, 3,129,634 shares issued and outstanding and
aggregate liquidation preference of $240,000 as of January 3, 2021, no shares authorized, issued or outstanding as of
January 2, 2022
Stockholders' equity (deficit):

Preferred stock: $0.001 par value, 10,000,000 and no shares authorized as of January 2, 2022 and January 3, 2021,

respectively; no shares issued or outstanding as of January 2, 2022 and January 3, 2021

Common stock: $0.001 par value, 250,000,000 and 21,196,740 shares authorized and 38,421,124 and 17,462,283

shares issued and outstanding as of January 2, 2022 and January 3, 2021, respectively

Additional paid-in capital

Accumulated deficit

Total stockholders' equity (deficit)

Total liabilities, redeemable preferred stock, convertible preferred stock and stockholders' equity (deficit)

January 2, January 3,
2022 2021

11,402 15,554
5,649 3,832
22,176 16,895
3,754 1,104
748 2,739
5,364 2,675
49,093 42,799
506 505
3,231 3,090
35,430 35,430
18,509 18,509
2,244 2,290
4,763 2,453
113,776 105,076
4,227 7,161
21,948 7,533
9,731 2,895
7,240 4,973
— 8,580
— 10,125
43,146 41,267
25,000 —
— 96,856
1,108 2,504
69,254 140,627
— 16,412
— 117,038
38 18
222,080 10,622
(177,596) (179,641)
44,522 (169,001)
113,776 105,076

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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LULU’S FASHION LOUNGE HOLDINGS, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss)
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Net revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross profit
Selling and marketing expenses
General and administrative expenses
Income (loss) from operations
Other income (expense), net:
Interest expense
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Other income, net
Total other expense, net
Income (loss) before (provision) benefit for income taxes
Income tax (provision) benefit
Net income (loss) and comprehensive income (loss)
Deemed dividend to preferred stockholders
Stock dividend issued to LP
Deemed contribution from redemption of redeemable preferred stock
Net loss attributable to common stockholders
Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders — Basic

Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders — Diluted

Weighted average shares used to compute net loss per share attributable to
common stockholders — Basic

Weighted average shares used to compute net loss per share attributable to
common stockholders — Diluted

Year Ended
January 2, January 3, December 29,
2022 2021 2019
375,625 $ 248,656 369,622
198,893 138,364 208,418
176,732 110,292 161,204
66,684 47,812 72,875
87,710 67,155 73,386
22,338 (4,675) 14,943
(12,774) (16,037) (15,206)
(1,392) — —
85 137 239
(14,081) (15,900) (14,967)
8,257 (20,575) (24)
(6,212) 1,271 (445)
2,045 (19,304) (469)
(122,962) (504) —
(3,451) — —
1,420 — —
(122,948) $ (19,808) (469)
(6.08) $ (1.13) (0.03)
(6.08) $ (1.13) (0.03)
20,229,675 17,462,283 17,462,283
20,229,675 17,462,283 17,462,283

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Redeemable Preferred Stock, Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’

Balance as of December 30, 2018
Equity-based compensation
Net loss and comprehensive loss

Balance as of December 29, 2019
Series B redeemable preferred stock
issuance, net of issuance costs of $163
Equity-based compensation
Net loss and comprehensive loss

Balance as of January 3, 2021
Series B-1 redeemable preferred stock
issuance, net of issuance costs of $23
Issuance of common stock upon initial
public offering (IPO), net of underwriting
discounts and commissions and issuance
costs of $10,016
Deemed dividend to convertible preferred
stockholders upon the IPO
Conversion of convertible preferred stock
to common stock upon the IPO
Redemption of redeemable preferred stock
upon the [PO
Stock dividend for issuance of common
stock to LP upon the [PO
Reclassification of liability-classified CEO
award to equity-classified award
Forfeiture of unvested restricted stock
Equity-based compensation
Net income and comprehensive income

Balance as of January 2, 2022

LULU’S FASHION LOUNGE HOLDINGS, INC.

Equity (Deficit)
(in thousands, except share amounts)

For the Year Ended January 2, 2022

Additional Total
Red ble Preferred Stock Convertible Preferred Stock C Stock Paid-In Acc lated Stockholders' Equity
Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Deficit (Deficit)

— — 3,129,634 $ 117,038 17,462,283 § 18 — $ (159.868) $ (159,850)

— — — — — — 2,040 — 2,040

— — — — — — — (469) (469)

— — 3,129,634 117,038 17,462,283 18 2,040 (160,337) (158,279)
7,500,001 16,412 — — — — (504) — (504)
— — — — — — 9,086 — 9,086

— — — — — — — (19,304) (19,304)
7,500,001 16,412 3,129,634 117,038 | 17,462,283 18 10,622 (179,641) (169,001)
1,450,000 2,908 — — — — — — —
— — — — 5,750,000 5 81,983 — 81,988

— — — 122,962 — — (122,962) — (122,962)

— —  (3,129,634) (240,000) | 15,000,000 15 239,985 — 240,000
(8,950,001) (19,320) — — — — 1,420 — 1,420
— — — — 215,702 — — — —

_ _ _ — — — 2,887 — 2,887

— — — — (6,861) — — — —

— — — — - — 8,145 — 8,145

— — — — — — — 2,045 2,045

— 3 = —  § — | 38421,124 $ 38 $ 222,080 $ (177,596) $ 44,522

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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LULU’S FASHION LOUNGE HOLDINGS, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

Year ended
January 2, January 3, December 29,
2022 2021 2019
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net income (loss) $ 2,045 $ (19,304) $ (469)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 2,828 3,216 3,041
Loss on debt extinguishment 1,392 — —
Amortization of debt discount and debt issuance costs 2,283 2,485 2,045
Interest expense capitalized to principal of long-term debt and revolving line of credit 2,074 1,747 —
Payment of interest capitalized to principal of long-term debt and revolving line of credit (3,821) — —
Equity-based compensation expense 10,338 9,086 2,040
Equity-based compensation expense related to redeemable preferred stock issuance 1,481 8,571 —
Equity-based compensation expense related to CEO special compensation awards 3,326 — —
Write-off of deferred offering costs — 1,950 —
Deferred income taxes (1,663) (14) (1,620)
Loss (gain) on disposal of property and equipment 9 (25) —
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (1,816) 123 (1,673)
Inventories (5,281) 9,242 (1,822)
Assets for recovery (2,650) 2,147 (369)
Income tax (receivable) payable 2,094 (302) 483
Prepaid and other current assets (2,721) 339 (833)
Accounts payable (2,895) (3,702) 5,264
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 21,263 (9,346) 3,118
Other noncurrent liabilities (1,390) (1,357) 2,669
Net cash provided by operating activities 26,896 4,856 11,874
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Capitalized software development costs (1,522) (1,273) (1,830)
Purchases of property and equipment (1,447) (700) (2,212)
Other (425) 60 —
Advance to Parent — — (2,406)
Repayments of advance to Parent — — 2,406
Net cash used in investing activities (3,394) (1,913) (4,042)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Proceeds from borrowings on revolving line of credit 25,000 5,300 9,000
Repayments on revolving line of credit (8,580) (800) (5,000)
Repayment of long-term debt (109,608) (2,531) (12,656)
Payment of debt issuance costs (514) (437) (875)
Issuance of common stock upon IPO, net of underwriting discounts and commissions and
issuance costs 82,546 — —
Proceeds from the issuance of redeemable preferred stock, net of issuance costs 1,427 7,337 —
Redemption of redeemable preferred stock (17,900) — —
Payment of deferred offering costs — — (2,156)
Advance from LP — 37 2,003
Repayment of advance from LP — (2,040) —
Other (24) (111) 37)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (27,653) 6,755 (9,721)
Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash (4,151) 9,698 (1,889)
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year 16,059 6,361 8,250
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of year $ 11,908 $ 16,059 $ 6,361

(Continued)
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LULU’S FASHION LOUNGE HOLDINGS, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

Supplemental Disclosure
Cash paid for income taxes, net of income tax refunds
Cash paid for interest

Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Investing and Financing Activities

Purchases of property and equipment included in accounts payable and accrued expenses
Debt issuance costs included in accrued expenses

Deemed dividend to preferred stockholders

Paid-in-kind interest added to principal balance of long-term debt and revolving line of credit
Offering costs included in accrued expenses

Deemed contribution from redemption of redeemable preferred stock

Conversion of convertible preferred stock to common stock upon the IPO

Reclassification of CEO special compensation award from a liability award to an equity award

Year ended
January 2, January 3, December 29,
2022 2021 2019

$ 6,112 §$ 171 $ 1,383
$ 8,555 $ 12,732 $ 13,068
$ 5 $ 9 $ 202
$ —  $ 917 $ —
$  (122,962) $ 504§ —
$ 2,074 $ 1,747  $ -
$ 542 $ — % —
$ 1,420 $ — 3 —
$ 240,000 $ — 3 —
$ 2,887 $ — 3 =
(Concluded)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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LULU’S FASHION LOUNGE HOLDINGS, INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Description of Business, Organization and Liquidity
Organization and Business

Pursuant to a reorganization, Lulu’s Fashion Lounge Holdings, Inc., a Delaware Corporation (“Lulus”, or the
“Company”), was formed on August 25, 2017 as a holding company and its primary asset is an indirect membership
interest in Lulu’s Fashion Lounge, LLC (“LFL”). Prior to the Company’s initial public offering, the Company was
majority-owned by Lulu’s Holdings, L.P. (the “LP”). In connection with the Company’s initial public offering, the LP was
liquidated.

LFL was founded in 1996, starting as a vintage boutique in Chico, CA that began selling online in 2005 and
transitioned to a purely online business in 2008. The LP was formed in 2014 as a holding company and purchased 100% of
LFL’s outstanding common stock in 2014. The Company, through LFL, is an online retailer of women’s clothing, shoes and
accessories based in Chico, CA.

Initial Public Offering

On November 10, 2021, the Company’s registration statement on Form S-1 relating to its initial public offering
(“IPO”) was declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) and the shares of its common stock
began trading on the Nasdaq Global Market on November 11, 2021. The IPO closed on November 15, 2021, pursuant to
which the Company issued and sold 5,750,000 shares of its common stock at a public offering price of $16.00 per share.
On November 15, 2021, the Company received net proceeds of approximately $82.0 million from the IPO, after deducting
underwriting discounts and commissions of approximately $6.1 million and other issuance costs of approximately $3.9
million. Immediately prior to the completion of the IPO, the Company filed an amended and restated certificate of
incorporation, which authorized a total of 250,000,000 shares of common stock at $0.001 par value per share, and
10,000,000 shares of preferred stock, $0.001 par value per share. Immediately prior to the completion of the IPO, all shares
of the Series A Preferred Stock then outstanding were converted into 15,000,000 shares of common stock. Additionally,
215,702 shares of common stock were issued to the LP immediately prior to the completion of the IPO. All shares of the
Series B Preferred Stock and the Series B-1 Preferred Stock were redeemed and extinguished for a total payment of
approximately $17.9 million on November 15, 2021.

Impact of COVID-19

The COVID-19 pandemic has had a significant impact on the broader economy and consumer behavior. As a result of
these developments, the Company experienced an unfavorable impact on its revenue, results of operations and cash flows
in 2020.

The Company may face longer term impacts from COVID-19 due to, among other factors, evolving federal, state and
local restrictions and shelter-in-place orders, changes in consumer behavior and health concerns which may impact
customer demand, as well as labor shortages, supply chain disruptions and higher shipping costs. The current events and
economic conditions are significant in relation to the Company’s ability to fund its business operations. In response to the
impact of COVID-19 primarily in 2020, the Company implemented a number of measures to minimize cash outlays,
including reducing discretionary marketing and other expenses.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation and Fiscal Year

The Company’s fiscal year consists of a 52-week or 53-week period ending on the Sunday nearest December 31. The
fiscal year ended January 2, 2022 (“2021”) consisted of 52 weeks, the fiscal year ended January 3, 2021 (“2020”) consisted
of 53 weeks, and the fiscal year ended December 29, 2019 (“2019”) consisted of 52 weeks.

The consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes include the accounts of the Company and its wholly
owned subsidiaries, after elimination of all intercompany balances and transactions. The accompanying consolidated
financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the Unites States of
America (“GAAP”) and the requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the
reporting period. The significant estimates and assumptions made by management relate to sales return reserves and related
assets for recovery, valuation of redeemable preferred stock, valuation of the LP’s Class P unit equity-based awards,
valuation of stock options, valuation of common stock, and income tax valuation allowance. Management evaluates its
estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis using historical experience and other factors, including the current
economic environment, which management believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. The Company adjusts such
estimates and assumptions when facts and circumstances dictate. Changes in those estimates resulting from continuing
changes in the economic environment will be reflected in the consolidated financial statements in future periods. As future
events and their effects cannot be determined with precision, actual results could materially differ from those estimates and
assumptions.

Segment Reporting

The Company manages its business on the basis of one operating and reportable segment, retail. The Company’s chief
operating decision maker is its chief executive officer (“CEO”). All long-lived assets are located in the United States and
substantially all revenue is attributable to customers based in the United States. International sales are not significant.

Concentration of Credit Risks

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist of cash, cash equivalents
and restricted cash. Such amounts may exceed federally insured limits. The Company reduces credit risk by depositing its
cash with major credit-worthy financial institutions within the United States. To date, the Company has not experienced
any losses on its cash deposits. As of January 2, 2022 and January 3, 2021, a single wholesale customer represented 24%
and 51% respectively, of the Company’s accounts receivable balance. No customer accounted for greater than 10% of the
Company’s net revenue during 2021, 2020 and 2019.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

The Company considers all highly liquid instruments purchased with original maturities of three months or less when
issued as cash equivalents. These consist primarily of time deposit bank accounts and money market accounts. Due to the
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nature of the Company’s cash flow, amounts on deposit in individual banks may exceed the insured amount throughout the
period.

Restricted cash represents deposits with a financial institution to serve as collateral for the Company’s corporate credit
cards.

The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash reported within the
consolidated balance sheets to the amounts shown in the consolidated statements of cash flows (in thousands):

January 2, January 3, December 29,
2022 2021 2019
Cash and cash equivalents $ 11,402 $ 155554 $ 5,857
Restricted cash 506 505 504
Total cash and restricted cash $ 11,908 $ 16,059 $ 6,361

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable consist primarily of receivables from credit card processing agencies and wholesale customers.
Based on historical collections from these agencies, no allowance for doubtful accounts was deemed necessary as of
January 2, 2022 and January 3, 2021.

Inventory

Inventory consists of finished goods, which are recorded at the lower of cost or net realizable value, with cost
determined using the first-in-first-out method. The cost of inventory consists of merchandise costs and inbound freight
costs. Inventory levels are reviewed to identify slow-moving merchandise, and promotions and markdowns are used to
clear merchandise. In the period in which the Company determines estimated selling price, less costs to sell, is below cost,
or identifies excess, obsolete, or unsalable items, the Company writes its inventory down to its net realizable value.

Property and Equipment, net

Property and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives,
which range from 3 to 8 years. Improvements that extend the life of a specific asset are capitalized, while normal
maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred. When assets are sold or otherwise retired, their cost and related
accumulated depreciation are removed from the balance sheet with any resulting gain or loss reflected in general and
administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss).

Goodwill and Tradename

Goodwill is stated at the excess of the acquisition price over the fair value of net assets acquired in a purchase
acquisition and is not amortized. Goodwill arose from the LP’s purchase of 100% of the outstanding common stock of LFL
on July 25, 2014 and the Company has one reporting unit. The Company’s tradename is an indefinite-lived intangible asset
and is not amortized. The Company reviews its goodwill and tradename for impairment at least annually (on the first day
of the fourth quarter) or more frequently whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may be impaired.

When testing goodwill for impairment, the Company first performs an assessment of qualitative factors (“Step O

Test”). The qualitative assessment includes assessing the totality of relevant events and circumstances that affect the fair
value or carrying value of the reporting unit. These events and circumstances include macroeconomic conditions, industry
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and competitive environment conditions, overall financial performance, reporting unit specific events and market
considerations. The Company also considers recent valuations of the reporting unit, including the magnitude of the
difference between the most recent fair value estimate and the carrying value, as well as both positive and adverse events
and circumstances, and the extent to which each of the events and circumstances identified may affect the comparison of a
reporting unit’s fair value with its carrying value. If the qualitative assessment results in a conclusion that it is more likely
than not that the fair value of a reporting unit exceeds the carrying value, then no further testing is performed for that
reporting unit. The Company performed the qualitative assessment of its goodwill and determined that it is more likely
than not that the fair value of its reporting unit exceeds the carrying value of the reporting unit. As a result, there was no
goodwill impairment during 2021, 2020 and 2019. There was no accumulated impairment of goodwill as of January 2,
2022 and January 3, 2021.

When testing the tradename for impairment, the Company first performs an assessment of qualitative factors. If
qualitative factors indicate that it is more likely than not that the fair value of the tradename is less than its carrying
amount, the Company tests the tradename for impairment at the asset level. The Company determines the fair value of the
tradename and compares it to the carrying value. If the carrying value of the tradename exceeds the fair value, the
Company recognizes an impairment loss in an amount equal to the excess. The Company performed the qualitative
assessment of its tradename and determined that it is more likely than not that the fair value of the tradename exceeds the
carrying value of the reporting unit. There were no additions to, disposals of, or impairments of the tradename during 2021,
2020 and 2019, There was no accumulated impairment of the tradename as of January 2, 2022 and January 3, 2021.

Intangible Assets, net

Intangible assets, net consists of capitalized internal-use software development, which is amortized over a 3-
year period. The Company capitalizes certain costs in connection with obtaining or developing software for internal use.
Additionally, the Company capitalizes qualifying costs incurred for upgrades and enhancements that result in additional
functionality to existing software. Amortization of such costs begins when the project is substantially complete and ready
for its intended use. Costs related to design or maintenance are expensed as incurred. Intangible asset amortization expense
was $1.6 million, $1.7 million and $1.6 million during 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the assets. The Company
reviews intangible assets for impairment under the long-lived asset model described below. No impairment of intangible
assets was recorded during the years presented.

Long-Lived Asset Impairment

The Company evaluates long-lived assets for impairment periodically whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that their related carrying amounts may not be recoverable. In evaluating long-lived assets for recoverability, the
Company uses its best estimate of future cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset and eventual disposition.
To the extent that projected undiscounted future net cash flows attributable to the asset are less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognized in an amount equal to the difference between the carrying value of such asset and its
estimated fair value. There was no impairment recorded during the years presented.

Deferred Offering Costs

Deferred offering costs consist of expenses incurred in connection with an equity offering, including legal, accounting,
printing, and other IPO-related costs. Deferred offering costs are written off to operating expenses in the consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) upon the termination or significant delay of a planned equity
offering. During 2020, approximately $2.0 million of deferred offering costs from an offering that was postponed were
written off to general and administrative expenses in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations and
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comprehensive income (loss). There were no deferred offering costs related to the IPO capitalized in the consolidated
balance sheets as of January 2, 2022 and January 3, 2021.

Revenue Recognition

The Company generates revenue primarily from the sale of merchandise products directly to end customers. The sale
of products is a distinct performance obligation, and revenue is recognized at a point in time when control of the promised
product is transferred to customers, which the Company determined occurs upon shipment based on its evaluation of the
related shipping terms. Revenue is recognized in an amount that reflects the transaction price consideration that the
Company expects to receive in exchange for those products. The Company’s payment terms are typically at the time of
order processing and shipment.

The Company elected to exclude from revenue taxes assessed by governmental authorities, including value-added and
other sales-related taxes, that are imposed on and concurrent with revenue-producing activities. The Company has elected
to apply the practical expedient, relative to e-commerce sales, which allows an entity to account for shipping and handling
as fulfillment activities, and not a separate performance obligation. Accordingly, the Company recognizes revenue for only
one performance obligation, the sale of the product, at shipping point (when the customer gains control). Shipping and
handling costs associated with outbound freight are accounted for as fulfillment costs and are included in cost of goods
sold. The Company has elected to apply the practical expedient to expense costs as incurred for incremental costs to obtain
a contract when the amortization period would have been one year or less.

Revenue from merchandise product sales is reported net of sales returns, which includes an estimate of future returns
based on historical return rates, with a corresponding reduction to cost of sales. There is judgment in utilizing historical
trends for estimating future returns. The Company’s refund liability for sales returns is included in the returns reserve on its
consolidated balance sheets and represents the expected value of the refund that will be due to the Company’s customers.
The Company also has a corresponding asset for recovery that represents the expected net realizable value of the
merchandise inventory to be returned.

The Company sells stored-value gift cards to customers and offers merchandise credit stored-value cards for certain
returns. Such stored-value cards do not have an expiration date. The Company recognizes revenue from stored-value cards
when the card is redeemed by the customer. The Company has determined that sufficient evidence exists to support an
estimate for stored-value card breakage. Subject to requirements to remit balances to governmental agencies, breakage is
recognized as revenue in proportion to the pattern of rights exercised by the customer, which is substantially within thirty-
six months from the date of issuance. The amount of breakage recognized in revenue during 2021, 2020 and 2019 was not
material.

The Company has two types of contractual liabilities: (i) cash collections from its customers prior to delivery of
products purchased (“deferred revenue), which are initially recorded within accrued expenses and recognized as revenue
when the products are shipped, (ii) unredeemed gift cards and online store credits, which are initially recorded as a stored-
value card liability and are recognized as revenue in the period they are redeemed.
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The following table summarizes the significant changes in the contract liabilities balances during 2021, 2020 and 2019
(in thousands):

Deferred Stored-Value
Revenue Cards
Balance as of December 30, 2018 $ 652 $ 3,033
Revenue recognized that was included in contract liability balance at the beginning of
the period (652) (1,907)
Increase due to cash received, excluding amounts recognized as revenue during the
period 547 3,479
Balance as of December 29, 2019 547 4,605
Revenue recognized that was included in contract liability balance at the beginning of
the period (547) (2,094)
Increase due to cash received, excluding amounts recognized as revenue during the
period 792 2,462
Balance as of January 3, 2021 792 4,973
Revenue recognized that was included in contract liability balance at the beginning of
the period (792) (1,471)
Increase due to cash received, excluding amounts recognized as revenue during the
period 145 3,738
Balance as of January 2, 2022 $ 145 § 7,240
Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue consists of the product costs of merchandise sold to customers; shipping and handling costs including all
inbound, outbound, and return shipping expenses; rent, insurance, business property tax, utilities, depreciation and
amortization, and repairs and maintenance related to the Company’s distribution facilities; and charges related to inventory
shrinkage, damages and the allowance for excess or obsolete inventory.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of payroll and benefits costs, including equity-based
compensation for the Company’s employees involved in general corporate functions including finance, merchandising,
marketing, and technology, as well as costs associated with the use by these functions of facilities and equipment, including
depreciation and amortization, rent and other occupancy expenses.

Selling and Marketing Expenses

Selling and marketing expenses consist primarily of customer service, payment processing fees, advertising, targeted
online performance marketing and search engine optimization costs. Selling and marketing expenses also include spend on
brand marketing channels, including cash and free clothing compensation to influencers, events and other forms of online
and offline marketing related to growing and retaining the customer base. Advertising costs included in selling and
marketing expenses were $53.6 million, $38.1 million and $60.5 million in 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
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Equity-Based Compensation
Stock Options

The Company grants stock-based awards to certain employees, officers, directors, and other nonemployee service
providers. The Company accounts for equity-based compensation expense by calculating the estimated fair value of each
award at the grant date or modification date. The fair value of grants of restricted stock is based on the fair value of the
common stock underlying the award on the grant date. For stock option awards, the Company applies the Black-Scholes
option pricing model to determine the fair value. The model utilizes the estimated per share fair value of the Company’s
underlying common stock at the grant date, the expected or contractual term of the option, the expected stock price
volatility, risk-free interest rates, and the expected dividend yield of the common stock. Equity-based compensation
expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the period the employee or non-employee is required to provide service
in exchange for the award, which is generally the vesting period. The Company classifies equity-based compensation
expense as general and administrative expense in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive
income (loss).

The Company bases its estimate of expected volatility on the historical volatility of comparable companies from a
representative peer group selected based on industry, financial, and market capitalization data. The risk-free interest rate for
the expected term of the option is based on the U.S. Treasury implied yield at the date of grant. The Company has elected
to use the “simplified method” to determine the expected term which is the midpoint between the vesting date and the end
of the contractual term because it has insufficient history upon which to base an assumption about the term; the Company
believes the simplified method approximates a term if it were to be based on expected life. The expected dividend yield is
0.0% as the Company has not paid and does not anticipate paying dividends on its common stock. The Company
recognizes forfeitures as they occur.

Determining the grant date fair value of options using the Black-Scholes option pricing model requires management to
make assumptions and judgments. These estimates involve inherent uncertainties and, if different assumptions had been
used, stock-based compensation expense could have been materially different from the amounts recorded.

Class P units

Certain of the Company’s employees participated in an equity incentive program (consisting of Class P units) offered
by the LP. The LP’s Class P units were available to be issued as incentive compensation to employees, officers, directors,
and other nonemployee service providers or consultants of the Company. Through mid-2020, the Company had concluded
that the LP’s Class P units were not a substantive class of equity and any associated pre-vesting distributions allocated to
the LP’s Class P units have been recorded as equity-based compensation under Financial Accounting Standards Board
(“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic No. 710, Compensation — General (“ASC 710”), once the
contingent payment becomes probable of payment, which is upon vesting of the Class P units. During mid-2020, all
outstanding Class P units were modified to update forfeiture terms related to employment requirements and vesting
conditions were added to some of the Class P units. Due to the modifications to the employment requirements, the
Company concluded that the Class P units are a substantive class of equity to be accounted for under FASB ASC Topic
No. 718, Compensation — Stock Compensation (“ASC 718”) and that the associated pre-vesting distributions related to
outstanding Class P units for five employees are a separate award that are accounted for under ASC 710. With the
completion of the Company’s IPO, the LP was liquidated, and the unvested Class P units were converted into shares of the
Company’s restricted stock with the same underlying terms, and vested Class P units were converted into shares of the
Company’s common stock. Equity-based compensation related to the Class P unit awards, restricted stock and any pre-
vesting distributions are recognized as general and administrative expense in the Company’s consolidated statements of
operations and comprehensive income (loss).
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Equity-based compensation is measured at the grant date or modification date for all equity-based awards made to
employees and nonemployees based on the fair value of the awards. The Company has elected to recognize forfeitures by
reducing the equity-based compensation in the same period as the forfeitures occur. The method for how fair value is
determined for the awards is described in Note 9, Equity-Based Compensation. The assumptions used to determine the fair
value of the Class P units represent management’s best estimates. Awards with only service conditions are recognized as
expense on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period, which is generally four years.

Certain of the outstanding Class P units were modified in 2020 to vest upon the satisfaction of both a service condition
(satisfied over two years) and a performance condition. When the performance-based vesting condition becomes probable,
which is upon the completion of a qualifying distribution event, the Company will immediately record cumulative stock-
based compensation expense using the accelerated attribution method for the awards that have met the service-based
vesting condition. With the completion of the Company’s IPO, the performance condition was met, and the Company
recognized cumulative stock-based compensation expense for the awards that had also met the service-based vesting
condition.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method, under which deferred tax assets and
liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the financial reporting
and tax basis of assets and liabilities and for operating losses and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are measured using the currently enacted tax rates that apply to taxable income in effect for the years in which
they are expected to be realized or settled.

The Company believes that it is more likely than not that forecasted income, together with future reversals of existing
taxable temporary differences and results of recent operations, will be sufficient to fully recover the deferred tax assets. In
the event that the Company determines all or part of the net deferred tax assets are not realizable in the future, the
Company would record a valuation allowance.

The Company recognizes tax benefits from uncertain tax positions only if it is more likely than not that the tax
position will be sustained on examination by the taxing authorities, based on the technical merits of the position. The tax
benefits recognized in the consolidated financial statements from such positions are then measured based on the largest
benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement. The Company recognizes interest
and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits, if any, as income tax expense.

Net Loss Per Share Attributable to Common Stockholders

The Company calculates basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders in conformity with
the two-class method required for participating securities as the application of the if converted method is not more dilutive.
The two-class method requires income available to common stockholders for the period to be allocated between common
stock and participating securities based upon their respective rights to receive dividends as if all income for the period had
been distributed.

The Company considers its redeemable preferred stock and convertible preferred stock to be participating securities. In
accordance with the two-class method, net income (loss) is adjusted for earnings allocated to these participating securities
and the related number of outstanding shares of the participating securities, which include contractual participation rights
in undistributed earnings, have been excluded from the computation of basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to
common stockholders. The redeemable preferred stock and convertible preferred stock contractually entitle the holders of
such shares to participate in dividends but do not contractually require the holders of such shares to participate in the
Company’s losses. As such, where applicable, net losses were not allocated to these securities.
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Basic net loss per share attributable to common stockholders is computed using net loss attributable to common
stockholders divided by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net loss
per share attributable to common stockholders represents net loss attributable to common stockholders divided by the
weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period, including the effects of any dilutive securities
outstanding. Basic and diluted net loss per common share attributable to common stockholders are the same for each period
presented since the inclusion of all potential shares of common stock outstanding would have been anti-dilutive.

The following securities were excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share attributable to common
stockholders for the fiscal years presented because including them would have been anti-dilutive (on an as-converted
basis):

January 2, 2022 January 3, 2021 December 29, 2019

Series A convertible preferred stock — 3,129,634 3,129,634
Stock options 322,793 — —
Unvested restricted stock 381,612 — —
CEO award share settlement 417,828 — —
Total 1,122,233 3,129,634 3,129,634

Redeemable Preferred Stock

The Company has elected to record its redeemable preferred stock at the greater of its redemption value or the issuance
date fair value, net of issuance costs, as it is probable of becoming redeemable due to the passage of time. Any change to
the carrying value of redeemable preferred stock recognized in each period is recorded to additional paid-in capital, or in
the absence of additional paid-in capital, recorded to accumulated deficit.

The issuance date fair value of the redeemable preferred stock shares purchased by entities related to current employees,
board members, and service providers was higher than the consideration paid and such excess was recorded as equity-
based compensation. The excess of the fair value over consideration paid for redeemable preferred stock shares purchased
by an existing convertible preferred stockholder was accounted for as a deemed dividend and recorded in additional paid-in
capital.

Comprehensive Income (loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) is defined as a change in equity of a business enterprise during a period, resulting from
transactions from non-owner sources. To date, the Company has not had any transactions that are required to be reported in
comprehensive income (loss) other than the net income (loss) incurred from operations. Thus, comprehensive income
(loss) is the same as net income (loss) for the periods presented.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

The Company is an emerging growth company, as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 (the
“JOBS Act”). Under the JOBS Act, emerging growth companies can delay adopting new or revised accounting standards
issued subsequent to the enactment of the JOBS Act until such time as those standards apply to private companies. The
Company has elected to use this extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards that
have different effective dates for public and private companies until the earlier of the date that it (i) is no longer an
emerging growth company or (ii) affirmatively and irrevocably opts out of the extended transition period provided in the
JOBS Act. As a result, these consolidated financial statements may not be comparable to companies that comply with the
new or revised accounting pronouncements as of public company effective dates.
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In August 2018, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2018-15, Intangibles — Goodwill and Other -
Internal-use Software: Customer’s Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing Arrangement That
Is a Service Contract, which clarifies the accounting for implementation costs in cloud computing arrangements. The
update effectively aligns the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred in a cloud computing arrangement
service contract with the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred to develop or obtain internal-use
software. ASU 2018-15 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020, including interim periods within
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021. The Company adopted this standard on January 4, 2021 using the
prospective transition method. The adoption of the new standard did not have a material impact on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), as amended, which requires lessees to
recognize a right-of-use asset and lease liability on their consolidated balance sheets for all leases with a term longer than
12 months. The guidance, as amended, is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021, including interim
periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022. Early adoption is permitted. The Company anticipates
implementing the standard by taking advantage of the alternative transition method and will apply the transition approach
as of the beginning of the period of adoption and will not be restating comparative periods. The Company also plans to
apply other practical expedients provided by the standard. The Company has begun an implementation plan, including the
identification of its lease population and the implementation of changes to existing processes that will be required to
implement the new lease standard. The Company is still finalizing its determination of the interest rate and estimates it will
record right-of-use assets and operating lease liabilities between approximately $33.5 million and approximately $37.5
million in the consolidated balance sheet. Adoption of the standard did not have a material impact on its consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) or cash flows.

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of
Credit Losses on Financial Instruments, as amended, which amends guidance on reporting credit losses for assets held at
amortized cost basis and available-for-sale debt securities from an incurred loss methodology to an expected loss
methodology. For assets held at amortized cost basis, the guidance eliminates the probable initial recognition threshold and
instead requires an entity to reflect its current estimate of all expected credit losses. The allowance for credit losses is a
valuation account that is deducted from the amortized cost basis of the assets to present the net amount expected to be
collected. For available-for-sale debt securities, credit losses are recorded through an allowance for credit losses, rather
than a write-down, limited to the amount by which fair value is below amortized cost. Additional disclosures about
significant estimates and credit quality are also required. The guidance is effective for the Company for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2022. The Company is currently assessing the potential impact of adopting ASU 2016-13 on
its consolidated financial statements.

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting for Income
Taxes, which is intended to simplify various aspects related to accounting for income taxes. ASU 2019-12 removes certain
exceptions to the general principles in Topic 740 and also clarifies and amends existing guidance to improve consistent
application. This standard is effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 15, 2021, including interim periods
within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, with early adoption permitted. The Company has evaluated the
impact of adopting this guidance and it is not expected to have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the Effects of
Reference Rate Reform on Financial Accounting, which, as amended, provides optional guidance for a limited period of
time to ease the potential burden in accounting for (or reorganizing the effects of) reference rate reform on financial
reporting. This standard can be adopted immediately, however, the guidance will only be available until December 31,
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2022. The Company is currently evaluating the potential impact of adopting this guidance on its consolidated financial
statements.

3. Fair Value Measurements

The Company discloses and recognizes the fair value of its assets and liabilities using a hierarchy that prioritizes the
inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement
date. The guidance establishes three levels of the fair value hierarchy as follows:

Level 1—Inputs are unadjusted, quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the
measurement date.

Level 2—Inputs are observable, unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities,
unadjusted quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, or other inputs
that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the related
assets or liabilities.

Level 3—Unaobservable inputs that are significant to the measurement of the fair value of the assets or
liabilities that are supported by little or no market data.

The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts payable, accrued
expenses, revolving line of credit and long-term debt. As of January 2, 2022 and January 3, 2021, the carrying values of
cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts payable and accrued expenses and other current liabilities approximate
fair value due to their short-term maturities. The fair value of the Company’s new revolving facility that provides for
borrowings up to $50.0 million (the “New Revolving Facility” — see Note 5, Debt) approximates its carrying value as the
stated interest rates reset daily at the daily secured overnight financing rate (“SOFR”) plus an applicable margin and, as
such, approximate market rates currently available to the Company. The Company does not have any financial instruments
that were determined to be Level 3.

4. Balance Sheet Components
Property and Equipment, net

Property and equipment, net consisted of the following (in thousands):

January 2, January 3,
2022 2021

Leasehold improvements $ 3502 $ 3,647

Equipment 3,278 2,595

Furniture and fixtures 2,123 1,849

Construction in progress 107 28

Total property and equipment 9,010 8,119
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (5,779) (5,029)

Property and equipment, net $ 3231 $ 3,090

Depreciation of property and equipment was $1.3 million, $1.5 million and $1.4 million for 2021, 2020 and 2019,
respectively.
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Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consisted of the following (in thousands):

January 2, January 3,
2022 2021

Accrued compensation and benefits $ 8136 $ 2,932
Accrued pre-vesting distributions payable to former Class P unit holders 2,648 —
Accrued debt amendment fees — 917
Accrued marketing 3,621 495
Accrued inventory 2,928 90
Other 4,615 3,099
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities $ 21,948 $ 7,533

The Company reclassified accrued interest to other and reclassified accrued inventory from other as of January 3, 2021
to conform to the current period presentation.

5. Debt
New Revolving Facility

During November 2021, the Company entered into a Credit Agreement with Bank of America (the “Credit
Agreement”) to provide the New Revolving Facility that provides for borrowings up to $50.0 million. During the term of
the Credit Agreement, the Company can increase the aggregate amount of the New Revolving Facility up to an additional
$25.0 million (for maximum aggregate lender commitments of up to $75.0 million), subject to the satisfaction of certain
conditions under the Credit Agreement, including obtaining the consent of the administrative agent and an increased
commitment from existing or new lenders. In addition, the Credit Agreement may be used to issue letters of credit up to
$7.5 million. As of January 2, 2022, the Company had drawn $25.0 million under the New Revolving Facility and utilized
$0.25 million under the letter of credit (the “Letter of Credit”).

The New Revolving Facility matures on November 15, 2024, while the Letter of Credit matures on November 8, 2024.
As of January 2, 2022, the Company had $25 million outstanding and $25 million available for borrowing under the New
Revolving Facility and $7.25 million available to issue letters of credit.

All borrowings under the Credit Agreement accrue interest at a rate equal to, at the Company’s option, either (x) the
term daily SOFR, plus the applicable SOFR adjustment plus a margin of 1.75% per annum or (y) the base rate plus a
margin of 0.75% (with the base rate being the highest of the federal funds rate plus 0.50%, the prime rate and term SOFR
for a period of one month plus 1.00%). Additionally, a commitment fee of 37.5 basis points will be assessed on unused
commitments under the New Revolving Facility, taking into account the sum of outstanding borrowings and letter of credit
obligations. As of January 2, 2022, the interest rate for the New Revolving Facility was 1.92% and during 2021, the
effective interest rate for the New Revolving Facility was 2.5%.

Amounts borrowed under the Credit Agreement are collateralized by all assets of the Company and contains various
financial and non-financial covenants for reporting, protecting and obtaining adequate insurance coverage for assets
collateralized and for coverage of business operations, and complying with requirements, including the payment of all
necessary taxes and fees for all federal, state and local government entities. Immediately upon the occurrence and during
the continuance of an event of default, including the noncompliance with the above covenants, the lender may increase the
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interest rate per annum by 2.0% above the rate that would be otherwise applicable. As of January 2, 2022, management has
determined that the Company was in compliance with all financial covenants.

Term Loan

In August 2017, the Company entered into a term loan with a principal amount of $135.0 million (the “Term Loan”)
and a revolving credit facility of $10.0 million (the “Revolving Facility”) with certain financial institutions for which
Credit Suisse acted as an administrative agent (the “Credit Facility”).

During June 2020, the Company entered into a waiver and fifth amendment to the Credit Facility (“Fifth
Amendment”). For the Fifth Amendment, the Company incurred an amendment fee and other costs totaling $1.4 million
that were treated as a debt issuance cost and will be amortized over the remaining term. There was no gain or loss arising
from the Fifth Amendment as it was considered to be a debt modification. As of January 3, 2021, $0.9 million of the
amendment fee was unpaid and included within accrued expenses and other current liabilities.

During April 2021, the Company entered into the sixth amendment to the Credit Facility (“Sixth Amendment”),
which: 1) Amended the minimum liquidity covenant from $2.5 million to $10.0 million, 2) Extended the due date for the
2020 audited consolidated financial statements to September 30, 2021, and 3) Upon receipt of proceeds from an IPO,
Special Purpose Acquisition Company transaction, or other liquidity transaction that involves the equity of Lulu’s or its
affiliates, the Company is required to pay off the outstanding obligations under the Credit Facility before any proceeds are
utilized by the Company. There was no gain or loss arising from the Sixth Amendment as it was considered to be a debt
modification.

During November 2021, the Company utilized the proceeds from the IPO and the New Revolving Facility to repay the
$105.8 million of outstanding principal and $1.4 million of accrued interest related to the Term Loan. The Credit Facility
was terminated on November 15, 2021 and no prepayment penalties were incurred. With the repayment of the Credit
Facility, the Company recognized a loss on debt extinguishment of $1.4 million, comprised of the write-off of $2.3 million
in unamortized debt issuance costs and debt discounts, net of forgiveness of accrued debt amendment fees of $0.9 million
in accordance with the Fifth Amendment.

The effective interest rate on the Term Loan was 15.3%, 13.3% and 12.2% for 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
Revolving Facility

Outstanding amounts under the Revolving Facility bore interest at variable rates with a minimum of 7.00%. The
Revolving Facility was amended with the Fifth Amendment, but there was no change to the commitment or the maturity
date. As of January 3, 2021, there was $8.6 million outstanding under the Revolving Facility, which was repaid in March
2021. The Revolving Facility was terminated on November 15, 2021. The effective interest rate for the Revolving Facility
was 11.6%, 10.4% and 10.3% for 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Debt Discounts and Issuance Costs

Debt discounts and issuance costs are deferred and amortized over the life of the related loan using the effective
interest method. The associated expense is included in interest expense in the consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive loss. Debt discounts and issuance costs are presented as a reduction of long-term debt with the exception of
debt issuance costs related to the New Revolving Facility and the Revolving Facility, which are included in other non-
current assets in the consolidated balance sheets. As of January 2, 2022 and January 3, 2021, unamortized debt issuance
costs recorded within other non-current assets were $0.4 million and $0.1 million, respectively.
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The Company’s outstanding debt under the Term Loan consisted of the following (in thousands):

January 2, January 3,
2022 2021
Principal amount of Term Loan $ — $ 111,354
Less: Unamortized discount and debt issuance costs — (4,373)
Total carrying value of long-term debt — 106,981
Less: Current portion of long-term debt — (10,125)
Long-term debt, net of current portion $ — 96,856

Future minimum payments of principal on the Company’s outstanding debt were as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Year Ending Amounts
2022 $ —
2023 —
2024 25,000
Total principal amount $ 25,000
6. Commitments and Contingencies

Operating Leases

As of January 2, 2022, the Company had non-cancelable operating leases for its corporate offices and distribution
facilities at various dates through 2029, some of which have renewal provisions. Rental expense classified within general
and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss totaled $3.3 million, $3.1
million and $3.0 million in 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

On September 24, 2021, the Company entered into a new lease agreement for a master fulfillment system for lease
payments of approximately $0.9 million per year or $3.7 million over the lease term (such amounts are not included in the
future minimum lease payments schedule below). The lease will commence in early 2022 with a lease term of four years.

On September 3, 2021, the Company entered into a new lease agreement for a new distribution facility for
approximately $0.2 million per month or $15.7 million over the lease term. The lease commenced on December 1, 2021
with a lease term of 7.2 years and there is a security deposit of $0.4 million, included in other noncurrent assets on the
consolidated balance sheets as of January 2, 2022.

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating leases as of January 2, 2022 were as follows (in
thousands):

Fiscal Year ending: Amounts
2022 $ 4899
2023 4,263
2024 3,879
2025 4,017
2026 2,427
Thereafter 5,037
Total $ 24,522
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Litigation and Other

From time to time, the Company may be a party to litigation and subject to claims incurred in the ordinary course of
business, including personal injury and indemnification claims, labor and employment claims, threatened claims, breach of
contract claims, and other matters. The Company accrues a liability when management believes information available prior
to the issuance of the consolidated financial statements indicates it is probable a loss has been incurred as of the date of the
consolidated financial statements and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. The Company adjusts its accruals to
reflect the impact of negotiations, settlements, rulings, advice of legal counsel, and other information and events pertaining
to a particular case. Legal costs are expensed as incurred. Although the results of litigation and claims are inherently
unpredictable, management concluded that it was not probable that it had incurred a material loss during the periods
presented related to such loss contingencies. Therefore, the Company has not recorded a reserve for any contingencies.

During the normal course of business, the Company may be a party to claims that are not covered by insurance. While
the ultimate liability, if any, arising from these claims cannot be predicted with certainty, management does not believe that
the resolution of any such claims would have a material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
As of January 2, 2022 and January 3, 2021, the Company was not aware of any currently pending legal matters or claims,
individually or in the aggregate, that are expected to have a material adverse impact on its consolidated financial
statements.

Indemnification

The Company also maintains director and officer insurance, which may cover certain liabilities arising from its
obligation to indemnify the Company’s directors. To date, the Company has not incurred any material costs and has not
accrued any liabilities in the consolidated financial statements as a result of these provisions.
7. Preferred Stock

Pursuant to the Company’s amended and restated certificate of incorporation, the Company is authorized to issue
10,000,000 shares of preferred stock having a par value of $0.001 per share. The Company’s board of directors has the
authority to issue preferred stock and to determine the rights, preferences, privileges, and restrictions, including voting
rights, of those shares. As of January 2, 2022, no shares of preferred stock were issued and outstanding.

The Company had outstanding redeemable preferred stock and convertible preferred stock (collectively, the “Preferred

Stock™) on January 3, 2021 as follows (in thousands, except share and per share amounts):

January 3, 2021

Shares Issuance Net
Shares Issued and Price Per Carrying Liquidation
Authorized Outstanding Share Value Preference
Convertible Preferred Stock (Series A) 3,129,635 3,129,634 $ 38.34 $ 117,038 $ 240,000
Redeemable Preferred Stock (Series B and B-1) 7,500,001 7,500,001 1.00 16,412 15,000
Total 10,629,636 10,629,635 $ 133,450 $ 255,000

In connection with the Company’s IPO, all convertible preferred stock has been converted to the Company’s common
stock. The Company’s convertible preferred stock contained a down round provision that if preferred stock or common
stock without consideration or for a consideration per share less than the conversion price for the Series A Preferred Stock
of $38.34 per share was issued, then the Series A preferred stock conversion price would be automatically adjusted. As a
result of issuing common stock at $16.00 per share in connection with the IPO, the down round feature within the
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convertible preferred stock was triggered and resulted in the Company issuing additional common stock of 11,870,366
shares. The Company recorded a deemed dividend of $123.0 million in additional paid-in capital related to the conversion
of the convertible preferred stock that represented the difference between the liquidation amount of $240.0 million and the
carrying value of $117.0 million. In connection with the Company’s IPO, all redeemable preferred stock was redeemed for
$17.9 million and extinguished. The difference between the liquidation amount of $17.9 million and the carrying value of
$19.3 million was recorded as a deemed contribution of $1.4 million in additional paid-in capital.

Series B and Series B-1 Redeemable Preferred Stock Issuance

During June 2020, the Company issued and sold 7,500,001 shares of Series B Preferred Stock at $1.00 per share to the
general partner and a limited partner of the LP and the Series A preferred stockholders. The Company received gross cash
proceeds of $7.5 million and incurred issuance costs associated with the Series B Preferred Stock issuance of $0.2 million.
The Company has elected to record its redeemable preferred stock at the greater of its redemption value or the issuance
date fair value, net of issuance costs, as it is probable of becoming redeemable due to the passage of time. For accounting
purposes, the Company determined the fair value of the Series B Preferred Stock to be $2.21 per share at issuance. The
Series B Preferred Stock shares purchased by entities related to current employees, board members, and service providers
were recorded at fair value and the excess of the fair value over the consideration paid was recorded as equity-based
compensation of $8.6 million. The Series B Preferred Stock shares purchased by an existing Series A preferred stockholder
was recorded at fair value and the excess of the fair value over consideration paid was recorded as a deemed dividend of
$0.5 million in additional paid-in capital.

During February 2021, the Company amended its Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation to
amend the liquidation preference of the Series B preferred stock to an amount per share equal to a) two times the original
issue price of $1.00 per share until August 28, 2022, or b) two times the original issue price of $1.00 per share plus an
amount equal to 15% per annum accruing on two times the original issue price from August 28, 2022 through and
including the date of payment, plus any dividends declared but unpaid.

During March 2021, the Company issued and sold 1,450,000 shares of Series B-1 Preferred Stock at $1.00 per share to
current executives of the Company. The Company received gross cash proceeds of $1.5 million and incurred nominal
issuance costs associated with the Series B-1 Preferred Stock issuance. For accounting purposes, the Company determined
the fair value of the Series B-1 Preferred Stock to be $2.02 per share at issuance. The Series B-1 Preferred Stock shares
were recorded at fair value and the excess of the fair value over the consideration paid was recorded as equity-based
compensation of $1.5 million.

In connection with the sale of the Series B-1 Preferred Stock, the Company filed an amended and restated certificate of
incorporation which authorized the issuance of up to 2,500,000 shares of Series B-1 Preferred Stock with the same rights,
preferences and privileges of the Series B Preferred Stock and increased the authorized shares of common stock to
24,000,000.

The fair value of the Series B Preferred Stock and Series B-1 Preferred Stock was estimated using a two-step process.
First, the Company’s enterprise value was established using generally accepted valuation methodologies, including
discounted cash flow analysis and comparable public company analysis. Second, the Company’s enterprise value was
allocated among the various classes of outstanding securities using the Black-Scholes option-pricing method. The option-
pricing method treats all levels of the capital structure as call options on the enterprise’s value, with the exercise price
based on the “breakpoints” between each of the different claims on the securities. The inputs necessary for the Series B
Preferred Stock option-pricing model include the Company’s then-current enterprise value, breakpoints (the various
characteristics for each class of equity, including liquidation preferences and priority distributions), time to liquidity of
3 years, risk-free rate of 0.21%, and volatility of 72.0%.The inputs necessary for the Series B-1 Preferred Stock option-
pricing model include the Company’s then-current enterprise value, breakpoints (the various characteristics for each class
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of equity, including liquidation preferences and priority distributions), time to liquidity ranging from 0.5 to 1.5 years
depending on the scenario, risk-free rate of 0.11%, and volatility of 78.0%.

8. Common Stock

Pursuant to the Company’s amended and restated certificate of incorporation the Company is authorized to issue
250,000,000 shares of common stock with a $0.001 par value. As of January 2, 2022 and January 3, 2021, there were
38,421,124 and 17,462,283 shares of common stock issued and outstanding, respectively. Holders of common stock are
entitled to one vote per share on all matters to be voted upon by the stockholders of the Company. Subject to the
preferences that may be applicable to any outstanding share of preferred stock, the holders of common stock are entitled to
receive dividends, if any, as may be declared by the board of directors. No dividends have been declared to date.

The IPO closed on November 15, 2021, pursuant to which the Company issued and sold 5,750,000 shares of its
common stock at a public offering price of $16.00 per share. The Company received net proceeds of $82.0 million, after
deducting underwriting discounts and commissions of approximately $6.1 million and other issuance costs of
approximately $3.9 million. In connection with the IPO, all outstanding shares of convertible preferred stock were
converted into 15,000,000 shares of common stock. Immediately prior to the completion of the Company’s IPO,
215,702 shares of common stock were issued to the LP. The Company concluded that these additional 215,702 shares are
considered stock dividends of $3.5 million based on the Company’s IPO price of $16.00 per share during 2021. The
215,702 shares were subsequently distributed to the LP’s unit holders, which included current and prior employees (Class P
unit holders), board members, and service providers upon the liquidation of the LP on November 15, 2021.

As of January 2, 2022, the Company has reserved 322,793 shares of common stock for issuance upon the exercise of
stock options, 417,828 shares of common stock to settle the CEO Special Compensation Awards in March 2022 and March
2023, and 4,462,803 shares of common stock for future issuance under the equity plans described in Note 9, Equity-Based
Compensation.
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9. Equity-Based Compensation
Omnibus Equity Plan and Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In connection with the closing of the IPO, the Company adopted the Omnibus Equity Plan (the “Omnibus Equity
Plan”) and the 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”).

Under the Omnibus Equity Plan, incentive awards may be granted to employees, directors, and consultants of the
Company. The Company initially reserved 3,719,000 shares of common stock for future issuance under the Omnibus
Equity Plan, including any shares subject to awards under the 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2021 Equity Plan”) that are
forfeited or lapse unexercised. The number of shares reserved for issuance under the Omnibus Equity Plan will
automatically increase on the first day of each fiscal year, starting in 2022 and continuing through 2031, by a number of
shares equal to (a) 4% of the total number of shares of the Company’s common stock outstanding on the last day of the
immediately preceding year or (b) such smaller number of shares as determined by the Company’s board of directors.
Under the Omnibus Equity Plan, the Company had 3,719,000 shares available for grant as of January 2, 2022. The
Company’s board of directors administers the Omnibus Equity Plan and determines to whom awards will be granted, the
exercise price of any options, the rates at which awards vest and the other terms and conditions of the awards granted under
the Omnibus Equity Plan. The board of directors may or may not issue the full number of shares that are reserved for
issuance. Options generally vest over four years and are subject to the employee’s continued employment with us. Options
granted to consultants or other nonemployees generally vest over the expected service period to the Company. The options
expire ten years from the date of grant. The Company issues new shares to satisfy stock option exercises.

Under the ESPP, certain Company employees may purchase shares of the Company’s common stock at a 15% discount
in future offerings. The Company initially reserved 743,803 shares of common stock for future issuance under the ESPP.
The number of shares of common stock reserved for issuance under the ESPP will automatically increase on the first day of
each fiscal year beginning in 2022 and ending in 2031, by a number of shares equal to (a) 1% of the total number of shares
of the Company’s common stock outstanding on the last day of the immediately preceding year or (b) such smaller number
of shares as determined by the Company’s board of directors. The ESPP has not been started nor have any shares been
issued under the plan.

2021 Equity Plan

During April 2021, the Company’s board of directors adopted the 2021 Equity Plan. The 2021 Equity Plan provides
for the issuance of incentive stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units and other stock-based and cash-based
awards to the Company’s employees, directors, and consultants. The maximum aggregate number of shares reserved for
issuance under the 2021 Equity Plan is 925,000 shares. The Company’s board of directors administers the 2021 Equity
Plan. The options outstanding under the 2021 Equity Plan expire ten years from the date of grant. The Company issues new
common shares to satisfy stock option exercises. In connection with the closing of the IPO, no further awards will be
granted under the 2021 Equity Plan.

CEO Stock Options and Special Compensation Awards

During April 2021, the Company entered into an Employment Agreement (“Employment Agreement”) with the CEO
and granted stock options to purchase 322,793 shares of common stock with an exercise price of $11.35 per share, which
vest based on service and performance conditions. 275,133 of these stock options have only service vesting conditions, and
47,660 of these stock options have both service and performance vesting conditions. In addition, a portion of these stock
options were subject to accelerated vesting conditions upon the occurrence of certain future events, which were satisfied
upon the closing of the IPO. Upon completion of the IPO, 137,567 stock options with service conditions and 23,830 stock
options with both service and performance vesting conditions were accelerated.
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Under the Employment Agreement and subject to ongoing employment, and in light of the closing of the IPO, the
CEO will receive two bonuses which will be settled in fully-vested shares of the Company’s common stock equal to $3.0
million each ($6.0 million in aggregate) on March 31, 2022 and March 31, 2023. The Company initially concluded that the
two bonuses are subject to the guidance within ASC 718 and, were liability-classified upon issuance. Upon the completion
of the IPO, the two bonuses became equity-classified as they no longer met the criteria for liability classification and $2.9
million was reclassified from accrued expenses and other current liabilities and other noncurrent liabilities to additional
paid-in capital. The Company records the equity-based compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the requisite
service periods through March 31, 2022 and March 31, 2023. During the fiscal year ended January 2, 2022, the Company
recognized equity-based compensation related to the two bonuses of $3.3 million. Upon the completion of the service by
the CEO, the Company will issue 208,914 fully-vested shares on March 31, 2022 and 208,914 fully-vested shares on
March 31, 2023.

Stock Options

A summary of stock option activity for 2021 is as follows:

Weighted- Weighted-
Average Average
Exercise Remaining Aggregate
Options Price per Contractual Intrinsic
Outstanding Option Life (years) Value
Balance as of January 3, 2021 — S —
Granted 322,793 11.35
Outstanding as of January 2, 2022 322,793 $ 11.35 929 § —
Exercisable as of January 2, 2022 161,397 $ 11.35 929 $§ —
Vested and expected to vest as of January 2, 2022 322,793 $ 11.35 929 $ —

The weighted-average grant-date fair value of options granted during 2021 was $16.44.

The following table presents the range of assumptions used to estimate the fair value of options granted during the
periods presented:

January 2,
2022
Fair value of common stock $ 25.86
Expected term (in years) 6.48
Expected volatility 50.62 %
Risk-free rate 1.17 %
Dividend yield 0%

Fair Value of Common Stock — Given the absence of a public market prior to the IPO, the board of directors, with the
assistance of a third-party valuation specialist, determined the fair value of the Company’s common stock at the time of the
grant of stock options by considering a number of objective and subjective factors, including the Company’s actual
operating and financial performance, market conditions and performance of comparable publicly-traded companies,
developments and milestones in the Company, the likelihood of achieving a liquidity event and transactions involving the
Company’s common stock, among other factors. The fair value of the underlying common stock was determined by the
board of directors. The Company has not granted any stock options subsequent to the IPO during 2021.

Risk-Free Interest Rate - The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield in effect at the time the options
are granted for zero coupon U.S. Treasury notes with maturities approximately equal to the expected term of the option.
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Expected Term - The expected term is based upon the Company’s consideration of the historical life of options, the
vesting period of the option granted, and the contractual period of the option granted. The Company has a limited history of
granting options, accordingly, the expected life was calculated using the simplified method.

Volatility - As the Company is not publicly traded, the expected volatility for the Company’s stock options was
determined by using an average of historical volatilities of selected industry peers deemed to be comparable to the
Company’s business corresponding to the expected term of the awards.

Dividend Yield - The expected dividend rate is zero as the Company currently has no history or expectation of
declaring dividends on its common stock.

During 2021, equity-based compensation expense of $3.2 million was recorded to general and administrative expense
related to the stock options, which included equity-based compensation of $2.1 million recorded for stock options with
service conditions only and $0.5 million recorded for stock options with both service and performance conditions as a
result of accelerated vesting upon the completion of the IPO. As of January 2, 2022, total unrecognized compensation cost
related to unvested stock options was $2.6 million, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average remaining
service period of 2.24 years.

Class P Units

During the second and third quarters of 2020, all outstanding Class P units totaling 1,858,210 were modified ($7.22
weighted average modification date fair value per unit) to include a provision that if the employment with or service to the
Company is terminated, then all outstanding Class P units that have satisfied the service-based vesting requirements will
remain outstanding. 384,522 of the outstanding Class P units were also modified to include both a service condition and a
performance condition. The performance-based vesting condition is satisfied upon the occurrence of a qualifying
distribution event, which is generally defined as an issuance of a distribution to the LP’s partners, and which was satisfied
upon completion of the IPO. As of the modification dates, the Company measured the fair value of all modified Class P
units. During the fourth quarter of 2020, the LP granted an additional 1,094,861 Class P units which vest monthly over
four years from the grant date and only include a service condition ($4.54 weighted average grant date fair value per unit).

During October 2021, the LP modified the vesting schedule related to 763,178 outstanding Class P units for two senior
executives to accelerate vesting if the two senior executives perform service after the completion of the IPO over the
subsequent 12-month period. The Company concluded that the amendment to the Class P units was a modification under
ASC 718 and there was no incremental equity-based compensation expense to recognize. With the completion of the
Company’s IPO, the remaining unrecognized expense associated with the restricted stock, received in exchange at the IPO
for the modified Class P units, is being recognized over the subsequent 12-month period through November 2022.

The Company recorded equity-based compensation expense of $1.9 million and $8.8 million ($8.4 million upon
modification) during 2021 and 2020, respectively, related to the outstanding and vested service-based Class P units and
after the conversion to restricted stock discussed below.

Pre-Vesting Distributions

With the completion of the IPO, the performance condition for pre-vesting distributions related to the Class P units
was met and the Company recognized a cumulative catch-up to equity-based compensation of $2.6 million during 2021,
and $2.6 million payable to the former Class P unit holders is included in accrued expenses and other current liabilities as
of January 2, 2022. As of January 2, 2022, unrecognized pre-vesting distributions of $0.2 million will be recognized over a
weighted average period of 1.0 years.
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The following table summarizes the rollforward of unvested Class P units in 2021:

Weighted-
Unvested Class Average Fair
P units Value per Unit
Balance at January 3, 2021 1,729,938 $ 5.33
Units vested (559,499) 6.06
Units forfeited (58,184) 8.45
Units converted to unvested restricted stock of the Company upon LP liquidation (1,112,255) 4.79

Balance at January 2, 2022 — % —

The total fair value of Class P units vested during 2021 was $3.4 million.
Restricted Stock

Immediately before the completion of the IPO, the LP was liquidated and the unit holders of the LP received shares of
the Company’s common stock in exchange for their units of the LP. The Class P unit holders received 1,964,103 shares of
common stock, comprised of 1,536,304 shares of vested common stock and 427,799 shares of unvested restricted stock.
Any such shares of restricted stock received in respect of unvested Class P units of the LP are subject to vesting and a risk
of forfeiture to the same extent as the corresponding Class P units. As of January 2, 2022, the unrecognized equity-based
compensation expense for all restricted stock with a service condition is $4.0 million and will be recognized over a
weighted-average period of 1.76 years.

With the completion of the TPO, there were 502,322 shares of restricted stock outstanding that had met the
performance-based vesting condition. During 2021, the Company recognized a cumulative catch-up of $2.6 million for
restricted stock that had met both the service and performance vesting conditions. As of January 2, 2022, the unrecognized
equity-based compensation expense for all restricted stock with both a service and performance condition is $0.3 million
and will be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.00 years.

The following table summarizes the rollforward of unvested restricted stock in 2021:

Weighted-
Restricted Average Fair

Stock Value per Share

Balance at January 3, 2021 —  $ —
Converted from Class P units of the Company upon LP liquidation 427,799 5.44
Restricted stock granted — —
Restricted stock vested (39,326) 5.85
Restricted stock forfeited (6,861) 5.99
Balance at January 2, 2022 381,612 $ 5.39

The total fair value of restricted stock vested during 2021 was $0.2 million.

There was no income tax benefit recognized related to equity-based compensation expense in 2021, 2020 or 2019.
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10. Income Taxes

All of the Company’s income (loss) before income taxes is from the United States. The following table presents the
components of the income tax (provision) benefit (in thousands):

January 2, January 3,
2022 2021
Current:
Federal $ (5919 $ 900
State (1,956) 357
Total current (provision) benefit (7,875) 1,257
Deferred:
Federal 1,341 (220)
State 322 234
Total deferred benefit 1,663 14
Income tax (provision) benefit $ (6,212) $ 1,271

The following table presents a reconciliation of the statutory federal rate to the Company’s effective tax rate:

January 2, January 3,
2022 2021
Federal statutory rate 21.0 % 21.0 %
State income taxes, net of federal tax benefit 16.3 0.9
Non-deductible equity-based compensation expense 36.0 (18.0)
Tax credits — 0.4
Change in uncertain tax position 0.9) 1.5
Prior year adjustments 2.3 0.2
Other 0.5 0.2
Effective tax rate 75.2 % 6.2 %

Deferred income taxes reflect the net effects of (a) temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amount used for income tax purposes, and (b) operating losses and tax
credit carryforwards.
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The following table presents the significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities (in
thousands):

January 2, January 3,
2022 2021
Deferred tax assets:
Accruals and allowances $ 2,888 $ 1,263
Interest disallowance 3,456 4,005
Inventory capitalization and other adjustments 849 585
Deferred revenue 1,142 1,053
Equity-based compensation 531 —
Net operating losses and tax credit carryforwards 488 658
Other 423 47
Gross deferred tax assets 9,777 7,611
Deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation and amortization (6,856) (6,150)
Other — (202)
Gross deferred tax liabilities (6,856) (6,352)
Net deferred tax assets $ 2,921 $ 1,259

Net deferred tax assets are included in other noncurrent assets on the consolidated balance sheets as of January 2, 2022
and January 3, 2021. Certain of the prior year deferred tax asset balances have been reclassified to conform to the current
year presentation. Returns reserve accrual and accrued expenses were combined into accruals and allowances, UNICAP
and amounts from other were combined into inventory capitalization and other adjustments, tax credit carryforwards and
net operating losses were combined into one line.item.

The tax benefit of net operating losses, temporary differences and credit carryforwards is required to be recorded as an
asset to the extent that management assesses the realization is “more likely than not.” Realization of the future tax benefit
is dependent on the Company’s ability to generate sufficient taxable income within the carryforward period. A valuation
allowance is recognized if, based on the weight of available evidence, it is more-likely-than-not that some portion, or all, of
the deferred tax asset will not be realized. Management must analyze all available positive and negative evidence regarding
realization of the deferred tax assets and make an assessment of the likelihood of sufficient future taxable income. We have
not provided a valuation allowance on our federal and state deferred tax assets as we have determined that it its more-
likely-than-not that they are realizable based upon the available positive evidence such as cumulative taxable income and
estimated future taxable income.

As of January 2, 2022, the Company had state net operating loss carryforwards of $5.7 million, which may be
available to reduce future taxable income. The state net operating loss carryforwards will expire, if not utilized, beginning
in 2039. As of January 2, 2022, the Company also had state tax credit carryforwards of $0.1 million, which will expire, if
not utilized, beginning in 2026. Lastly, the Company currently has $15.5 million of a federal disallowed interest expense
carryforward under Section 163(j) of the Internal Revenue Code, which can be carried forward indefinitely.

Utilization of our net operating loss carryforwards, interest expense carryforwards, and tax credits may be subject to an
annual limitation due to ownership changes that may have occurred or that could occur in the future, as required by Section
382 of the Internal Revenue Code and similar state provisions. These ownership change limitations may limit the amount
of net operating loss carryforwards or interest expense carryforwards and tax credits that can be utilized annually to offset
future taxable income and tax, respectively.
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The Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (“CARES Act”) was enacted on March 27, 2020 in the
United States, which includes several significant provisions for corporations, including a payment deferral of employer
payroll taxes. The Company elected to defer the payment of employer payroll taxes in 2020. The deferred payroll taxes of
$0.5 million and $0.5 million are included within accrued expenses and other current liabilities as of January 2, 2022 and
January 3, 2021, respectively, and $0.6 million is included in other noncurrent liabilities as of January 3, 2021. The
Company repaid $0.5 million during 2021 and must repay the remaining deferred payroll taxes by December 31, 2022.

As of January 2, 2022 and January 3, 2021, the Company’s uncertain tax positions and related accrued interest and
penalties were not material. The Company’s policy is to recognize interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax
benefits in the financial statements as a component of income tax expense. The Company does not anticipate that the
uncertain tax positions balance as of January 2, 2022 will change significantly over the next 12 months.

The Company’s federal and state income tax returns are generally not subject to examination by taxing authorities for
fiscal years before 2018.

11. Related Party Transactions
Transactions with the LP

Certain of the Company’s transactions with the LP are classified as a component within additional paid-in capital in
the consolidated statements of stockholders’ deficit as there are no defined payments or other terms associated with these
transactions. Such transactions included equity-based compensation related to outstanding Class P units of $4.5 million
during 2021 and $9.1 million during 2020. During 2019, the Company recorded equity-based compensation of $2.0 million
related to pre-vesting distributions. With the completion of the IPO, the performance condition for pre-vesting distributions
related to the Class P units was met and the Company recognized a cumulative catch-up to general and administrative
expenses of $2.6 million during 2021 and $2.6 million payable to the Class P unit holders is included in accrued expense
and other current liabilities as of January 2, 2022.

Immediately prior to the completion of the IPO, 215,702 shares of common stock were issued to the LP as a stock
dividend for $3.5 million based on the Company’s IPO price of $16.00 per share during 2021.

Series B Redeemable Preferred Stock Issuance

The Series B Preferred Stock shares purchased by entities related to current employees, board members, and service
providers were recorded at fair value and the excess of the fair value of $2.21 per share over the consideration paid of
$1.00 per share was recorded as equity-based compensation of $8.6 million in 2020. The Series B Preferred Stock shares
purchased by an existing Series A stockholder was recorded at fair value and excess of the fair value of $2.21 per share
over the consideration paid of $1.00 per share was recorded as a deemed dividend of $0.5 million in additional paid-in
capital in 2020.
Series B-1 Redeemable Preferred Stock Issuance

The Series B-1 Preferred Stock shares purchased by current executives were recorded at fair value and the excess of
the fair value of $2.02 per share over the consideration paid of $1.00 per share was recorded as equity-based compensation
of $1.5 million in 2021.
Advance to/from the LP

An additional $37,000 was advanced to the Company from the LP during 2020. During 2020, the Company repaid
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the $2.0 million of advances from the LP plus accrued interest of $0.1 million, and such repayment was used by the LP to
pay accrued Class P unit distributions to certain current employees of the Company.

Management & Consulting Fees

The Company has accrued for management and consulting fees to H.I.G. Capital, LLC (“H.I.G.”, the LP’s ultimate
parent), Institutional Venture Partners (Series A Preferred Stockholder), and certain board members. Expenses for such
services were $0.4 million to H.I.G and $0.3 million to other related parties during 2021, $0.5 million to H.I.G and $0.2
million to other related parties during 2020 and were $0.6 million to H.I.G. and $0.2 million to other related parties during
2019. There were $0.2 million of accrued liabilities and $0.8 million of accounts payable related to these services as of
January 3, 2021. All outstanding management fees were settled at the time of our IPO and the management and consulting
agreements were terminated upon the IPO.

Significant Shareholder Relationships

The Company identified three shareholders with aggregate ownership interest in the Company greater than 10%. The
Company reviewed the respective investment portfolio holdings of these shareholders and identified investments in other
entities that the Company engages in business with. All of these business relationships were obtained without the support
of these shareholders, and as such, are believed to be at terms comparable to those that would be obtained through arm’s
length dealings with unrelated third parties.

Operating Leases

Until June 2021, the Company leased operations and warehouse spaces from a limited partner of the LP and a Series B
Preferred Stockholder of the Company. After June 2021, the Company continued to lease a retail space from this limited
partner and Series B Preferred Stockholder. Following the liquidation of the LP and the redemption of the Series B
Preferred Stock in November 2021, the Company leased this retail space from the same party, who remains related as a
common stockholder of the Company. Total rent expense to the related party was $0.1 million, $0.1 million and $0.1
million during 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

12. Defined Contribution Plans

The Company sponsors a participant-directed 401(k) profit sharing plan for employees who have been working at the
Company for at least three months and are at least 18 years of age. Participants may make wage-deferred contributions up
to the maximum allowed by law. The Company matches 100% of each participating employee’s deferral up to a maximum
of 4% of eligible compensation. The Company may make additional discretionary matching contributions up to 6% of
eligible compensation. The Company made matching contributions of $0.9 million, $0.7 million and $0.7 million during
2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

13. Subsequent Events

On January 4, 2022, the Company granted 1,620,170 restricted stock units (RSUs) to certain executives and employees
which vest quarterly over two years through December 31, 2023. On January 4, 2022, 25,874 fully vested RSUs were
granted to the CEO, which cannot be sold until one year after the date of our IPO. The approximate amount of total stock-

based compensation expense associated with these RSUs is $16.3 million.

On March 29, 2022, the Company paid $10.0 million on its New Revolving Facility.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Limitations on effectiveness of controls and procedures

In designing and evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and
procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired
control objectives. In addition, the design of disclosure controls and procedures must reflect the fact that there are resource
constraints and that management is required to apply judgment in evaluating the benefits of possible controls and
procedures relative to their costs.
Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated, as of
the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act). Based on that evaluation, our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of January 2, 2022, our disclosure controls and procedures
were effective at the reasonable assurance level.
Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

This Annual Report on Form 10-K does not include a report of management’s assessment regarding our internal
control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) or an attestation
report of our independent registered accounting firm due to a transition period established by rules of the SEC for newly
public companies. Additionally, our independent registered accounting firm will not be required to opine on the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404 until we are no longer an “emerging
growth company” as defined in the JOBS Act.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under
the Exchange Act) during the quarter ended January 2, 2022 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
Item 9B. Other Information

None.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections

Not applicable.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporate Governance

We have adopted a written code of ethics, entitled “Code of Business Conduct and Ethics,” that applies to all of our
directors, executive officers and employees, including our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal
accounting officer and controller, or persons performing similar functions. We make available our code of ethics free of
charge through our investor relations website, which is located at https://investors.lulus.com. We intend to post on our
website all disclosures that are required by law or Nasdaq listing standards concerning any amendments to, or waivers
from, any provision of our code of ethics.

Certain information relating to our executive officers and directors is included in Part I, Item 1 of this Form 10-K. The
remaining information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the Company’s Proxy Statement for its 2022
Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the Company’s Proxy Statement for its 2022
Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the Company’s Proxy Statement for its 2022
Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the Company’s Proxy Statement for its 2022
Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

Information about aggregate fees billed to us by our principal accountant, Deloitte & Touche LLP (PCAOB ID No. 34)
is incorporated herein by reference to the Company’s Proxy Statement for its 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
(a) The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

(1) The consolidated financial statements are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K under, Part II,
“Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”

(2) The financial statement schedules are omitted because they are either not applicable, or the required
information is included in the consolidated financial statements or notes thereto under Part II, “Item 8.
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

(3) The exhibits listed in the following Exhibit Index are filed, furnished or incorporated by reference as part of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

INDEX TO EXHIBITS
Incorporated by Reference Filed/
Exhibit . .. Filing Furnished
Number Exhibit Description Form File No. Exhibit Date Herewith
3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of 10-Q 001-41059 3.1 12/16/2021
Incorporation of Lulu’s Fashion Lounge
Holdings, Inc.
3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Lulu’s 10-Q 001-41059 3.2 12/16/2021
Fashion Lounge Holdings, Inc.
4.1 Form of Common Stock Certificate S- 333- 4.1 11/01/2021
1/A 260194
4.2 Investors’ Rights Agreement, dated as of S-1 333- 4.2 10/12/2021
April 12, 2018, among the Lulu’s Fashion 260194
Lounge Holdings, Inc., the Investors listed
on Schedule A thereto, Lulu’s Holdings, L.P.
and LFL Acquisition Corp.
4.3 Description of the Registrant’s Securities
10.1+ Omnibus Equity Plan and Form of Stock
Option Agreement and Restricted Stock
Unit Agreement
10.2+ 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. S- 333- 10.2 11/01/2021
1/A 260194
10.3+ Form of Stock Award Agreement S- 333- 10.3 11/01/2021
(Evidencing Common Stock Received in 1/A 260194
Respect of Class P Units).
10.4+ 2021 Equity Incentive Plan S-1 333- 10.4 10/12/2021
260194
10.5+ Stock Option Agreement and Grant Notice S-1 333- 10.5 10/12/2021
between the Registrant and David W. 260194
McCreight under the 2021 Equity Incentive
Plan
10.6+ Special Compensation Award Agreement S-1 333- 10.6 10/12/2021
and Grant Notice between the Registrant and 260194

David W. McCreight under the 2021 Equity,
Incentive Plan
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1780201/000155837021016885/tmb-20211003xex3d2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1780201/000119312521314481/d189376dex41.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1780201/000119312521296901/d189376dex42.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1780201/000119312521314481/d189376dex102.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1780201/000119312521314481/d189376dex103.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1780201/000119312521296901/d189376dex104.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1780201/000119312521296901/d189376dex105.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1780201/000119312521296901/d189376dex106.htm
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Incorporated by Reference Filed/

Exhibit . .. Filing Furnished

Number Exhibit Description Form File No. Exhibit Date Herewith

10.7+ Employment Agreement, dated as of April S-1 333- 10.7 10/12/2021
15, 2021, among, Lulu’s Fashion Lounge, 260194
LLC, the Registrant and David W.
McCreight

10.8+ Form of Indemnification Agreement S- 333- 10.8 11/01/2021

1/A 260194

10.9+ Registration Rights Agreement among the 10-Q 001-41059 10.9 12/16/2021
Registrant and certain of its stockholders,
dated November 10, 2021.

10.10+ Stockholders Agreement among the 10-Q 001-41059 10.10 12/16/2021
Registrant, H.I.G. Growth Partners—Lulu’s,
L.P., entities affiliated with IVP and Canada
Pension Plan Investment Board, dated
November 10, 2021.

10.11+ Lulu’s Fashion Lounge Holdings, Inc. Non- 8-K  001-41059 10.1 01/31/2022
Employee Director Compensation Program

21.1 Subsidiaries of the Registrant

23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer *
pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a).

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer *
pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a).

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Hok
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350.

32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Hok
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350.

101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document - the *
instance document does not appear in the
Interactive Data file because its XBRL tags
are embedded within the Inline XBRL
document

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema *
Document

101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension *
Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension *
Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label *
Linkbase Document

101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension *
Presentation Linkbase Document

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (as *
formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in
Exhibit 101)

* Filed herewith.

Hok Furnished herewith.

+ Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1780201/000110465922009515/tm224799d1_ex10-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001780201/000119312521314481/d189376dex211.htm
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Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused
this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

LULU’S FASHION LOUNGE HOLDINGS, INC.

Date: March 31, 2022 By: /s/ David McCreight
David McCreight
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: March 31, 2022 By: /s/ Crystal Landsem
Crystal Landsem
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ David McCreight Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) March 31, 2022
David McCreight and Director
/s/ Crystal Landsem Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and March 31, 2022
Crystal Landsem Accounting Officer)
/s/ Dara Bazzano Director March 31, 2022

Dara Bazzano

/s/ Evan Karp Director March 31, 2022
Evan Karp

/s/ John Black Director March 31, 2022
John Black

/s/ Eric Liaw Director March 31, 2022
Eric Liaw

/s/ Michael Mardy Director March 31, 2022
Michael Mardy

/s/ Danielle Qi Director March 31, 2022
Danielle Qi

/s/ Kira Yugay Director March 31, 2022
Kira Yugay
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Exhibit 4.3
DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK

The following discussion is a summary of the terms of the common stock of Lulu’s Fashion Lounge Holdings. Inc. (the “Company,”
“we,” “us,” and “our”), our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws and the terms and provisions of the
Delaware General Corporation Law (the “DGCL”). Copies of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and
restated bylaws are filed as exhibits to our Annual Report on Form 10-K of which this Exhibit is a part. For more complete information,
you should carefully review our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, amended and restated bylaws and the DGCL.

Authorized Capitalization

Our authorized capital stock consists of 250,000,000 shares of common stock, par value $0.001 per share, and 10,000,000 shares of
preferred stock, par value $0.001 per share. All of our 10,000,000 authorized preferred stock is undesignated.

Common Stock
Holders of our common stock are entitled to the following rights.
Voting Rights

Directors are elected by a plurality of the votes entitled to be cast except as set forth below with respect to directors to be elected by the
holders of common stock. Our stockholders do not have cumulative voting rights. Except as otherwise provided in our amended and
restated certificate of incorporation, our amended and restated bylaws, applicable stock exchange rules, or as required by law, all matters
to be voted on by our stockholders other than matters relating to the election and removal of directors must be approved by a majority of
the shares present in person or by proxy at the meeting and entitled to vote on the subject matter or, until such time as the Sponsor
Ownership Condition (as defined below) ceases to be satisfied, by a written resolution of the stockholders representing the number of
affirmative votes required for such matter at a meeting. “Sponsor Ownership Condition” means for so long as entities affiliated with
H.I.G. Growth Partners — Lulu’s, L.P., Institutional Venture Partners XV, L.P., Institutional Venture Partners XV Executive Fund, L.P.,
Institutional Venture Partners X VI, L.P. and Canada Pension Plan Investment Board maintain direct or indirect beneficial ownership of
an aggregate of at least fifty percent (50%) of the voting power of all the then outstanding shares of voting stock of the Company.

Dividend Rights

Holders of common stock will share equally in any dividend declared by our Board of Directors, subject to the rights of the holders of
any outstanding preferred stock.

Liquidation Rights

In the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of our affairs, holders of our common stock would be
entitled to share ratably in our assets that are legally available for distribution to stockholders after payment of liabilities. If we have any
preferred stock outstanding at such time, holders of the preferred stock may be entitled to distribution and/or liquidation preferences. In
either such case, we must pay the applicable distribution to the holders of our preferred stock before we may pay distributions to the
holders of our common stock.

Other Rights
Our stockholders have no preemptive or other rights to subscribe for additional shares. All holders of our common stock are entitled to

share equally on a share-for-share basis in any assets available for distribution to common stockholders upon our liquidation, dissolution,
or winding up. All outstanding shares are validly issued, fully paid, and nonassessable.




Preferred Stock

Our Board of Directors is authorized to provide for the issuance of preferred stock in one or more series and to fix the preferences,
powers and relative, participating, optional or other special rights and qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, including the
dividend rate, conversion rights, voting rights, redemption rights and liquidation preference and to fix the number of shares to be
included in any such series without any further vote or action by our stockholders. Any preferred stock so issued may rank senior to our
common stock with respect to the payment of dividends or amounts upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up, or both. In addition, any
such shares of preferred stock may have class or series voting rights. The issuance of preferred stock may have the effect of delaying,
deferring or preventing a change in control of our company without further action by the stockholders and may adversely affect the
voting and other rights of the holders of our common stock.

Registration Rights

Our existing stockholders have certain registration rights with respect to our common stock pursuant to the Investors’ Rights Agreement
we entered into with Lulu’s Holdings, L.P., H.I.G.-GPII, Inc., LFL Acquisition Corp., Institutional Venture Partners XVI, L.P.,
Institutional Venture Partners XV, L.P., Institutional Venture Partners XV Executive Fund, L.P. and Canada Pension Plan Investment
Board on April 12, 2018, pursuant to which such investors have certain demand registration rights, short-form registration rights and
piggyback registration rights in respect of any shares of common stock and related indemnification rights from us, subject to customary
restrictions and exceptions. All fees, costs and expenses of registrations, other than underwriting discounts and commissions, are
expected to be borne by us.

Anti-Takeover Provisions

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws contain provisions that delay, defer or discourage
transactions involving an actual or potential change in control of us or change in our management. We expect that these provisions,
which are summarized below, will discourage coercive takeover practices or inadequate takeover bids. These provisions are also
designed to encourage persons seeking to acquire control of us to first negotiate with our Board of Directors, which we believe may
result in an improvement of the terms of any such acquisition in favor of our stockholders. However, they also give our Board of
Directors the power to discourage transactions that some stockholders may favor, including transactions in which stockholders might
otherwise receive a premium for their shares or transactions that our stockholders might otherwise deem to be in their best interests.
Accordingly, these provisions could adversely affect the price of our common stock.

Classified Board

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws provide that the authorized number of directors
shall be determined from time to time by resolution of the Board, provided the Board shall consist of at least one member, and that our
Board of Directors will be divided into three classes. The authorized number of directors shall be determined from time to time by
resolution of the Board, provided the Board shall consist of at least one member, with one class being elected at each annual meeting of
stockholders. Each director will serve a three-year term, and subject to the special rights of the holders of one or more series of preferred
stock elect directors, at each succeeding annual meeting of stockholders, directors shall be elected for a full term of three years to
succeed the directors of the class whose terms expire at such annual meeting. The classification of our Board or Directors could make it
more difficult for a third party to acquire, or discourage a third party from seeking to acquire, control of our Company.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws provide that, except as otherwise provided by the
DGCL and subject to the special rights of the holders of one or more series of preferred stock to elect directors, directors may be
removed from office at any time, but only by the affirmative vote of the holders of at least sixty six and two thirds percent (66-2/3%) of
the voting power of all the then outstanding shares of voting stock of the Company with the power to vote at an election of directors and,
once the Sponsor Ownership Condition ceases to be satisfied, only for cause.




Requirements for Advance Notification of Stockholder Meetings, Nominations and Proposals

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that, subject to the special rights of the holders of one or more series of
preferred stock, special meetings of the stockholders may be called, for any purpose or purposes, at any time by the Board of Directors,
chairperson of the Board of Directors, chief executive officer or president (in the absence of a chief executive officer), but such special
meetings may not be called by stockholders or any other person or persons. Our amended and restated bylaws prohibit the conduct of any
business at a special meeting other than as specified in the notice for such meeting. These provisions may have the effect of deferring,
delaying, or discouraging hostile takeovers or changes in control or management of our Company.

Our amended and restated bylaws establish advance notice procedures with respect to stockholder proposals and the nomination of
candidates for election as directors, other than nominations made by or at the direction of our Board of Directors or a committee of our
Board of Directors. In order for any matter to be “properly brought” before a meeting, a stockholder will have to comply with the
advance notice requirements outlined in our amended and restated bylaws. Our amended and restated bylaws allow the chairperson of
any meeting of stockholders shall determine the order of business and the procedure at the meeting, including such regulation of the
manner of voting and the conduct of business, which may have the effect of precluding the conduct of certain business at a meeting if the
rules and regulations are not followed. These provisions may also defer, delay, or discourage a potential acquirer from conducting a
solicitation of proxies to elect the acquirer’s own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control of our Company.

Stockholder Action by Written Consent

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws provide that, subject to the rights of the holders
of the shares of any series of preferred stock or any other class of stock or series having a preference over our common stock as to
dividends or upon liquidation, and for so long as Sponsor Ownership Condition is satisfied, any action required or permitted to be taken
at any annual or special meeting of stockholders of the Company may be taken without a meeting, without prior notice and without a
vote, if a consent or consents in writing, setting forth the action so taken, shall be signed by the holders of shares having not less than the
minimum number of votes that would be necessary to authorize or take such action at a meeting at which all shares entitled to vote
thereon were present and voted and shall be delivered to the Company in accordance with Section 228 of the DGCL. If at any time the
Sponsor Ownership Condition ceases to be satisfied, then any action required or permitted to be taken by the stockholders of the
Company must be effected at a duly called annual or special meeting of stockholders of the Company and may not be effected by any
consent in writing by such stockholders.

Section 203 of the DGCL

We are governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the DGCL. In general, Section 203 prohibits a public Delaware corporation from
engaging in a “business combination” with an “interested stockholder” for a period of three years after the time of the transaction in
which the person became an interested stockholder, unless:

e the business combination or transaction which resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder was approved by
the board of directors prior to the time that the stockholder became an interested stockholder;

e upon consummation of the transaction which resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, the interested
stockholder owned at least 85% of the voting stock of the corporation outstanding at the time the transaction commenced,
excluding shares owned by directors who are also officers of the corporation and shares owned by employee stock plans in
which employee participants do not have the right to determine confidentially whether shares held subject to the plan will be
tendered in a tender or exchange offer; or




e at or subsequent to the time the stockholder became an interested stockholder, the business combination was approved by the
board of directors and authorized at an annual or special meeting of the stockholders, and not by written consent, by the
affirmative vote of at least 66 2/3% of the outstanding voting stock which is not owned by the interested stockholder.

In general, Section 203 defines a “business combination” to include mergers, asset sales and other transactions resulting in financial
benefit to a stockholder and an “interested stockholder” as a person who, together with affiliates and associates, owns, or, if such person
is an affiliate or associate of the corporation, within three years did own, 15% or more of the corporation’s outstanding voting stock.
These provisions may have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing changes in control of our Company.

Amendment of Charter Provisions

In addition to any affirmative vote of the holders of any particular class or series of the voting stock required by law or by our amended
and restated of corporation (including any certificate of designation in respect of one or more series of preferred stock), the affirmative
vote of the holders of at least sixty-six and two-thirds percent (66-2/3%) of the voting power of all of the then-outstanding shares of the
voting stock, voting together as a single class, shall be required to alter, amend or repeal certain of the provisions described above,
including with respect to our Board of Directors, stockholders, liability and indemnification, and forum selection. The provisions of
Delaware law, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws could have the effect of
discouraging others from attempting hostile takeovers and, as a consequence, they may also inhibit temporary fluctuations in the market
price of our common stock that often result from actual or rumored hostile takeover attempts. These provisions may also have the effect
of preventing changes in the composition of our board and management. It is possible that these provisions could make it more difficult
to accomplish transactions that stockholders may otherwise deem to be in their best interests.

Limitations on Liability and Indemnification of Officers and Directors

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws provide indemnification and advancement of
expenses for our directors and officers to the fullest extent permitted by the DGCL, subject to certain limited exceptions. We have
entered into separate indemnification agreements with each of our directors and our executive officers. In some cases, the provisions of
our indemnification agreements with our directors and executive officers may be broader than the specific indemnification provisions
contained under Delaware law. In addition, as permitted by Delaware law, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation includes
provisions that eliminate the personal liability of our directors for monetary damages resulting from breaches of certain fiduciary duties
as a director. The effect of this provision is to restrict our rights and the rights of our stockholders in derivative suits to recover monetary
damages against a director for breach of fiduciary duties as a director.

Choice of Forum

The Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware is the sole and exclusive forum for the following types of actions or proceedings under
Delaware statutory or common law: (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of the Company, (ii) any action asserting a
claim of breach of fiduciary duty owed by any director, officer, or other employee of the Company to the Company or our stockholders,
(iii) any action asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL, or (iv) any action asserting a claim governed by the
internal affairs doctrine.

Additionally, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation further provides that the federal courts of the United States will be the
exclusive forum for resolving any complaint asserting a cause or causes of action arising under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended or any other claim for which the federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction; and provided, further, that, if and only if the Court
of Chancery of the State of Delaware dismisses any such action for lack of subject matter jurisdiction, such action may be brought in
another state or federal court sitting in the State of Delaware. The choice of forum provisions do not preclude stockholders that assert
claims under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended from bringing such claims in state or federal court, subject to applicable law.




These provisions may result in increased costs for investors seeking to bring a claim against us or any of our directors, officers or other
employees.

Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in shares of capital stock of the Company shall be deemed to have
notice of and consented to the foregoing forum selection provisions.

Listing

Our common stock is listed on the Nasdaq Global Market under the symbol “LVLU.”




EXHIBIT 10.1

LULU’S FASHION LOUNGE HOLDINGS, INC.
OMNIBUS EQUITY PLAN

ARTICLE 1.
PURPOSE

The Plan’s purpose is to enhance the Company’s ability to attract, retain and motivate persons who make (or are
expected to make) important contributions to the Company by providing these individuals with equity ownership
opportunities.

ARTICLE II.
DEFINITIONS

As used in the Plan, the following words and phrases have the meanings specified below, unless the context clearly
indicates otherwise:

2.1 “Administrator” means the Board or a Committee to the extent that the Board’s powers or authority under
the Plan have been delegated to such Committee. With reference to the Board’s or a Committee’s powers or authority under
the Plan that have been delegated to one or more officers pursuant to Section 4.2, the term “Administrator” shall refer to
such officer(s) unless and until such delegation has been revoked.

2.2 “Applicable Law” means any applicable law, including without limitation: (a) provisions of the Code, the
Securities Act, the Exchange Act and any rules or regulations thereunder; (b) corporate, securities, tax or other laws, statutes,
rules, requirements or regulations, whether federal, state, local or foreign; and (c) rules of any securities exchange or
automated quotation system on which the Shares are listed, quoted or traded.

2.3 “Award” means an Option, Stock Appreciation Right, Restricted Stock award, Restricted Stock Unit award,
Performance Bonus Award, Performance Stock Unit award, Dividend Equivalents award or Other Stock or Cash Based
Award granted to a Participant under the Plan.

24 “Award Agreement” means an agreement evidencing an Award, which may be written or electronic, that
contains such terms and conditions as the Administrator determines, consistent with and subject to the terms and conditions
of the Plan.

2.5 “Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company.

2.6 “Cause” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term, or term of similar effect, in any offer letter,
employment, severance or similar agreement, including any Award Agreement, between the Participant and the Company;
provided, that in the absence of an offer letter, employment, severance or similar agreement containing such definition,
Cause means, with respect to a Participant, the occurrence of any of the following: (a) an act of dishonesty made by the
Participant in connection with the Participant’s responsibilities as a Service Provider; (b) the Participant’s conviction of, or
plea of nolo contendere to, a felony or any crime involving fraud, embezzlement or any other act of moral turpitude, or a
material violation of federal or state law by the Participant that the Administrator reasonably determines has had or will have
a material detrimental effect on the Company’s reputation or business; (c) the Participant’s gross misconduct; (d) the
Participant’s willful and material unauthorized use or disclosure of any proprietary information or trade secrets of the
Company or any other party to whom the Participant owes an obligation




of nondisclosure as a result of the Participant’s relationship with the Company; (e) the Participant’s willful breach of any
material obligations under any written agreement or covenant with the Company; or (f) the Participant’s continued
substantial failure to perform the Participant’s duties as a Service Provider (other than as a result of the Participant’s physical
or mental incapacity) after the Participant has received a written demand for performance that specifically sets forth the
factual basis for the determination that the Participant has not substantially performed the Participant’s duties and has failed
to cure such non-performance to the Administrator’s reasonable satisfaction within 30 business days after receiving such
notice. For purposes of this definition, no act or failure to act shall be considered willful unless it is done in bad faith and
without reasonable intent that the act or failure to act was in the best interest of the Company or required by law. Any act, or
failure to act, based upon authority or instructions given to the Participant pursuant to a direct instruction from the
Company’s chief executive officer or based on the advice of counsel for the Company will be conclusively presumed to be
done or omitted to be done by the Participant in good faith and in the best interest of the Company.

2.7 “Change in Control” means any of the following;:

(€) The consummation of a transaction or series of transactions (other than an offering of Common
Stock to the general public through a registration statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission) whereby
any “person” or related “group” of “persons” (as such terms are used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d)(2) of the Exchange Act)
directly or indirectly acquires beneficial ownership (within the meaning of Rules 13d-3 and 13d-5 under the Exchange Act)
of the Company’s securities possessing more than 50% of the total combined voting power of the Company’s securities
outstanding immediately after such acquisition; provided, however, that the following acquisitions shall not constitute a
Change in Control: (i) any acquisition by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries; (ii) any acquisition by an employee benefit
plan maintained by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, (iii) any acquisition which complies with clauses (c)(i), (c)(ii)
and (c)(iii) of this definition; or (iv) in respect of an Award held by a particular Participant, any acquisition by the Participant
or any group of persons including the Participant (or any entity controlled by the Participant or any group of persons
including the Participant);

(b) The Incumbent Directors cease for any reason to constitute a majority of the Board,;

(0 The consummation by the Company (whether directly involving the Company or indirectly
involving the Company through one or more intermediaries) of (x) a merger, consolidation, reorganization, or business
combination, (y) a sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets in any single transaction or
series of related transactions or (z) the acquisition of assets or stock of another entity, in each case other than a transaction:

(6] which results in the Company’s voting securities outstanding immediately before the
transaction continuing to represent (either by remaining outstanding or by being converted into voting securities of the
Company or the person that, as a result of the transaction, controls, directly or indirectly, the Company or owns, directly or
indirectly, all or substantially all of the Company’s assets or otherwise succeeds to the business of the Company (the
Company or such person, the “Successor Entity”)) directly or indirectly, at least a majority of the combined voting power of
the Successor Entity’s outstanding voting securities immediately after the transaction;

(ii) after which no person or group beneficially owns voting securities representing 50% or
more of the combined voting power of the Successor Entity; provided, however, that no person or group shall be treated for
purposes of this clause (c)(ii) as beneficially owning 50% or more of the combined voting power of the Successor Entity
solely as a result of the voting power held in the Company prior to the consummation of the transaction; and




(iii)  after which at least a majority of the members of the board of directors (or the analogous
governing body) of the Successor Entity were Board members at the time of the Board's approval of the execution of the
initial agreement providing for such transaction; or

(d The completion of a liquidation or dissolution of the Company.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if a Change in Control constitutes a payment event with respect to any Award (or any portion
of an Award) that provides for the deferral of compensation that is subject to Section 409A, to the extent required to avoid
the imposition of additional taxes under Section 409A, the transaction or event described in subsection (a), (b), (c) or (d) of
this definition with respect to such Award (or portion thereof) shall only constitute a Change in Control for purposes of the
payment timing of such Award if such transaction also constitutes a “change in control event,” as defined in Treasury
Regulation Section 1.409A-3(i)(5).

The Administrator shall have full and final authority, which shall be exercised in its sole discretion, to determine
conclusively whether a Change in Control has occurred pursuant to the above definition, the date of such Change in Control
and any incidental matters relating thereto; provided that any exercise of authority in conjunction with a determination of
whether a Change in Control is a “change in control event” as defined in Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-3(i)(5) shall
be consistent with such regulation.

2.8 “Code” means the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and all regulations, guidance,
compliance programs and other interpretative authority issued thereunder.

2.9 “Committee” means one or more committees or subcommittees of the Board, which may include one or
more Company directors or executive officers, to the extent permitted by Applicable Law. To the extent required to comply
with the provisions of Rule 16b-3, it is intended that each member of the Committee will be, at the time the Committee takes
any action with respect to an Award that is subject to Rule 16b-3, a “non-employee director” within the meaning of Rule
16b-3; however, a Committee member’s failure to qualify as a “non-employee director” within the meaning of Rule 16b-3
will not invalidate any Award granted by the Committee that is otherwise validly granted under the Plan.

2.10  “Common Stock” means the common stock of the Company.
2.11  “Company” means Lulu’s Fashion Lounge Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation, or any successor.
2.12  “Consultant” means any person, including any adviser, engaged by the Company or a Subsidiary to render

services to such entity if the consultant or adviser: (i) renders bona fide services to the Company or a Subsidiary; (ii) renders
services not in connection with the offer or sale of securities in a capital-raising transaction and does not directly or
indirectly promote or maintain a market for the Company’s securities; and (iii) is a natural person.

2.13  “Designated Beneficiary” means, if permitted by the Company, the beneficiary or beneficiaries the
Participant designates, in a manner the Company determines, to receive amounts due or exercise the Participant’s rights if
the Participant dies. Without a Participant’s effective designation, “Designated Beneficiary” will mean the Participant’s
estate or legal heirs.

2.14  “Director” means a Board member.

2.15  “Disability” means a permanent and total disability under Section 22(e)(3) of the Code.




2.16  “Dividend Equivalents” means a right granted to a Participant to receive the equivalent value (in cash or
Shares) of dividends paid on a specified number of Shares. Such Dividend Equivalent shall be converted to cash or
additional Shares, or a combination of cash and Shares, by such formula and at such time and subject to such limitations as
may be determined by the Administrator.

2.17  “DRO” means a “domestic relations order” as defined by the Code or Title I of the Employee Retirement
Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, or the rules thereunder.

2.18  “Effective Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 11.3.
2.19 “Employee” means any employee of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

2.20  “Equity Restructuring” means a nonreciprocal transaction between the Company and its stockholders, such
as a stock dividend, stock split (including a reverse stock split), spin-off or recapitalization through a large, nonrecurring
cash dividend, that affects the number or kind of Shares (or other Company securities) or the share price of Common Stock
(or other Company securities) and causes a change in the per share value of the Common Stock underlying outstanding
Awards.

221  “Exchange Act” means the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and all regulations,
guidance and other interpretative authority issued thereunder.

2.22  “Fair Market Value” means, as of any date, the value of a Share determined as follows: (i) if the Common
Stock is listed on any established stock exchange, the value of a Share will be the closing sales price for a Share as quoted on
such exchange for such date, or if no sale occurred on such date, the last day preceding such date during which a sale
occurred, as reported in The Wall Street Journal or another source the Administrator deems reliable; (ii) if the Common
Stock is not listed on an established stock exchange but is quoted on a national market or other quotation system, the value
of a Share will be the closing sales price for a Share on such date, or if no sales occurred on such date, then on the last date
preceding such date during which a sale occurred, as reported in The Wall Street Journal or another source the Administrator
deems reliable; or (iii) if the Common Stock is not listed on any established stock exchange or quoted on a national market
or other quotation system, the value established by the Administrator in its sole discretion. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
with respect to any Award granted on or after the effectiveness of the Company’s registration statement relating to its initial
public offering and prior to the Public Trading Date, the Fair Market Value means the initial public offering price of a Share
as set forth in the Company’s final prospectus relating to its initial public offering filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission.

2.23  “Greater Than 10% Stockholder” means an individual then owning (within the meaning of Section 424(d)
of the Code) more than 10% of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of the Company or any parent
corporation or subsidiary corporation of the Company, as determined in accordance with in Section 424(e) and (f) of the
Code, respectively.

2.24  “Incentive Stock Option” means an Option that meets the requirements to qualify as an “incentive stock
option” as defined in Section 422 of the Code.

2.25  “Incumbent Directors” means, for any period of 12 consecutive months, individuals who, at the beginning
of such period, constitute the Board together with any new Director(s) (other than a Director designated by a person who
shall have entered into an agreement with the Company to effect a transaction described in clause (a) or (c) of the Change in
Control definition) whose election or nomination for election to the Board was approved by a vote of at least a majority
(either by a specific vote or by approval of the proxy statement of the Company in which such person is named as a nominee
for Director




without objection to such nomination) of the Directors then still in office who either were Directors at the beginning of the
12-month period or whose election or nomination for election was previously so approved. No individual initially elected or
nominated as a director of the Company as a result of an actual or threatened election contest with respect to Directors or as
a result of any other actual or threatened solicitation of proxies by or on behalf of any person other than the Board shall be an
Incumbent Director.

2.26  “Non-Employee Director” means a Director who is not an Employee.

2.27  “Nonqualified Stock Option” means an Option that is not an Incentive Stock Option.

2.28  “Option” means a right granted under Article VI to purchase a specified number of Shares at a specified
price per Share during a specified time period. An Option may be either an Incentive Stock Option or a Nonqualified Stock

Option.

2.29  “Other Stock or Cash Based Awards” means cash awards, awards of Shares, and other awards valued
wholly or partially by referring to, or are otherwise based on, Shares or other property.

2.30  “Overall Share Limit’ means the sum of (i) 3,719,000 Shares; (ii) any Shares that are subject to Prior Plan
Awards that become available for issuance under the Plan pursuant to Article V; and (iii) an annual increase on the first day
of each fiscal year beginning in 2022 and ending in 2031, equal to the lesser of (A) 4% of the Shares outstanding on the last
day of the immediately preceding fiscal year and (B) such smaller number of Shares as determined by the Board or the
Committee.

2.31  “Participant” means a Service Provider who has been granted an Award.

2.32  “Performance Bonus Award” has the meaning set forth in Section 8.3.

2.33  “Performance Stock Unit” means a right granted to a Participant pursuant to Section 8.1 and subject to
Section 8.2, to receive Shares, the payment of which is contingent upon achieving certain performance goals or other
performance-based targets established by the Administrator.

2.34  “Permitted Transferee” means, with respect to a Participant, any “family member” of the Participant, as
defined in the General Instructions to Form S-8 Registration Statement under the Securities Act (or any successor form
thereto), or any other transferee specifically approved by the Administrator after taking into account Applicable Law.

2.35  “Plan” means this Lulu’s Fashion Lounge Holdings, Inc. Omnibus Equity Plan.

2.36  “Prior Plan” means the Lulu’s Fashion Lounge Holdings, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan.

2.37  “Prior Plan Award” means an award outstanding under the Prior Plan as of the Effective Date.

2.38  “Public Trading Date” means the first date upon which Common Stock is listed (or approved for listing)
upon notice of issuance on any securities exchange or designated (or approved for designation) upon notice of issuance as a

national market security on an interdealer quotation system.

2.39  “Restricted Stock” means Shares awarded to a Participant under Article VII, subject to certain vesting
conditions and other restrictions.




240  “Restricted Stock Unit” means an unfunded, unsecured right to receive, on the applicable settlement date,
one Share or an amount in cash or other consideration determined by the Administrator to be of equal value as of such
settlement date, subject to certain vesting conditions and other restrictions.

241  “Rule 16b-3” means Rule 16b-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act.
242  “Section 409A” means Section 409A of the Code.

243  “Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and all regulations, guidance and other
interpretative authority issued thereunder.

2.44  “Service Provider” means an Employee, Consultant or Director.
2.45  “Shares” means shares of Common Stock.

2.46  “Stock Appreciation Right” or “SAR” means a right granted under Article VI to receive a payment equal to
the excess of the Fair Market Value of a specified number of Shares on the date the right is exercised over the exercise price
set forth in the applicable Award Agreement.

2.47  “Subsidiary” means any entity (other than the Company), whether U.S. or non-U.S., in an unbroken chain
of entities beginning with the Company if each of the entities other than the last entity in the unbroken chain beneficially
owns, at the time of the determination, securities or interests representing at least 50% of the total combined voting power of
all classes of securities or interests in one of the other entities in such chain.

2.48  “Substitute Awards” means Awards granted or Shares issued by the Company in assumption of, or in
substitution or exchange for, awards previously granted, or the right or obligation to make future awards, in each case by a
company or other entity acquired by the Company or any Subsidiary or with which the Company or any Subsidiary
combines.

249  “Tax-Related Items” means any U.S. and non-U.S. federal, state and/or local taxes (including, without
limitation, income tax, social insurance contributions, fringe benefit tax, employment tax, stamp tax and any employer tax
liability which has been transferred to a Participant) for which a Participant is liable in connection with Awards and/or
Shares.

2.50  “Termination of Service” means:

(a) As to a Consultant, the time when the engagement of a Participant as a Consultant to the Company
or a Subsidiary is terminated for any reason, with or without Cause, including, without limitation, by resignation, discharge,
death or retirement, but excluding terminations where the Consultant simultaneously commences or remains in employment
or service with the Company or any Subsidiary.

(b) As to a Non-Employee Director, the time when a Participant who is a Non-Employee Director
ceases to be a Director for any reason, including, without limitation, a termination by resignation, failure to be elected, death
or retirement, but excluding terminations where the Participant simultaneously commences employment or service or
remains in service with the Company or any Subsidiary.

(0 As to an Employee, the time when the employee-employer relationship between a Participant and
the Company or any Subsidiary is terminated for any reason, including, without limitation, a termination by resignation,
discharge, death, disability or retirement; but excluding terminations where




the Participant simultaneously commences or remains in employment or service with the Company or any Subsidiary.

The Company, in its sole discretion, shall determine the effect of all matters and questions relating to any
Termination of Service, including, without limitation, whether a Termination of Service has occurred, whether a Termination
of Service resulted from a discharge for Cause and all questions of whether particular leaves of absence constitute a
Termination of Service. For purposes of the Plan, a Participant’s employee-employer relationship or consultancy
relationship shall be deemed to be terminated in the event that the Subsidiary employing or contracting with such Participant
ceases to remain a Subsidiary following any merger, sale of stock or other corporate transaction or event (including, without
limitation, a spin-off), even though the Participant may subsequently continue to perform services for that entity.

ARTICLE III.
ELIGIBILITY

Service Providers are eligible to be granted Awards under the Plan, subject to the limitations described herein. No
Service Provider shall have any right to be granted an Award pursuant to the Plan and neither the Company nor the
Administrator is obligated to treat Service Providers, Participants or any other persons uniformly.

ARTICLE IV.
ADMINISTRATION AND DELEGATION
4.1 Administration.
(@ The Plan is administered by the Administrator. The Administrator has authority to determine which

Service Providers receive Awards, grant Awards and set Award terms and conditions, subject to the conditions and
limitations in the Plan. The Administrator also has the authority to take all actions and make all determinations under the
Plan, to interpret the Plan and Award Agreements and to adopt, amend and repeal Plan administrative rules, guidelines and
practices as it deems advisable. The Administrator may correct defects and ambiguities, supply omissions, reconcile
inconsistencies in the Plan or any Award and make all other determinations that it deems necessary or appropriate to
administer the Plan and any Awards. The Administrator (and each member thereof) is entitled to, in good faith, rely or act
upon any report or other information furnished to it, him or her by any officer or other employee of the Company or any
Subsidiary, the Company’s independent certified public accountants, or any executive compensation consultant or other
professional retained by the Company to assist in the administration of the Plan. The Administrator’s determinations under
the Plan are in its sole discretion and will be final, binding and conclusive on all persons having or claiming any interest in
the Plan or any Award.

(b) Without limiting the foregoing, the Administrator has the exclusive power, authority and sole
discretion to: (i) designate Participants; (ii) determine the type or types of Awards to be granted to each Participant; (iii)
determine the number of Awards to be granted and the number of Shares to which an Award will relate; (iv) subject to the
limitations in the Plan, determine the terms and conditions of any Award and related Award Agreement, including, but not
limited to, the exercise price, grant price, purchase price, any performance criteria, any restrictions or limitations on the
Award, any schedule for vesting, lapse of forfeiture restrictions or restrictions on the exercisability of an Award, and
accelerations, waivers or amendments thereof; (v) determine whether, to what extent, and under what circumstances an
Award may be settled in, or the exercise price of an Award may be paid in cash, Shares, or other property, or an Award may
be canceled, forfeited, or surrendered; and (vi) make all other decisions and determinations that may be required pursuant to
the Plan or as the Administrator deems necessary or advisable to administer the Plan.




4.2 Delegation of Authority. To the extent permitted by Applicable Law, the Board or any Committee may
delegate any or all of its powers under the Plan to one or more Committees or officers of the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries; provided, however, that in no event shall an officer of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries be delegated the
authority to grant Awards to, or amend Awards held by, the following individuals: (a) individuals who are subject to Section
16 of the Exchange Act, or (b) officers of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or Directors to whom authority to grant or
amend Awards has been delegated hereunder. Any delegation hereunder shall be subject to the restrictions and limits that the
Board or Committee specifies at the time of such delegation or that are otherwise included in the applicable organizational
documents, and the Board or Committee, as applicable, may at any time rescind the authority so delegated or appoint a new
delegatee. At all times, the delegatee appointed under this Section 4.2 shall serve in such capacity at the pleasure of the
Board or the Committee, as applicable, and the Board or the Committee may abolish any committee at any time and re-vest
in itself any previously delegated authority. Further, regardless of any delegation, the Board or a Committee may, in its
discretion, exercise any and all rights and duties as the Administrator under the Plan delegated thereby, except with respect
to Awards that are required to be determined in the sole discretion of the Committee under the rules of any securities
exchange or automated quotation system on which the Shares are listed, quoted or traded.

ARTICLE V.
STOCK AVAILABLE FOR AWARDS

5.1 Number of Shares. Subject to adjustment under Article IX and the terms of this Article V, Awards may be
made under the Plan covering up to the Overall Share Limit. As of the Effective Date, the Company will cease granting
awards under the Prior Plan; however, Prior Plan Awards will remain subject to the terms of the Prior Plan. Shares issued or
delivered under the Plan may consist of authorized but unissued Shares, Shares purchased on the open market or treasury
Shares.

5.2 Share Recycling.

(a) If all or any part of an Award or Prior Plan Award expires, lapses or is terminated, converted into an
award in respect of shares of another entity in connection with a spin-off or other similar event, exchanged for cash,
surrendered, repurchased, canceled without having been fully exercised or forfeited, in any case, in a manner that results in
the Company acquiring Shares covered by the Award or Prior Plan Award at a price not greater than the price (as adjusted to
reflect any Equity Restructuring) paid by the Participant for such Shares or not issuing any Shares covered by the Award or
Prior Plan Award, the unused Shares covered by the Award or Prior Plan Award will, as applicable, become or again be
available for Awards under the Plan. The payment of Dividend Equivalents in cash in conjunction with any outstanding
Awards or Prior Plan Awards shall not count against the Overall Share Limit.

(b) In addition, the following Shares shall be available for future grants of Awards: (i) Shares tendered
by a Participant or withheld by the Company in payment of the exercise price of an Option or any stock option granted under
the Prior Plan; (ii) Shares tendered by the Participant or withheld by the Company to satisfy any tax withholding obligation
with respect to an Award or any Prior Plan Award; and (iii) Shares subject to a Stock Appreciation Right that are not issued
in connection with the stock settlement of the Stock Appreciation Right on exercise thereof. Notwithstanding the provisions
of this Section 5.2(b), no Shares may again be optioned, granted or awarded pursuant to an Incentive Stock Option if such
action would cause such Option to fail to qualify as an incentive stock option under Section 422 of the Code.

5.3 Incentive Stock Option Limitations. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, no more than
18,500,000 Shares (as adjusted to reflect any Equity Restructuring) may be issued pursuant to the exercise of Incentive
Stock Options.




54 Substitute Awards. In connection with an entity’s merger or consolidation with the Company or any
Subsidiary or the Company’s or any Subsidiary’s acquisition of an entity’s property or stock, the Administrator may grant
Awards in substitution for any options or other stock or stock-based awards granted before such merger or consolidation by
such entity or its affiliate. Substitute Awards may be granted on such terms and conditions as the Administrator deems
appropriate, notwithstanding limitations on Awards in the Plan. Substitute Awards will not count against the Overall Share
Limit (nor shall Shares subject to a Substitute Award be added to the Shares available for Awards under the Plan as provided
above), except that Shares acquired by exercise of substitute Incentive Stock Options will count against the maximum
number of Shares that may be issued pursuant to the exercise of Incentive Stock Options under the Plan. Additionally, in the
event that a company acquired by the Company or any Subsidiary or with which the Company or any Subsidiary combines
has shares available under a pre-existing plan approved by stockholders and not adopted in contemplation of such
acquisition or combination, the shares available for grant pursuant to the terms of such pre-existing plan (as appropriately
adjusted to reflect the transaction) may be used for Awards under the Plan and shall not reduce the Shares authorized for
grant under the Plan (and Shares subject to such Awards may again become available for Awards under the Plan as provided
under Section 5.2 above); provided that Awards using such available shares shall not be made after the date awards or grants
could have been made under the terms of the pre-existing plan, absent the acquisition or combination, and shall only be
made to individuals who were not Employees, Directors or Consultants prior to such acquisition or combination.

55 Non-Employee Director Award Limit. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary in the Plan or in any
policy of the Company regarding non-employee director compensation, the sum of the grant date fair value (determined as
of the grant date in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification Topic 718, or
any successor thereto) of all equity-based Awards and the maximum amount that may become payable pursuant to all cash-
based Awards that may be granted to a Service Provider as compensation for services as a Non-Employee Director during
any calendar year shall not exceed $1,500,000.

ARTICLE VL
STOCK OPTIONS AND STOCK APPRECIATION RIGHTS

6.1 General. The Administrator may grant Options or Stock Appreciation Rights to one or more Service
Providers, subject to such terms and conditions not inconsistent with the Plan as the Administrator shall determine. The
Administrator will determine the number of Shares covered by each Option and Stock Appreciation Right, the exercise price
of each Option and Stock Appreciation Right and the conditions and limitations applicable to the exercise of each Option
and Stock Appreciation Right. A Stock Appreciation Right will entitle the Participant (or other person entitled to exercise
the Stock Appreciation Right) to receive from the Company upon exercise of the exercisable portion of the Stock
Appreciation Right an amount determined by multiplying the excess, if any, of the Fair Market Value of one Share on the
date of exercise over the exercise price per Share of the Stock Appreciation Right by the number of Shares with respect to
which the Stock Appreciation Right is exercised, subject to any limitations of the Plan or that the Administrator may impose
and payable in cash, Shares valued at Fair Market Value on the date of exercise or a combination of the two as the
Administrator may determine or provide in the Award Agreement.

6.2 Exercise Price. The Administrator will establish each Option’s and Stock Appreciation Right’s exercise
price and specify the exercise price in the Award Agreement. Subject to Section 6.6, the exercise price will not be less than
100% of the Fair Market Value on the grant date of the Option or Stock Appreciation Right. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
in the case of an Option or Stock Appreciation Right that is a Substitute Award, the exercise price per share of the Shares
subject to such Option or Stock Appreciation Right, as applicable, may be less than the Fair Market Value per share on the
date of grant;




provided that the exercise price of any Substitute Award shall be determined in accordance with the applicable requirements
of Sections 424 and 409A of the Code.

6.3 Duration of Options. Subject to Section 6.6, each Option or Stock Appreciation Right will be exercisable at
such times and as specified in the Award Agreement, provided that the term of an Option or Stock Appreciation Right will
not exceed ten years; provided, further, that, unless otherwise determined by the Administrator or specified in the Award
Agreement, (a) no portion of an Option or Stock Appreciation Right which is unexercisable at a Participant’s Termination of
Service shall thereafter become exercisable and (b) the portion of an Option or Stock Appreciation Right that is
unexercisable at a Participant’s Termination of Service shall automatically expire on the date of such Termination of Service.
In addition, in no event shall an Option or Stock Appreciation Right granted to an Employee who is a non-exempt employee
for purposes of overtime pay under the U.S. Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938 be exercisable earlier than six months after its
date of grant. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Participant, prior to the end of the term of an Option or Stock
Appreciation Right, commits an act of Cause (as determined by the Administrator), or violates any non-competition, non-
solicitation or confidentiality provisions of any employment contract, confidentiality and nondisclosure agreement or other
agreement between the Participant and the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, the right to exercise the Option or Stock
Appreciation Right, as applicable, may be terminated by the Company and the Company may suspend the Participant’s right
to exercise the Option or Stock Appreciation Right when it reasonably believes that the Participant may have participated in
any such act or violation.

6.4 Exercise. Options and Stock Appreciation Rights may be exercised by delivering to the Company (or such
other person or entity designated by the Administrator) a notice of exercise, in a form and manner the Company approves
(which may be written, electronic or telephonic and may contain representations and warranties deemed advisable by the
Administrator), signed or authenticated by the person authorized to exercise the Option or Stock Appreciation Right,
together with, as applicable, (a) payment in full of the exercise price for the number of Shares for which the Option is
exercised in a manner specified in Section 6.5 and (b) satisfaction in full of any withholding obligation for Tax-Related
Items in a manner specified in Section 10.5. The Administrator may, in its discretion, limit exercise with respect to
fractional Shares and require that any partial exercise of an Option or Stock Appreciation Right be with respect to a
minimum number of Shares.

6.5 Payment Upon Exercise. The Administrator shall determine the methods by which payment of the exercise
price of an Option shall be made, including, without limitation:

(a) Cash, check or wire transfer of immediately available funds; provided that the Company may limit
the use of one of the foregoing methods if one or more of the methods below is permitted;

(b) If there is a public market for Shares at the time of exercise, unless the Company otherwise
determines, (A) delivery (including electronically or telephonically to the extent permitted by the Company) of a notice that
the Participant has placed a market sell order with a broker acceptable to the Company with respect to Shares then issuable
upon exercise of the Option and that the broker has been directed to deliver promptly to the Company funds sufficient to pay
the exercise price, or (B) the Participant’s delivery to the Company of a copy of irrevocable and unconditional instructions to
a broker acceptable to the Company to deliver promptly to the Company an amount sufficient to pay the exercise price by
cash, wire transfer of immediately available funds or check; provided that such amount is paid to the Company at such time
as may be required by the Company;

(@] To the extent permitted by the Administrator, delivery (either by actual delivery or attestation) of
Shares owned by the Participant valued at their Fair Market Value on the date of delivery;
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(d) To the extent permitted by the Administrator, surrendering Shares then issuable upon the Option’s
exercise valued at their Fair Market Value on the exercise date;

(e) To the extent permitted by the Administrator, delivery of a promissory note or any other lawful
consideration; or

® To the extent permitted by the Administrator, any combination of the above payment forms.

6.6 Additional Terms of Incentive Stock Options. The Administrator may grant Incentive Stock Options only to
employees of the Company, any of its present or future parent or subsidiary corporations, as defined in Sections 424(e) or (f)
of the Code, respectively, and any other entities the employees of which are eligible to receive Incentive Stock Options
under the Code. If an Incentive Stock Option is granted to a Greater Than 10% Stockholder, the exercise price will not be
less than 110% of the Fair Market Value on the Option’s grant date, and the term of the Option will not exceed five years.

All Incentive Stock Options (and Award Agreements related thereto) will be subject to and construed consistently with
Section 422 of the Code. By accepting an Incentive Stock Option, the Participant agrees to give prompt notice to the
Company of dispositions or other transfers (other than in connection with a Change in Control) of Shares acquired under the
Option made within (a) two years from the grant date of the Option or (b) one year after the transfer of such Shares to the
Participant, specifying the date of the disposition or other transfer and the amount the Participant realized, in cash, other
property, assumption of indebtedness or other consideration, in such disposition or other transfer. Neither the Company nor
the Administrator will be liable to a Participant, or any other party, if an Incentive Stock Option fails or ceases to qualify as
an “incentive stock option” under Section 422 of the Code. Any Incentive Stock Option or portion thereof that fails to
qualify as an “incentive stock option” under Section 422 of the Code for any reason, including becoming exercisable with
respect to Shares having a fair market value exceeding the $100,000 limitation under Treasury Regulation Section 1.422-4,
will be a Nonqualified Stock Option.

ARTICLE VIIL
RESTRICTED STOCK; RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS

7.1 General. The Administrator may grant Restricted Stock, or the right to purchase Restricted Stock, to any
Service Provider, subject to forfeiture or the Company’s right to repurchase all or part of such shares at their issue price or
other stated or formula price from the Participant if conditions the Administrator specifies in the Award Agreement are not
satisfied before the end of the applicable restriction period or periods that the Administrator establishes for such Award. In
addition, the Administrator may grant Restricted Stock Units, which may be subject to vesting and forfeiture conditions
during the applicable restriction period or periods, as set forth in an Award Agreement, to Service Providers. The
Administrator shall establish the purchase price, if any, and form of payment for Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock
Units; provided, however, that if a purchase price is charged, such purchase price shall be no less than the par value, if any,
of the Shares to be purchased, unless otherwise permitted by Applicable Law. In all cases, legal consideration shall be
required for each issuance of Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units to the extent required by Applicable Law. The
Award Agreement for each Award of Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units shall set forth the terms and conditions not
inconsistent with the Plan as the Administrator shall determine.

7.2 Restricted Stock.
(a) Stockholder Rights. Unless otherwise determined by the Administrator, each Participant holding

shares of Restricted Stock will be entitled to all the rights of a stockholder with respect to such Shares, subject to the
restrictions in the Plan and the applicable Award Agreement, including the
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right to receive all dividends and other distributions paid or made with respect to the Shares to the extent such dividends and
other distributions have a record date that is on or after the date on which such Participant becomes the record holder of such
Shares; provided, however, that with respect to a share of Restricted Stock subject to restrictions or vesting conditions,
except in connection with a spin-off or other similar event as otherwise permitted under Section 9.2, dividends which are
paid to Company stockholders prior to the removal of restrictions and satisfaction of vesting conditions shall only be paid to
the Participant to the extent that the restrictions are subsequently removed and the vesting conditions are subsequently
satisfied and the share of Restricted Stock vests.

(b) Stock Certificates. The Company may require that the Participant deposit in escrow with the
Company (or its designee) any stock certificates issued in respect of shares of Restricted Stock, together with a stock power
endorsed in blank.

(© Section 83(b) Election. If a Participant makes an election under Section 83(b) of the Code to be
taxed with respect to the Restricted Stock as of the date of transfer of the Restricted Stock rather than as of the date or dates
upon which such Participant would otherwise be taxable under Section 83(a) of the Code, such Participant shall be required
to deliver a copy of such election to the Company promptly after filing such election with the Internal Revenue Service
along with proof of the timely filing thereof.

7.3 Restricted Stock Units. The Administrator may provide that settlement of Restricted Stock Units will occur
upon or as soon as reasonably practicable after the Restricted Stock Units vest or will instead be deferred, on a mandatory
basis or at the Participant’s election, subject to compliance with Applicable Law.

ARTICLE VIIIL.
OTHER TYPES OF AWARDS

8.1 General. The Administrator may grant Performance Stock Unit awards, Performance Bonus Awards,
Dividend Equivalents or Other Stock or Cash Based Awards, to one or more Service Providers, in such amounts and subject
to such terms and conditions not inconsistent with the Plan as the Administrator shall determine.

8.2 Performance Stock Unit Awards. Each Performance Stock Unit award shall be denominated in a number of
Shares or in unit equivalents of Shares or units of value (including a dollar value of Shares) and may be linked to any one or
more of performance or other specific criteria, including service to the Company or Subsidiaries, determined to be
appropriate by the Administrator, in each case on a specified date or dates or over any period or periods determined by the
Administrator. In making such determinations, the Administrator may consider (among such other factors as it deems
relevant in light of the specific type of award) the contributions, responsibilities and other compensation of the particular
Participant.

8.3 Performance Bonus Awards. Each right to receive a bonus granted under this Section 8.3 shall be
denominated in the form of cash (but may be payable in cash, stock or a combination thereof) (a “Performance Bonus
Award”) and shall be payable upon the attainment of performance goals that are established by the Administrator and relate
to one or more of performance or other specific criteria, including service to the Company or Subsidiaries, in each case on a
specified date or dates or over any period or periods determined by the Administrator.

8.4 Dividend Equivalents. If the Administrator provides, an Award (other than an Option or Stock Appreciation
Right) may provide a Participant with the right to receive Dividend Equivalents.
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Dividend Equivalents may be paid currently or credited to an account for the Participant, settled in cash or Shares and
subject to the same restrictions on transferability and forfeitability as the Award with respect to which the Dividend
Equivalents are granted and subject to other terms and conditions as set forth in the Award Agreement. Notwithstanding
anything to the contrary herein, Dividend Equivalents with respect to an Award subject to vesting shall either (i) to the extent
permitted by Applicable Law, not be paid or credited or (ii) be accumulated and subject to vesting to the same extent as the
related Award. All such Dividend Equivalents shall be paid at such time as the Administrator shall specify in the applicable
Award Agreement.

8.5 Other Stock or Cash Based Awards. Other Stock or Cash Based Awards may be granted to Participants,
including Awards entitling Participants to receive cash or Shares to be delivered in the future and annual or other periodic or
long-term cash bonus awards (whether based on specified performance criteria or otherwise), in each case subject to any
conditions and limitations in the Plan. Such Other Stock or Cash Based Awards will also be available as a payment form in
the settlement of other Awards, as standalone payments and as payment in lieu of compensation to which a Participant is
otherwise entitled. Other Stock or Cash Based Awards may be paid in Shares, cash or other property, as the Administrator
determines. Subject to the provisions of the Plan, the Administrator will determine the terms and conditions of each Other
Stock or Cash Based Award, including any purchase price, performance goal(s), transfer restrictions, and vesting conditions,
which will be set forth in the applicable Award Agreement. Except in connection with a spin-off or other similar event as
otherwise permitted under Article IX, dividends that are paid prior to vesting of any Other Stock or Cash Based Award shall
only be paid to the applicable Participant to the extent that the vesting conditions are subsequently satisfied and the Other
Stock or Cash Based Award vests.

ARTICLE IX.
ADJUSTMENTS FOR CHANGES IN COMMON STOCK
AND CERTAIN OTHER EVENTS

9.1 Equity_Restructuring(a) . In connection with any Equity Restructuring, notwithstanding anything to the
contrary in this Article IX, the Administrator will equitably adjust the terms of the Plan and each outstanding Award as it
deems appropriate to reflect the Equity Restructuring, which may include (i) adjusting the number and type of securities
subject to each outstanding Award or with respect to which Awards may be granted under the Plan (including, but not
limited to, adjustments of the limitations in Article V hereof on the maximum number and kind of shares that may be
issued); (ii) adjusting the terms and conditions of (including the grant or exercise price), and the performance goals or other
criteria included in, outstanding Awards; and (iii) granting new Awards or making cash payments to Participants. The
adjustments provided under this Section 9.1 will be nondiscretionary and final and binding on all interested parties,
including the affected Participant and the Company; provided that the Administrator will determine whether an adjustment is
equitable.

9.2 Corporate Transactions. In the event of any dividend or other distribution (whether in the form of cash,
Common Stock, other securities, or other property), reorganization, merger, consolidation, split-up, spin off, combination,
amalgamation, repurchase, recapitalization, liquidation, dissolution, or sale, transfer, exchange or other disposition of all or
substantially all of the assets of the Company, or sale or exchange of Common Stock or other securities of the Company,
Change in Control, issuance of warrants or other rights to purchase Common Stock or other securities of the Company, other
similar corporate transaction or event, other unusual or nonrecurring transaction or event affecting the Company or its
financial statements or any change in any Applicable Law or accounting principles, the Administrator, on such terms and
conditions as it deems appropriate, either by the terms of the Award or by action taken prior to the occurrence of such
transaction or event (except that action to give effect to a change in Applicable Law or accounting principles may be made
within a reasonable period of time after such change) and either
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automatically or upon the Participant’s request, is hereby authorized to take any one or more of the following actions
whenever the Administrator determines that such action is appropriate in order to (x) prevent dilution or enlargement of the
benefits or potential benefits intended by the Company to be made available under the Plan or with respect to any Award
granted or issued under the Plan, (y) to facilitate such transaction or event or (z) give effect to such changes in Applicable
Law or accounting principles:

(@ To provide for the cancellation of any such Award in exchange for either an amount of cash or other
property with a value equal to the amount that could have been obtained upon the exercise or settlement of the vested portion
of such Award or realization of the Participant’s rights under the vested portion of such Award, as applicable; provided that,
if the amount that could have been obtained upon the exercise or settlement of the vested portion of such Award or
realization of the Participant’s rights, in any case, is equal to or less than zero, then the Award may be terminated without
payment;

(b) To provide that such Award shall vest and, to the extent applicable, be exercisable as to all Shares
(or other property) covered thereby, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Plan or the provisions of such Award,

(© To provide that such Award be assumed by the successor or survivor corporation or entity, or a
parent or subsidiary thereof, or shall be substituted for by awards covering the stock of the successor or survivor corporation
or entity, or a parent or subsidiary thereof, with appropriate adjustments as to the number and kind of shares and applicable
exercise or purchase price, in all cases, as determined by the Administrator;

(d) To make adjustments in the number and type of shares of Common Stock (or other securities or
property) subject to outstanding Awards or with respect to which Awards may be granted under the Plan (including, but not
limited to, adjustments of the limitations in Article V hereof on the maximum number and kind of shares which may be
issued) or in the terms and conditions of (including the grant or exercise price), and the criteria included in, outstanding
Awards;

(e) To replace such Award with other rights or property selected by the Administrator; or

(f) To provide that the Award will terminate and cannot vest, be exercised or become payable after the
applicable event.

9.3 Change in Control.

(@ Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan, in the event of a Change in Control, unless the
Administrator elects to (i) terminate an Award in exchange for cash, rights or property, or (ii) cause an Award to become
fully exercisable and no longer subject to any forfeiture restrictions prior to the consummation of a Change in Control,
pursuant to Section 9.2, (A) such Award (other than any portion subject to performance-based vesting) shall continue in
effect or be assumed or an equivalent Award substituted by the successor corporation or a parent or subsidiary of the
successor corporation and (B) the portion of such Award subject to performance-based vesting shall be subject to the terms
and conditions of the applicable Award Agreement and, in the absence of applicable terms and conditions, the
Administrator’s discretion.

(b) In the event that the successor corporation in a Change in Control refuses to assume or substitute for
an Award (other than any portion subject to performance-based vesting), the Administrator shall cause such Award to
become fully vested and, if applicable, exercisable immediately prior to the consummation of such transaction and all
forfeiture restrictions on such Award to lapse and, to the extent
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unexercised upon the consummation of such transaction, to terminate in exchange for cash, rights or other property. The
Administrator shall notify the Participant of any Award that becomes exercisable pursuant to the preceding sentence that
such Award shall be fully exercisable for a period of 15 days from the date of such notice, contingent upon the
consummation of the Change in Control, and such Award shall terminate upon the consummation of the Change in Control
in accordance with the preceding sentence.

(@) For the purposes of this Section 9.3, an Award shall be considered assumed if, following the Change
in Control, the Award confers the right to purchase or receive, for each Share subject to the Award immediately prior to the
Change in Control, the consideration (whether stock, cash, or other securities or property) received in the Change in Control
by holders of Common Stock for each Share held on the effective date of the transaction (and if holders were offered a
choice of consideration, the type of consideration chosen by the holders of a majority of the outstanding Shares); provided,
however, that if such consideration received in the Change in Control was not solely common stock of the successor
corporation or its parent, the Administrator may, with the consent of the successor corporation, provide for the consideration
to be received upon the exercise of the Award, for each Share subject to an Award, to be solely common stock of the
successor corporation or its parent equal in fair market value to the per-share consideration received by holders of Common
Stock in the Change in Control.

9.4 Administrative Stand Still. In the event of any pending stock dividend, stock split, combination or exchange
of shares, merger, consolidation or other distribution (other than normal cash dividends) of Company assets to stockholders,
or any other extraordinary transaction or change affecting the Shares or the share price of Common Stock (including any
Equity Restructuring or any securities offering or other similar transaction) or for reasons of administrative convenience or
to facilitate compliance with any Applicable Law, the Company may refuse to permit the exercise or settlement of one or
more Awards for such period of time as the Administrator may determine to be reasonably appropriate under the
circumstances.

9.5 General. Except as expressly provided in the Plan or the Administrator’s action under the Plan, no
Participant will have any rights due to any subdivision or consolidation of Shares of any class, dividend payment, increase or
decrease in the number of Shares of any class or dissolution, liquidation, merger, or consolidation of the Company or other
corporation. Except as expressly provided with respect to an Equity Restructuring under Section 9.1 above or the
Administrator’s action under the Plan, no issuance by the Company of Shares of any class, or securities convertible into
Shares of any class, will affect, and no adjustment will be made regarding, the number of Shares subject to an Award or the
Award’s grant or exercise price. The existence of the Plan, any Award Agreements and the Awards granted hereunder will
not affect or restrict in any way the Company’s right or power to make or authorize (i) any adjustment, recapitalization,
reorganization or other change in the Company’s capital structure or its business, (ii) any merger, consolidation, spinoff,
dissolution or liquidation of the Company or sale of Company assets or (iii) any sale or issuance of securities, including
securities with rights superior to those of the Shares or securities convertible into or exchangeable for Shares.

ARTICLE X.
PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO AWARDS

10.1  Transferability.

(@ No Award may be sold, assigned, transferred, pledged or otherwise encumbered, either voluntarily
or by operation of law, except by will or the laws of descent and distribution, or, subject to the Administrator’s consent,
pursuant to a DRO, unless and until such Award has been exercised or the Shares underlying such Award have been issued,
and all restrictions applicable to such Shares have lapsed. During the life of a Participant, Awards will be exercisable only
by the Participant, unless it has been
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disposed of pursuant to a DRO. After the death of a Participant, any exercisable portion of an Award may, prior to the time
when such portion becomes unexercisable under the Plan or the applicable Award Agreement, be exercised by the
Participant’s personal representative or by any person empowered to do so under the deceased Participant’s will or under the
then-Applicable Law of descent and distribution. References to a Participant, to the extent relevant in the context, will
include references to a transferee approved by the Administrator.

(b) Notwithstanding Section 10.1(a), the Administrator, in its sole discretion, may determine to permit a
Participant or a Permitted Transferee of such Participant to transfer an Award other than an Incentive Stock Option (unless
such Incentive Stock Option is intended to become a Nonqualified Stock Option) to any one or more Permitted Transferees
of such Participant, subject to the following terms and conditions: (i) an Award transferred to a Permitted Transferee shall
not be assignable or transferable by the Permitted Transferee other than (A) to another Permitted Transferee of the applicable
Participant or (B) by will or the laws of descent and distribution or, subject to the consent of the Administrator, pursuant to a
domestic relations order; (ii) an Award transferred to a Permitted Transferee shall continue to be subject to all the terms and
conditions of the Award as applicable to the original Participant (other than the ability to further transfer the Award to any
Person other than another Permitted Transferee of the applicable Participant); (iii) the Participant (or transferring Permitted
Transferee) and the receiving Permitted Transferee shall execute any and all documents requested by the Administrator,
including, without limitation documents to (A) confirm the status of the transferee as a Permitted Transferee, (B) satisfy any
requirements for an exemption for the transfer under Applicable Law and (C) evidence the transfer; and (iv) any transfer of
an Award to a Permitted Transferee shall be without consideration, except as required by Applicable Law. In addition, and
further notwithstanding Section 10.1(a), the Administrator, in its sole discretion, may determine to permit a Participant to
transfer Incentive Stock Options to a trust that constitutes a Permitted Transferee if, under Section 671 of the Code and other
Applicable Law, the Participant is considered the sole beneficial owner of the Incentive Stock Option while it is held in the
trust.

(0 Notwithstanding Section 10.1(a), if permitted by the Administrator, a Participant may, in the manner
determined by the Administrator, designate a Designated Beneficiary. A Designated Beneficiary, legal guardian, legal
representative, or other person claiming any rights pursuant to the Plan is subject to all terms and conditions of the Plan and
any Award Agreement applicable to the Participant and any additional restrictions deemed necessary or appropriate by the
Administrator. If the Participant is married or a domestic partner in a domestic partnership qualified under Applicable Law
and resides in a community property state, a designation of a person other than the Participant’s spouse or domestic partner,
as applicable, as the Participant’s Designated Beneficiary with respect to more than 50% of the Participant’s interest in the
Award shall not be effective without the prior written or electronic consent of the Participant’s spouse or domestic partner.
Subject to the foregoing, a beneficiary designation may be changed or revoked by a Participant at any time; provided that the
change or revocation is delivered in writing to the Administrator prior to the Participant’s death.

10.2  Documentation. Each Award will be evidenced in an Award Agreement in such form as the Administrator
determines in its discretion. Each Award may contain such terms and conditions as are determined by the Administrator in
its sole discretion, to the extent not inconsistent with those set forth in the Plan.

10.3  Discretion. Except as the Plan otherwise provides, each Award may be made alone or in addition or in
relation to any other Award. The terms of each Award to a Participant need not be identical, and the Administrator need not

treat Participants or Awards (or portions thereof) uniformly.

10.4  Changes in Participant’s Status. The Administrator will determine how the disability, death, retirement,
authorized leave of absence or any other change or purported change in a Participant’s
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Service Provider status affects an Award and the extent to which, and the period during which, the Participant, the
Participant’s legal representative, conservator, guardian or Designated Beneficiary may exercise rights under the Award, if
applicable. Except to the extent otherwise required by Applicable Law or expressly authorized by the Company or by the
Company’s written policy on leaves of absence, no service credit shall be given for vesting purposes for any period the
Participant is on a leave of absence.

10.5  Withholding. Each Participant must pay the Company or a Subsidiary, as applicable, or make provision
satisfactory to the Administrator for payment of, any Tax-Related Items required by Applicable Law to be withheld in
connection with such Participant’s Awards and/or Shares by the date of the event creating the liability for Tax-Related Items.
At the Company’s discretion and subject to any Company insider trading policy (including black-out periods), any
withholding obligation for Tax-Related Items may be satisfied by (i) deducting an amount sufficient to satisfy such
withholding obligation from any payment of any kind otherwise due to a Participant; (ii) accepting a payment from the
Participant in cash, by wire transfer of immediately available funds, or by check made payable to the order of the Company
or a Subsidiary, as applicable; (iii) accepting the delivery of Shares, including Shares delivered by attestation; (iv) retaining
Shares from the Award creating the withholding obligation for Tax-Related Items, valued on the date of delivery, (v) if there
is a public market for Shares at the time the withholding obligation for Tax-Related Items is satisfied, selling Shares issued
pursuant to the Award creating the withholding obligation for Tax-Related Items, either voluntarily by the Participant or
mandatorily by the Company; (vi) accepting delivery of a promissory note or any other lawful consideration; or (vii) any
combination of the foregoing payment forms. The amount withheld pursuant to any of the foregoing payment forms shall be
determined by the Company and may be up to, but no greater than, the aggregate amount of such obligations based on the
maximum statutory withholding rates in the applicable Participant’s jurisdiction for all Tax-Related Items that are applicable
to such taxable income. If any tax withholding obligation will be satisfied under clause (v) of the preceding paragraph, each
Participant’s acceptance of an Award under the Plan will constitute the Participant’s authorization to the Company and
instruction and authorization to any brokerage firm selected by the Company to effect the sale to complete the transactions
described in clause (v).

10.6 Amendment of Award; Repricing. The Administrator may amend, modify or terminate any outstanding
Award, including by substituting another Award of the same or a different type, changing the exercise or settlement date, and
converting an Incentive Stock Option to a Nonqualified Stock Option. The Participant’s consent to such action will be
required unless (i) the action, taking into account any related action, does not materially and adversely affect the
Participant’s rights under the Award, or (ii) the change is permitted under Article IX or pursuant to Section 11.6. In addition,
the Administrator shall, without the approval of the stockholders of the Company, have the authority to (a) amend any
outstanding Option or Stock Appreciation Right to reduce its exercise price per Share, or (b) cancel any Option or Stock
Appreciation Right in exchange for cash or another Award.

10.7  Conditions on Delivery of Stock. The Company will not be obligated to deliver any Shares under the Plan
or remove restrictions from Shares previously delivered under the Plan until (i) all Award conditions have been met or
removed to the Company’s satisfaction, (ii) as determined by the Company, all other legal matters regarding the issuance and
delivery of such Shares have been satisfied, including, without limitation, any applicable securities laws and stock exchange
or stock market rules and regulations, (iii) any approvals from governmental agencies that the Company determines are
necessary or advisable have been obtained, and (iv) the Participant has executed and delivered to the Company such
representations or agreements as the Administrator deems necessary or appropriate to satisfy Applicable Law. The inability
or impracticability of the Company to obtain or maintain authority from any regulatory body having jurisdiction, which
authority is deemed by the Company’s counsel to be necessary to the lawful issuance and sale of any Shares hereunder, shall
relieve the Company of any liability in respect of the failure to issue or sell such Shares as to which such requisite authority
shall not have been obtained, and shall
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constitute circumstances in which the Administrator may determine to amend or cancel Awards pertaining to such Shares,
with or without consideration to the Participant.

10.8  Acceleration. The Administrator may at any time provide that any Award will become immediately vested
and fully or partially exercisable, free of some or all restrictions or conditions, or otherwise fully or partially realizable.

ARTICLE XI.
MISCELLANEOUS

11.1  No Right to Employment or Other Status. No person will have any claim or right to be granted an Award,
and the grant of an Award will not be construed as giving a Participant the right to continue employment or any other
relationship with the Company or a Subsidiary. The Company and its Subsidiaries expressly reserve the right at any time to
dismiss or otherwise terminate its relationship with a Participant free from any liability or claim under the Plan or any
Award, except as expressly provided in an Award Agreement or other written agreement between the Participant and the
Company or any Subsidiary.

11.2  No Rights as Stockholder;_Certificates. Subject to the Award Agreement, no Participant or Designated
Beneficiary will have any rights as a stockholder with respect to any Shares to be distributed under an Award until becoming
the record holder of such Shares. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan, unless the Administrator otherwise
determines or Applicable Law requires, the Company will not be required to deliver to any Participant certificates
evidencing Shares issued in connection with any Award and instead such Shares may be recorded in the books of the
Company (or, as applicable, its transfer agent or stock plan administrator). The Company may place legends on any share
certificate or book entry to reference restrictions applicable to the Shares (including, without limitation, restrictions
applicable to Restricted Stock).

11.3  Effective Date. The Plan will become effective on the date immediately prior to the date the Company’s
registration statement relating to the initial public offering of its Common Stock becomes effective (the “Effective Date”).
No Incentive Stock Option may be granted pursuant to the Plan after the tenth anniversary of the earlier of (i) the date the
Plan was approved by the Board and (ii) the date the Plan was approved by the Company’s stockholders.

11.4  Amendment of Plan. The Board may amend, suspend or terminate the Plan at any time and from time to
time; provided that (a) no amendment requiring stockholder approval to comply with Applicable Law shall be effective
unless approved by the Board, and (b) no amendment, other than an increase to the Overall Share Limit or pursuant to
Article IX or Section 11.6, may materially and adversely affect any Award outstanding at the time of such amendment
without the affected Participant’s consent. No Awards may be granted under the Plan during any suspension period or after
Plan termination. Awards outstanding at the time of any Plan suspension or termination will continue to be governed by the
Plan and the Award Agreement, as in effect before such suspension or termination. The Board will obtain stockholder
approval of any Plan amendment to the extent necessary to comply with Applicable Law.

11.5  Provisions for Foreign Participants. The Administrator may modify Awards granted to Participants who are
nationals of a country other than the United States or employed or residing outside the United States, establish subplans or
procedures under the Plan or take any other necessary or appropriate action to address Applicable Law, including (a)
differences in laws, rules, regulations or customs of such jurisdictions with respect to tax, securities, currency, employee
benefit or other matters, (b) listing and other requirements of any non-U.S. securities exchange, and (c) any necessary local
governmental or regulatory exemptions or approvals.
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11.6 Section 409A.

(a) General. The Company intends that all Awards be structured to comply with, or be exempt from,
Section 409A, such that no adverse tax consequences, interest, or penalties under Section 409A apply. Notwithstanding
anything in the Plan or any Award Agreement to the contrary, the Administrator may, without a Participant’s consent, amend
this Plan or Awards, adopt policies and procedures, or take any other actions (including amendments, policies, procedures
and retroactive actions) as are necessary or appropriate to preserve the intended tax treatment of Awards, including any such
actions intended to (A) exempt this Plan or any Award from Section 409A, or (B) comply with Section 409A, including
regulations, guidance, compliance programs and other interpretative authority that may be issued after an Award’s grant date.
The Company makes no representations or warranties as to an Award’s tax treatment under Section 409A or otherwise. The
Company will have no obligation under this Section 11.6 or otherwise to avoid the taxes, penalties or interest under
Section 409A with respect to any Award and will have no liability to any Participant or any other person if any Award,
compensation or other benefits under the Plan are determined to constitute noncompliant “nonqualified deferred
compensation” subject to taxes, penalties or interest under Section 409A.

(b) Separation from Service. If an Award constitutes “nonqualified deferred compensation” under
Section 409A, any payment or settlement of such Award upon a Participant’s Termination of Service will, to the extent
necessary to avoid taxes under Section 409A, be made only upon the Participant’s “separation from service” (within the
meaning of Section 409A), whether such “separation from service” occurs upon or after the Participant’s Termination of
Service. For purposes of this Plan or any Award Agreement relating to any such payments or benefits, references to a
“termination,” “termination of employment” or like terms means a “separation from service.”

(o) Payments to Specified Employees. Notwithstanding any contrary provision in the Plan or any
Award Agreement, any payment(s) of “nonqualified deferred compensation” required to be made under an Award to a
“specified employee” (as defined under Section 409A and as the Administrator determines) due to his or her “separation
from service” will, to the extent necessary to avoid taxes under Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i) of the Code, be delayed for the six-
month period immediately following such “separation from service” (or, if earlier, until the specified employee’s death) and
will instead be paid (as set forth in the Award Agreement) on the day immediately following such six-month period or as
soon as administratively practicable thereafter (without interest). Any payments of “nonqualified deferred compensation”
under such Award payable more than six months following the Participant’s “separation from service” will be paid at the
time or times the payments are otherwise scheduled to be made.

11.7  Limitations on Liability. Notwithstanding any other provisions of the Plan, no individual acting as a
director, officer or other employee of the Company or any Subsidiary will be liable to any Participant, former Participant,
spouse, beneficiary, or any other person for any claim, loss, liability, or expense incurred in connection with the Plan or any
Award, and such individual will not be personally liable with respect to the Plan because of any contract or other instrument
executed in his or her capacity as an Administrator, director, officer or other employee of the Company or any Subsidiary.
The Company will indemnify and hold harmless each director, officer or other employee of the Company or any Subsidiary
that has been or will be granted or delegated any duty or power relating to the Plan’s administration or interpretation, against
any cost or expense (including attorneys’ fees) or liability (including any sum paid in settlement of a claim with the
Administrator’s approval) arising from any act or omission concerning this Plan unless arising from such person’s own fraud
or bad faith; provided that he or she gives the Company an opportunity, at its own expense, to handle and defend the same
before he or she undertakes to handle and defend it on his or her own behalf.
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11.8  Data Privacy. As a condition for receiving any Award, each Participant explicitly and unambiguously
consents to the collection, use and transfer, in electronic or other form, of personal data as described in this Section 11.8 by
and among the Company and its Subsidiaries and affiliates exclusively for implementing, administering and managing the
Participant’s participation in the Plan. The Company and its Subsidiaries and affiliates may hold certain personal
information about a Participant, including the Participant’s name, address and telephone number; birthdate; social security,
insurance number or other identification number; salary; nationality; job title(s); any Shares held in the Company or its
Subsidiaries and affiliates; and Award details, to implement, manage and administer the Plan and Awards (the “Data”). The
Company and its Subsidiaries and affiliates may transfer the Data amongst themselves as necessary to implement, administer
and manage a Participant’s participation in the Plan, and the Company and its Subsidiaries and affiliates may transfer the
Data to third parties assisting the Company with Plan implementation, administration and management. These recipients
may be located in the Participant’s country, or elsewhere, and the Participant’s country may have different data privacy laws
and protections than the recipients’ country. By accepting an Award, each Participant authorizes such recipients to receive,
possess, use, retain and transfer the Data, in electronic or other form, to implement, administer and manage the Participant’s
participation in the Plan, including any required Data transfer to a broker or other third party with whom the Company or the
Participant may elect to deposit any Shares. The Data related to a Participant will be held only as long as necessary to
implement, administer, and manage the Participant’s participation in the Plan. A Participant may, at any time, view the Data
that the Company holds regarding such Participant, request additional information about the storage and processing of the
Data regarding such Participant, recommend any necessary corrections to the Data regarding the Participant or refuse or
withdraw the consents in this Section 11.8 in writing, without cost, by contacting the local human resources representative.

The Company may cancel Participant’s ability to participate in the Plan and, in the Administrator’s sole discretion, the
Participant may forfeit any outstanding Awards if the Participant refuses or withdraws the consents in this Section 11.8. For
more information on the consequences of refusing or withdrawing consent, Participants may contact their local human
resources representative.

11.9  Severability. If any portion of the Plan or any action taken under it is held illegal or invalid for any reason,
the illegality or invalidity will not affect the remaining parts of the Plan, and the Plan will be construed and enforced as if the
illegal or invalid provisions had been excluded, and the illegal or invalid action will be null and void.

11.10 Governing Documents. If any contradiction occurs between the Plan and any Award Agreement or other
written agreement between a Participant and the Company (or any Subsidiary), the Plan will govern, unless such Award
Agreement or other written agreement was approved by the Administrator and expressly provides that a specific provision of
the Plan will not apply.

11.11 Governing Law. The Plan and all Awards will be governed by and interpreted in accordance with the laws
of the State of Delaware, without regard to the conflict of law rules thereof or of any other jurisdiction.

11.12 Clawback Provisions. All Awards (including the gross amount of any proceeds, gains or other economic
benefit the Participant actually or constructively receives upon receipt or exercise of any Award or the receipt or resale of
any Shares underlying the Award) will be subject to recoupment by the Company to the extent required to comply with
Applicable Law or any policy of the Company providing for the reimbursement of incentive compensation, whether or not
such policy was in place at the time of grant of an Award.

11.13 Titles and Headings. The titles and headings in the Plan are for convenience of reference only and, if any
conflict, the Plan’s text, rather than such titles or headings, will control.
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11.14 Conformity to Applicable Law. Participant acknowledges that the Plan is intended to conform to the extent
necessary with Applicable Law. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Plan and all Awards will be
administered only in a manner intended to conform with Applicable Law. To the extent Applicable Law permits, the Plan
and all Award Agreements will be deemed amended as necessary to conform to Applicable Law.

11.15 Relationship to Other Benefits. No payment under the Plan will be taken into account in determining any
benefits under any pension, retirement, savings, profit sharing, group insurance, welfare or other benefit plan of the
Company or any Subsidiary, except as expressly provided in writing in such other plan or an agreement thereunder.

11.16 Unfunded Status of Awards. The Plan is intended to be an “unfunded” plan for incentive compensation.
With respect to any payments not yet made to a Participant pursuant to an Award, nothing contained in the Plan or Award
Agreement shall give the Participant any rights that are greater than those of a general creditor of the Company or any
Subsidiary.

11.17 Limitations Applicable to Section 16 Persons. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan, the Plan and
any Award granted or awarded to any individual who is then subject to Section 16 of the Exchange Act shall be subject to
any additional limitations set forth in any applicable exemptive rule under Section 16 of the Exchange Act (including Rule
16b-3 of the Exchange Act and any amendments thereto) that are requirements for the application of such exemptive rule. To
the extent permitted by Applicable Law, the Plan and Awards granted or awarded hereunder shall be deemed amended to the
extent necessary to conform to such applicable exemptive rule.

11.18 Prohibition on Executive Officer Loans. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan to the contrary, no
Participant who is a Director or an “executive officer” of the Company within the meaning of Section 13(k) of the Exchange
Act shall be permitted to make payment with respect to any Awards granted under the Plan, or continue any extension of
credit with respect to such payment, with a loan from the Company or a loan arranged by the Company in violation of
Section 13(k) of the Exchange Act.

11.19 Broker-Assisted Sales. In the event of a broker-assisted sale of Shares in connection with the payment of
amounts owed by a Participant under or with respect to the Plan or Awards, including amounts to be paid under the final
sentence of Section 10.5: (a) any Shares to be sold through the broker-assisted sale will be sold on the day the payment first
becomes due, or as soon thereafter as practicable; (b) such Shares may be sold as part of a block trade with other Participants
in the Plan in which all Participants receive an average price; (c) the applicable Participant will be responsible for all
broker’s fees and other costs of sale, and by accepting an Award, each Participant agrees to indemnify and hold the Company
harmless from any losses, costs, damages, or expenses relating to any such sale; (d) to the extent the Company or its
designee receives proceeds of such sale that exceed the amount owed, the Company will pay such excess in cash to the
applicable Participant as soon as reasonably practicable; (e) the Company and its designees are under no obligation to
arrange for such sale at any particular price; and (f) in the event the proceeds of such sale are insufficient to satisfy the
Participant’s applicable obligation, the Participant may be required to pay immediately upon demand to the Company or its
designee an amount in cash sufficient to satisfy any remaining portion of the Participant’s obligation.

*® *® *® *® *®
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LULU’S FASHION LOUNGE HOLDINGS, INC.
OMNIBUS EQUITY PLAN
STOCK OPTION GRANT NOTICE

Lulu’s Fashion Lounge Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation, (the “Company”), pursuant to its Omnibus Equity
Plan, as may be amended from time to time (the “Plan”), hereby grants to the holder listed below (“Participant”), an option
to purchase the number of shares of the Company’s Common Stock (the “Shares”), set forth below (the “Option”). This
Option is subject to all of the terms and conditions set forth herein, as well as in the Plan and the Stock Option Agreement
attached hereto as Exhibit A (the “Stock Option Agreement”), each of which are incorporated herein by reference.
Capitalized terms not specifically defined in this Stock Option Grant Notice (the “Grant Notice”) and the Stock Option
Agreement but defined in the Plan will have the same definitions as in the Plan. If the Company uses an electronic stock
administration system and the fields below are blank or the information is otherwise provided in a different format
electronically, the blank fields and other information shall be deemed incorporated herein from the electronic stock
administration system and considered part of this Grant Notice.

Participant: [ ]

Grant Date: [ 1

Vesting Commencement Date: [ ]

Exercise Price per Share: $[ 1

Total Exercise Price: [ ]

Tota‘l Number of Shares Subject to the [ 1

Option:

Expiration Date: [ ]

Vesting Schedule: [ 1

Type of Option: L] Incentive Stock Option [0 Nonqualified Stock Option

By Participant’s signature below or by electronic acceptance or authentication in a form authorized by the Company,
Participant agrees to be bound by the terms and conditions of the Plan, the Stock Option Agreement and this Grant Notice.
Participant has reviewed the Plan, the Stock Option Agreement and this Grant Notice in their entirety, has had an
opportunity to obtain the advice of counsel prior to executing this Grant Notice and fully understands all provisions of the
Plan, the Stock Option Agreement and this Grant Notice. Participant hereby agrees to accept as binding, conclusive and
final all decisions or interpretations of the Administrator upon any questions arising under the Plan, the Stock Option
Agreement or this Grant Notice.

LULU’S FASHION LOUNGE HOLDINGS, INC.: PARTICIPANT:
By: By:

Print Name: Print Name:
Title:

Address: Address:




EXHIBIT A
TO STOCK OPTION GRANT NOTICE

STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT

Pursuant to the Stock Option Grant Notice (the “Grant Notice”) to which this Stock Option Agreement (this
“Agreement”) is attached, Lulu’s Fashion Lounge Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), has granted to
the Participant an Option under the Company’s Omnibus Equity Plan, as may be amended from time to time (the “Plan”), to
purchase the number of Shares indicated in the Grant Notice.

ARTICLE 1.
GENERAL
1.1 Defined Terms. Capitalized terms not specifically defined herein shall have the meanings specified in the
Plan and the Grant Notice.
1.2 Incorporation of Terms of Plan. The Option is subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan which are

incorporated herein by reference. In the event of any inconsistency between the Plan and this Agreement, the terms of the
Plan shall control.

ARTICLE 2.
GRANT OF OPTION

2.1 Grant of Option. In consideration of the Participant’s past or continued employment with or service to the
Company or any Subsidiary and for other good and valuable consideration, effective as of the Grant Date set forth in the
Grant Notice (the “Grant Date”), the Company irrevocably grants to the Participant the Option to purchase any part or all of
an aggregate of the number of Shares set forth in the Grant Notice, upon the terms and conditions set forth in the Plan and
this Agreement, subject to adjustments as provided in Article IX of the Plan. Unless designated as a Nonqualified Stock
Option in the Grant Notice, the Option shall be an Incentive Stock Option to the maximum extent permitted by law.

2.2 Exercise Price. The exercise price of the Shares subject to the Option shall be as set forth in the Grant
Notice, without commission or other charge; provided, however, that the price per share of the Shares subject to the Option
shall not be less than 100% of the Fair Market Value of a Share on the Grant Date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if this
Option is designated as an Incentive Stock Option and the Participant is a Greater Than 10% Stockholder as of the Grant
Date, the exercise price per share of the Shares subject to the Option shall not be less than 110% of the Fair Market Value of
a Share on the Grant Date.

2.3 Consideration to the Company. In consideration of the grant of the Option by the Company, the Participant
agrees to render faithful and efficient services to the Company or any Subsidiary. Nothing in the Plan or this Agreement
shall confer upon the Participant any right to continue in the employ or service of the Company or any Subsidiary or shall
interfere with or restrict in any way the rights of the Company and its Subsidiaries, which rights are hereby expressly
reserved, to discharge or terminate the services of the Participant at any time for any reason whatsoever, with or without
cause, except to the extent expressly provided otherwise in a written agreement between the Company or a Subsidiary and
the Participant.




ARTICLE 3.
PERIOD OF EXERCISABILITY
3.1 Commencement of Exercisability.

(a Subject to Sections 3.2, 3.3, 5.11 and 5.17 hereof, the Option shall become vested and exercisable in
such amounts and at such times as are set forth in the Grant Notice.

(b) No portion of the Option which has not become vested and exercisable at the date of the
Participant’s Termination of Service shall thereafter become vested and exercisable, except as may be otherwise provided by
the Administrator or as set forth in a written agreement between the Company and the Participant.

(© Notwithstanding Section 3.1(a) hereof and the Grant Notice, but subject to Section 3.1(b) hereof, in
the event of a Change in Control the Option shall be treated pursuant to Sections 9.2 and 9.3 of the Plan.

3.2 Duration of Exercisability. The installments provided for in the vesting schedule set forth in the Grant
Notice are cumulative. Each such installment which becomes vested and exercisable pursuant to the vesting schedule set
forth in the Grant Notice shall remain vested and exercisable until it becomes unexercisable under Section 3.3 hereof.

3.3 Expiration of Option. The Option may not be exercised to any extent by anyone after the first to occur of
the following events:

(€) The Expiration Date set forth in the Grant Notice, which shall in no event be more than ten years
from the Grant Date;

(b) If this Option is designated as an Incentive Stock Option and the Participant, at the time the Option
was granted, was a Greater Than 10% Stockholder, the expiration of five years from the Grant Date;

(o) The expiration of three months from the date of the Participant’s Termination of Service, unless
such termination occurs by reason of the Participant’s death or Disability;

(d) The expiration of one year from the date of the Participant’s Termination of Service by reason of the
Participant’s death or Disability; or

(e) The Participant’s Termination of Service for Cause.

34 Special Tax Consequences. The Participant acknowledges that, to the extent that the aggregate Fair Market
Value (determined as of the time the Option is granted) of all Shares with respect to which Incentive Stock Options,
including the Option (if applicable), are exercisable for the first time by the Participant in any calendar year exceeds
$100,000, the Option and such other options shall be Nonqualified Stock Options to the extent necessary to comply with the
limitations imposed by Section 422(d) of the Code. The Participant further acknowledges that the rule set forth in the
preceding sentence shall be applied by taking the Option and other “incentive stock options” into account in the order in
which they were granted, as determined under Section 422(d) of the Code and the Treasury Regulations thereunder. The
Participant also acknowledges that an Incentive Stock Option exercised more than three
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months after the Participant’s Termination of Employment, other than by reason of death or Disability, will be taxed as a
Nonqualified Stock Option.

3.5 Tax Indemnity.

(a The Participant agrees to indemnify and keep indemnified the Company, any Subsidiary and the
Participant’s employing company, if different, from and against any liability for or obligation to pay any Tax Liability (a
“Tax Liability” being any liability for income tax, withholding tax and any other employment related taxes or social security
contributions in any jurisdiction) that is attributable to (1) the grant or exercise of, or any benefit derived by the Participant
from, the Option, (2) the acquisition by the Participant of the Shares on exercise of the Option or (3) the disposal of any
Shares.

(b) The Option cannot be exercised until the Participant has made such arrangements as the Company
may require for the satisfaction of any Tax Liability that may arise in connection with the exercise of the Option or the
acquisition of the Shares by the Participant. The Company shall not be required to issue, allot or transfer Shares until the
Participant has satisfied this obligation.

(0 The Participant hereby acknowledges that the Company (i) makes no representations or
undertakings regarding the treatment of any Tax Liabilities in connection with any aspect of the Option and (ii) does not
commit to and is under no obligation to structure the terms of the grant or any aspect of any Award, including the Option, to
reduce or eliminate the Participant’s liability for Tax Liabilities or achieve any particular tax result. Furthermore, if the
Participant becomes subject to tax in more than one jurisdiction between the date of grant of an Award, including the Option,
and the date of any relevant taxable event, the Participant acknowledges that the Company may be required to withhold or
account for Tax Liabilities in more than one jurisdiction.

ARTICLE 4.
EXERCISE OF OPTION

4.1 Person Eligible to Exercise. Except as provided in Section 5.3 hereof, during the lifetime of the Participant,
only the Participant may exercise the Option or any portion thereof, unless it has been disposed of pursuant to a DRO. After
the death of the Participant, any exercisable portion of the Option may, prior to the time when the Option becomes
unexercisable under Section 3.3 hereof, be exercised by the deceased Participant’s personal representative or by any person
empowered to do so under the deceased Participant’s will or under the then applicable laws of descent and distribution.

4.2 Partial Exercise. Any exercisable portion of the Option or the entire Option, if then wholly exercisable, may
be exercised in whole or in part at any time prior to the time when the Option or portion thereof becomes unexercisable
under Section 3.3 hereof. However, the Option shall not be exercisable with respect to fractional Shares.

4.3 Manner of Exercise. The Option, or any exercisable portion thereof, may be exercised solely by delivery to
the Secretary of the Company (or any third party administrator or other person or entity designated by the Company; for the
avoidance of doubt, delivery shall include electronic delivery), during regular business hours, of all of the following prior to
the time when the Option or such portion thereof becomes unexercisable under Section 3.3 hereof:

(a) An exercise notice in a form specified by the Administrator, stating that the Option or portion
thereof is thereby exercised, such notice complying with all applicable rules established




by the Administrator. The notice shall be signed by the Participant or other person then entitled to exercise the Option or
such portion of the Option;

(b) The receipt by the Company of full payment for the Shares with respect to which the Option or
portion thereof is exercised, including payment of any applicable withholding tax, which shall be made by deduction from
other compensation payable to the Participant or in such other form of consideration permitted under Section 4.4 hereof that
is acceptable to the Company;

(9] Any other written representations or documents as may be required in the Administrator’s sole
discretion to evidence compliance with the Securities Act, the Exchange Act or any other applicable law, rule or regulation;
and

(d) In the event the Option or portion thereof shall be exercised pursuant to Section 4.1 hereof by any
person or persons other than the Participant, appropriate proof of the right of such person or persons to exercise the Option.

Notwithstanding any of the foregoing, the Company shall have the right to specify all conditions of the manner of exercise,
which conditions may vary by country and which may be subject to change from time to time.

4.4 Method of Payment. Payment of the exercise price shall be by any of the following, or a combination
thereof, at the election of the Participant:

(a) Cash or check;

(b) With the consent of the Administrator, surrender of Shares (including, without limitation, Shares
otherwise issuable upon exercise of the Option) held for such period of time as may be required by the Administrator in
order to avoid adverse accounting consequences and having a Fair Market Value on the date of delivery equal to the
aggregate exercise price of the Option or exercised portion thereof; or

(o) Other legal consideration acceptable to the Administrator (including, without limitation, through the
delivery of a notice that the Participant has placed a market sell order with a broker with respect to Shares then issuable upon
exercise of the Option, and that the broker has been directed to pay a sufficient portion of the net proceeds of the sale to the
Company in satisfaction of the Option exercise price; provided that payment of such proceeds is then made to the Company
at such time as may be required by the Company, but in any event not later than the settlement of such sale).

4.5 Conditions to Issuance of Shares. The Shares deliverable upon the exercise of the Option, or any portion
thereof, may be either previously authorized but unissued Shares or issued Shares which have then been reacquired by the
Company. Such Shares shall be fully paid and nonassessable. The Company shall not be required to issue or deliver any
Shares purchased upon the exercise of the Option or portion thereof prior to fulfillment of all of the conditions in Section
10.7 of the Plan and following conditions:

(a) The admission of such Shares to listing on all stock exchanges on which such Shares are then listed;

(b) The completion of any registration or other qualification of such Shares under any state or federal
law or under rulings or regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission or of




any other governmental regulatory body, which the Administrator shall, in its absolute discretion, deem necessary or
advisable;

(0 The obtaining of any approval or other clearance from any state or federal governmental agency
which the Administrator shall, in its absolute discretion, determine to be necessary or advisable;

(d The receipt by the Company of full payment for such Shares, including payment of any applicable
withholding tax, which may be in one or more of the forms of consideration permitted under Section 4.4 hereof; and

(e) The lapse of such reasonable period of time following the exercise of the Option as the
Administrator may from time to time establish for reasons of administrative convenience.

4.6 Rights as Stockholder. The holder of the Option shall not be, nor have any of the rights or privileges of, a
stockholder of the Company, including, without limitation, voting rights and rights to dividends, in respect of any Shares
purchasable upon the exercise of any part of the Option unless and until such Shares shall have been issued by the Company
and held of record by such holder (as evidenced by the appropriate entry on the books of the Company or of a duly
authorized transfer agent of the Company). No adjustment will be made for a dividend or other right for which the record
date is prior to the date the Shares are issued, except as provided in Article IX of the Plan.

ARTICLE 5.
OTHER PROVISIONS

5.1 Administration. The Administrator shall have the power to interpret the Plan and this Agreement and to
adopt such rules for the administration, interpretation and application of the Plan as are consistent therewith and to interpret,
amend or revoke any such rules. All actions taken and all interpretations and determinations made by the Administrator in
good faith shall be final and binding upon the Participant, the Company and all other interested persons. No member of the
Committee or the Board shall be personally liable for any action, determination or interpretation made in good faith with
respect to the Plan, this Agreement or the Option.

5.2 Whole Shares. The Option may only be exercised for whole Shares.
5.3 Transferability.

(a) Subject to Section 4.1 hereof, the Option may not be sold, pledged, assigned or transferred in any
manner other than by will or the laws of descent and distribution or, subject to the consent of the Administrator, pursuant to a
DRO, unless and until the Option has been exercised and the Shares underlying the Option have been issued, and all
restrictions applicable to such Shares have lapsed. Neither the Option nor any interest or right therein shall be liable for the
debts, contracts or engagements of the Participant or his or her successors in interest or shall be subject to disposition by
transfer, alienation, anticipation, pledge, hypothecation, encumbrance, assignment or any other means whether such
disposition be voluntary or involuntary or by operation of law by judgment, levy, attachment, garnishment or any other legal
or equitable proceedings (including bankruptcy) unless and until the Option has been exercised, and any attempted
disposition thereof prior to exercise shall be null and void and of no effect, except to the extent that such disposition is
permitted by the preceding sentence.




(b) During the lifetime of the Participant, only the Participant may exercise the Option (or any portion
thereof), unless it has been disposed of pursuant to a DRO; after the death of the Participant, any exercisable portion of the
Option may, prior to the time when such portion becomes unexercisable under the Plan or this Agreement, be exercised by
the Participant’s personal representative or by any person empowered to do so under the deceased Participant’s will or under
the then-applicable laws of descent and distribution.

(o) Notwithstanding any other provision in this Agreement, the Participant may, in the manner
determined by the Administrator, designate a beneficiary to exercise the rights of the Participant and to receive any
distribution with respect to the Option upon the Participant’s death. A beneficiary, legal guardian, legal representative, or
other person claiming any rights pursuant to the Plan is subject to all terms and conditions of the Plan and this Agreement,
except to the extent the Plan and this Agreement otherwise provide, and to any additional restrictions deemed necessary or
appropriate by the Administrator. If the Participant is married or a domestic partner in a domestic partnership qualified
under Applicable Law and resides in a community property state, a designation of a person other than the Participant’s
spouse or domestic partner, as applicable, as his or her beneficiary with respect to more than 50% of the Participant’s interest
in the Option shall not be effective without the prior written consent of the Participant’s spouse or domestic partner. If no
beneficiary has been designated or survives the Participant, payment shall be made to the person entitled thereto pursuant to
the Participant’s will or the laws of descent and distribution. Subject to the foregoing, a beneficiary designation may be
changed or revoked by the Participant at any time provided the change or revocation is filed with the Administrator prior to
the Participant’s death.

5.4 Tax Consultation. The Participant understands that the Participant may suffer adverse tax consequences as a
result of the grant, vesting or exercise of the Option, or with the purchase or disposition of the Shares subject to the Option.
The Participant represents that the Participant has consulted with any tax consultants the Participant deems advisable in
connection with the purchase or disposition of such Shares and that the Participant is not relying on the Company for any tax
advice.

5.5 Binding Agreement. Subject to the limitation on the transferability of the Option contained herein, this
Agreement will be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the heirs, legatees, legal representatives, successors and assigns
of the parties hereto.

5.6 Adjustments Upon Specified Events. The Administrator may accelerate the vesting of the Option in such
circumstances as it, in its sole discretion, may determine. In addition, upon the occurrence of certain events relating to the
Shares contemplated by Article IX of the Plan (including, without limitation, an extraordinary cash dividend on such
Shares), the Administrator shall make such adjustments the Administrator deems appropriate in the number of Shares subject
to the Option, the exercise price of the Option and the kind of securities that may be issued upon exercise of the Option. The
Participant acknowledges that the Option is subject to adjustment, modification and termination in certain events as provided
in this Agreement and Article IX of the Plan.

5.7 Notices. Any notice to be given under the terms of this Agreement to the Company shall be addressed to the
Company in care of the Secretary of the Company at the Company’s principal office, and any notice to be given to the
Participant shall be addressed to the Participant at the Participant’s last address reflected on the Company’s records. By a
notice given pursuant to this Section 5.7, either party may hereafter designate a different address for notices to be given to
that party. Any notice which is required to be given to the Participant shall, if the Participant is then deceased, be given to
the person entitled to exercise his or her Option pursuant to Section 4.1 hereof by written notice under this Section 5.7. Any
notice shall be deemed duly given when sent via email or when sent by certified mail (return
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receipt requested) and deposited (with postage prepaid) in a post office or branch post office regularly maintained by the
United States Postal Service.

5.8 Titles. Titles are provided herein for convenience only and are not to serve as a basis for interpretation or
construction of this Agreement.

5.9 Governing Law. The laws of the State of Delaware shall govern the interpretation, validity, administration,
enforcement and performance of the terms of this Agreement regardless of the law that might be applied under principles of
conflicts of laws.

5.10 Conformity to Securities Laws. The Participant acknowledges that the Plan and this Agreement are
intended to conform to the extent necessary with all provisions of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act and any and all
Applicable Law and regulations and rules promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission thereunder, and state
securities laws and regulations. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Plan shall be administered, and the
Option is granted and may be exercised, only in such a manner as to conform to such Applicable Law. To the extent
permitted by applicable law, the Plan and this Agreement shall be deemed amended to the extent necessary to conform to
such Applicable Law.

5.11 Amendment, Suspension and Termination. To the extent permitted by the Plan, this Agreement may be
wholly or partially amended or otherwise modified, suspended or terminated at any time or from time to time by the
Administrator or the Board; provided, however, that, except as may otherwise be provided by the Plan, no amendment,
modification, suspension or termination of this Agreement shall adversely affect the Option in any material way without the
prior written consent of the Participant.

5.12  Successors and Assigns. The Company may assign any of its rights under this Agreement to single or
multiple assignees, and this Agreement shall inure to the benefit of the successors and assigns of the Company. Subject to
the restrictions on transfer herein set forth in Section 5.3 hereof, this Agreement shall be binding upon the Participant and his
or her heirs, executors, administrators, successors and assigns.

5.13  Notification of Disposition. If this Option is designated as an Incentive Stock Option, the Participant shall
give prompt notice to the Company of any disposition or other transfer of any Shares acquired under this Agreement if such
disposition or transfer is made (a) within two years from the Grant Date with respect to such Shares or (b) within one year
after the transfer of such Shares to the Participant. Such notice shall specify the date of such disposition or other transfer and
the amount realized, in cash, other property, assumption of indebtedness or other consideration, by the Participant in such
disposition or other transfer.

5.14  Limitations Applicable to Section 16 Persons. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan or this
Agreement, if the Participant is subject to Section 16 of the Exchange Act, the Plan, the Option and this Agreement shall be
subject to any additional limitations set forth in any applicable exemptive rule under Section 16 of the Exchange Act
(including any amendment to Rule 16b-3 of the Exchange Act) that are requirements for the application of such exemptive
rule. To the extent permitted by applicable law, this Agreement shall be deemed amended to the extent necessary to conform
to such applicable exemptive rule.

5.15 Not a Contract of Service Relationship. Nothing in this Agreement or in the Plan shall confer upon the
Participant any right to continue to serve as an employee or other service provider of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries
or interfere with or restrict in any way with the right of the Company




or any of its Subsidiaries, which rights are hereby expressly reserved, to discharge or to terminate for any reason whatsoever,
with or without cause, the services of the Participant’s at any time.

5.16 Entire Agreement. The Plan, the Grant Notice and this Agreement constitute the entire agreement of the
parties and supersede in their entirety all prior undertakings and agreements of the Company and the Participant with respect
to the subject matter hereof, provided that the Option shall be subject to any accelerated vesting provisions in any written
agreement between the Participant and the Company or a Company plan pursuant to which the Participant participates, in
each case, in accordance with the terms therein.

5.17  Section 409A. This Option is not intended to constitute “nonqualified deferred compensation” within the
meaning of Section 409A of the Code (together with any Department of Treasury regulations and other interpretive guidance
issued thereunder, including without limitation any such regulations or other guidance that may be issued after the date
hereof, “Section 409A”). However, notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan, the Grant Notice or this Agreement, if
at any time the Administrator determines that the Option (or any portion thereof) may be subject to Section 409A, the
Administrator shall have the right in its sole discretion (without any obligation to do so or to indemnify the Participant or
any other person for failure to do so) to adopt such amendments to the Plan, the Grant Notice or this Agreement, or adopt
other policies and procedures (including amendments, policies and procedures with retroactive effect), or take any other
actions, as the Administrator determines are necessary or appropriate either for the Option to be exempt from the application
of Section 409A or to comply with the requirements of Section 409A.

5.18 Limitation on the Participant’s Rights. Participation in the Plan confers no rights or interests other than as
herein provided. This Agreement creates only a contractual obligation on the part of the Company as to amounts payable
and shall not be construed as creating a trust. Neither the Plan nor any underlying program, in and of itself, has any assets.
The Participant shall have only the rights of a general unsecured creditor of the Company with respect to amounts credited
and benefits payable, if any, with respect to the Option, and rights no greater than the right to receive the Shares as a general
unsecured creditor with respect to options, as and when exercised pursuant to the terms hereof.

* x * 3 *
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LULU’S FASHION LOUNGE HOLDINGS, INC.
OMNIBUS EQUITY PLAN

RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AWARD GRANT NOTICE

Lulu’s Fashion Lounge Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation, (the “Company”), pursuant to its Omnibus Equity
Plan, as amended from time to time (the “Plan”), hereby grants to the holder listed below (the “Participant”), an award of
restricted stock units (“Restricted Stock Units” or “RSUs”). Each vested Restricted Stock Unit represents the right to
receive, in accordance with the Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit A (the “Agreement”),
one share of Common Stock (“Share”). This award of Restricted Stock Units is subject to all of the terms and conditions set
forth herein and in the Agreement and the Plan, each of which are incorporated herein by reference. Capitalized terms not
specifically defined in this Restricted Stock Unit Award Grant Notice (the “Grant Notice”) and the Agreement but defined in
the Plan will have the same definitions as in the Plan. If the Company uses an electronic stock administration system and the
fields below are blank or the information is otherwise provided in a different format electronically, the blank fields and other
information shall be deemed incorporated herein from the electronic stock administration system and considered part of this
Grant Notice.

Participant: [ ]
Grant Date: [ 1
Total Number of RSUs: [ ]
Vesting Commencement Date: [ 1
Vesting Schedule: [ ]
Termination: If the Participant experiences a Termination of Service, all RSUs that have not

become vested on or prior to the date of such Termination of Service will
thereupon be automatically forfeited by the Participant without payment of any
consideration therefor.

By the Participant’s signature below or by electronic acceptance or authentication in a form authorized by the
Company, the Participant agrees to be bound by the terms and conditions of the Plan, the Agreement and this Grant Notice.
The Participant has reviewed the Plan, the Agreement and this Grant Notice in their entirety, has had an opportunity to
obtain the advice of counsel prior to executing this Grant Notice and fully understands all provisions of the Plan, the
Agreement and this Grant Notice. The Participant hereby agrees to accept as binding, conclusive and final all decisions or
interpretations of the Administrator upon any questions arising under the Plan, the Agreement or this Grant Notice. In
addition, by signing below, the Participant also agrees that the Company, in its sole discretion, may satisfy any withholding
obligations in accordance with Section 2.6(b) of the Agreement by (i) withholding shares of Common Stock otherwise
issuable to the Participant upon vesting of the RSUs, (ii) instructing a broker on the Participant’s behalf to sell shares of
Common Stock otherwise issuable to the Participant upon vesting of the RSUs and submit the proceeds of such sale to the
Company, or (iii) using any other method permitted by Section 2.6(b) of the Agreement or the Plan.

If the Participant does not sign or otherwise electronically accept this Grant Notice within 30 days following
the date this Grant Notice is provided to Participant or otherwise becomes available for the Participant’s acceptance,

this award of RSUs shall be automatically forfeited without payment on the day after such 30th day.

LULU’S FASHION LOUNGE HOLDINGS, PARTICIPANT:




INC.:

By: By:
Print Name: Print Name:
Title:

Address: Address:




EXHIBIT A
TO RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AWARD GRANT NOTICE

RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AWARD AGREEMENT

Pursuant to the Restricted Stock Unit Award Grant Notice (the “Grant Notice”) to which this Restricted Stock Unit
Award Agreement (this “Agreement”) is attached, Lulu’s Fashion Lounge Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the
“Company”), has granted to the Participant the number of restricted stock units (“Restricted Stock Units” or “RSUs”) set
forth in the Grant Notice under the Company’s Omnibus Equity Plan, as amended from time to time (the “Plan”). Each
Restricted Stock Unit represents the right to receive one share of Common Stock (a “Share”) upon vesting.

ARTICLE 1.
GENERAL
1.1 Defined Terms. Capitalized terms not specifically defined herein shall have the meanings specified in the
Plan and the Grant Notice.
1.2 Incorporation of Terms of Plan. The RSUs are subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan, which are

incorporated herein by reference. In the event of any inconsistency between the Plan and this Agreement, the terms of the
Plan shall control.

ARTICLE II.
GRANT OF RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS

2.1 Grant of RSUs. Pursuant to the Grant Notice and upon the terms and conditions set forth in the Plan and
this Agreement, effective as of the Grant Date set forth in the Grant Notice, the Company hereby grants to the Participant an
award of RSUs under the Plan in consideration of the Participant’s past or continued employment with or service to the
Company or any Subsidiaries and for other good and valuable consideration.

2.2 Unsecured Obligation to RSUs. Unless and until the RSUs have vested in the manner set forth in Article
2 hereof, the Participant will have no right to receive Common Stock under any such RSUs. Prior to actual payment of any
vested RSUs, such RSUs will represent an unsecured obligation of the Company, payable (if at all) only from the general
assets of the Company.

2.3 Vesting_Schedule. Subject to Section 2.5 hereof, the RSUs shall vest and become nonforfeitable with
respect to the applicable portion thereof according to the vesting schedule set forth in the Grant Notice (rounding down to
the nearest whole Share).

24 Consideration to the Company. In consideration of the grant of the award of RSUs pursuant hereto, the
Participant agrees to render faithful and efficient services to the Company or any Subsidiary.

2.5 Forfeiture, Termination and Cancellation upon Termination of Service. Notwithstanding any contrary
provision of this Agreement or the Plan, upon the Participant’s Termination of Service for any or no reason, all Restricted
Stock Units which have not vested prior to or in connection with such Termination of Service shall thereupon automatically
be forfeited, terminated and cancelled as of the applicable termination date without payment of any consideration by the
Company, and the

A-1




Participant, or the Participant’s beneficiary or personal representative, as the case may be, shall have no further rights
hereunder. No portion of the RSUs which has not become vested as of the date on which the Participant incurs a
Termination of Service shall thereafter become vested, except as may otherwise be provided by the Administrator or as set
forth in a written agreement between the Company and the Participant.

2.6 Issuance of Common Stock upon Vesting.

@ Within the period ending on the earlier of 90 days after the vesting date of any Restricted Stock
Units pursuant to Section 2.3 hereof, and March 15 of the calendar year after the calendar year during which the vesting date
occurs, the Company shall deliver to the Participant (or any transferee permitted under Section 3.2 hereof) a number of
Shares equal to the number of RSUs subject to this Award that vest on the applicable vesting date. For the avoidance of
doubt, the deadlines for Share delivery that are contemplated by the preceding sentence have been set so that the RSUs
granted hereunder comply with the “short term deferral” exemption from Section 409A of the Code. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, in the event Shares cannot be issued pursuant to Section 10.7 of the Plan, the Shares shall be issued pursuant to
the preceding sentence as soon as administratively practicable after the Administrator determines that Shares can again be
issued in accordance with such Section.

(b) As set forth in Section 10.5 of the Plan, the Company shall have the authority and the right to
deduct or withhold, or to require the Participant to remit to the Company, an amount sufficient to satisfy all applicable
federal, state and local taxes required by law to be withheld with respect to any taxable event arising in connection with the
Restricted Stock Units. The Company shall not be obligated to deliver any Shares to the Participant or the Participant’s legal
representative unless and until the Participant or the Participant’s legal representative shall have paid or otherwise satisfied
in full the amount of all federal, state and local taxes applicable to the taxable income of the Participant resulting from the
grant or vesting of the Restricted Stock Units or the issuance of Shares.

2.7 Conditions to Delivery of Shares. The Shares deliverable hereunder may be either previously authorized
but unissued Shares, treasury Shares or issued Shares which have then been reacquired by the Company. Such Shares shall
be fully paid and nonassessable. The Company shall not be required to issue Shares deliverable hereunder prior to
fulfillment of the conditions set forth in Section 10.7 of the Plan.

2.8 Rights as Stockholder. The holder of the RSUs shall not be, nor have any of the rights or privileges of, a
stockholder of the Company, including, without limitation, voting rights and rights to dividends, in respect of the RSUs and
any Shares underlying the RSUs and deliverable hereunder unless and until such Shares shall have been issued by the
Company and held of record by such holder (as evidenced by the appropriate entry on the books of the Company or of a duly
authorized transfer agent of the Company). No adjustment shall be made for a dividend or other right for which the record
date is prior to the date the Shares are issued, except as provided in Article IX of the Plan.

ARTICLE III.
OTHER PROVISIONS

3.1 Administration. The Administrator shall have the power to interpret the Plan and this Agreement and to
adopt such rules for the administration, interpretation and application of the Plan as are consistent therewith and to interpret,
amend or revoke any such rules. All actions taken and all interpretations and determinations made by the Administrator in
good faith shall be final and binding upon the Participant, the Company and all other interested persons. No member of the
Administrator or




the Board shall be personally liable for any action, determination or interpretation made in good faith with respect to the
Plan, this Agreement or the RSUs.

3.2 Transferability. The RSUs shall be subject to the restrictions on transferability set forth in Section 10.1 of
the Plan.

3.3 Tax Consultation. The Participant understands that the Participant may suffer adverse tax consequences in
connection with the RSUs granted pursuant to this Agreement (and the Shares issuable with respect thereto). The Participant
represents that the Participant has consulted with any tax consultants the Participant deems advisable in connection with the
RSUs and the issuance of Shares with respect thereto and that the Participant is not relying on the Company for any tax
advice.

3.4 Binding_Agreement. Subject to the limitation on the transferability of the RSUs contained herein, this
Agreement will be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the heirs, legatees, legal representatives, successors and assigns
of the parties hereto.

3.5 Adjustments Upon Specified Events. The Administrator may accelerate the vesting of the RSUs in such
circumstances as it, in its sole discretion, may determine. The Participant acknowledges that the RSUs are subject to
adjustment, modification and termination in certain events as provided in this Agreement and Article IX of the Plan.

3.6 Notices. Any notice to be given under the terms of this Agreement to the Company shall be addressed to the
Company in care of the Secretary of the Company at the Company’s principal office, and any notice to be given to the
Participant shall be addressed to the Participant at the Participant’s last address reflected on the Company’s records. By a
notice given pursuant to this Section 3.6, either party may hereafter designate a different address for notices to be given to
that party. Any notice shall be deemed duly given when sent via email or when sent by certified mail (return receipt
requested) and deposited (with postage prepaid) in a post office or branch post office regularly maintained by the United
States Postal Service.

3.7 Participant’s Representations. If the Shares issuable hereunder have not been registered under the Securities
Act or any applicable state laws on an effective registration statement at the time of such issuance, the Participant shall, if
required by the Company, concurrently with such issuance, make such written representations as are deemed necessary or
appropriate by the Company or its counsel.

3.8 Titles. Titles are provided herein for convenience only and are not to serve as a basis for interpretation or
construction of this Agreement.

3.9 Governing Law. The laws of the State of Delaware shall govern the interpretation, validity, administration,
enforcement and performance of the terms of this Agreement regardless of the law that might be applied under principles of
conflicts of laws.

3.10  Conformity to Securities Laws. The Participant acknowledges that the Plan and this Agreement are
intended to conform to the extent necessary with all provisions of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act and any other
Applicable Law. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Plan shall be administered, and the RSUs are granted,
only in such a manner as to conform to Applicable Law. To the extent permitted by Applicable Law, the Plan and this
Agreement shall be deemed amended to the extent necessary to conform to such Applicable Law.

3.11  Amendment, Suspension and Termination. To the extent permitted by the Plan, this Agreement may be
wholly or partially amended or otherwise modified, suspended or terminated at any
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time or from time to time by the Administrator or the Board; provided, however, that, except as may otherwise be provided
by the Plan, no amendment, modification, suspension or termination of this Agreement shall adversely affect the RSUs in
any material way without the prior written consent of the Participant.

3.12  Successors and Assigns. The Company may assign any of its rights under this Agreement to single or
multiple assignees, and this Agreement shall inure to the benefit of the successors and assigns of the Company. Subject to
the restrictions on transfer herein set forth in Section 3.2 hereof, this Agreement shall be binding upon the Participant and his
or her heirs, executors, administrators, successors and assigns.

3.13 Limitations Applicable to Section 16 Persons. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan or this
Agreement, if the Participant is subject to Section 16 of the Exchange Act, then the Plan, the RSUs and this Agreement shall
be subject to any additional limitations set forth in any applicable exemptive rule under Section 16 of the Exchange Act
(including any amendment to Rule 16b-3 of the Exchange Act) that are requirements for the application of such exemptive
rule. To the extent permitted by Applicable Law, this Agreement shall be deemed amended to the extent necessary to
conform to such applicable exemptive rule.

3.14 Not a Contract of Service Relationship. Nothing in this Agreement or in the Plan shall confer upon
Participant any right to continue to serve as an employee or other service provider of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries
or interfere with or restrict in any way with the right of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, which rights are hereby
expressly reserved, to discharge or to terminate for any reason whatsoever, with or without cause, the services of the
Participant at any time.

3.15 Entire Agreement. The Plan, the Grant Notice and this Agreement (including all Exhibits thereto, if any)
constitute the entire agreement of the parties and supersede in their entirety all prior undertakings and agreements of the
Company and the Participant with respect to the subject matter hereof, provided that the RSUs shall be subject to any
accelerated vesting provisions in any written agreement between the Participant and the Company or a Company plan
pursuant to which the Participant participates, in each case, in accordance with the terms therein.

3.16  Section 409A. This Award is not intended to constitute “nonqualified deferred compensation” within the
meaning of Section 409A of the Code (together with any Department of Treasury regulations and other interpretive guidance
issued thereunder, including without limitation any such regulations or other guidance that may be issued after the date
hereof, “Section 409A”). However, notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan, the Grant Notice or this Agreement, if
at any time the Administrator determines that this Award (or any portion thereof) may be subject to Section 409A, the
Administrator shall have the right in its sole discretion (without any obligation to do so or to indemnify Participant or any
other person for failure to do so) to adopt such amendments to the Plan, the Grant Notice or this Agreement, or adopt other
policies and procedures (including amendments, policies and procedures with retroactive effect), or take any other actions,
as the Administrator determines are necessary or appropriate for this Award either to be exempt from the application of
Section 409A or to comply with the requirements of Section 409A.

3.17 Limitation on Participant’s Rights. Participation in the Plan confers no rights or interests other than as
herein provided. This Agreement creates only a contractual obligation on the part of the Company as to amounts payable
and shall not be construed as creating a trust. Neither the Plan nor any underlying program, in and of itself, has any assets.
The Participant shall have only the rights of a general unsecured creditor of the Company and its Subsidiaries with respect
to amounts credited and benefits




payable, if any, with respect to the RSUs, and rights no greater than the right to receive the Common Stock as a general
unsecured creditor with respect to RSUs, as and when payable hereunder.




EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement No. 333-260985 on Form S-8 of our report dated March 31, 2022
relating to the consolidated financial statements of Lulu’s Fashion Lounge Holdings, Inc. appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended January 2, 2022.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

San Francisco, California
March 31, 2022




Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION
I, David McCreight, certify that:
1. Thave reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Lulu’s Fashion Lounge Holdings, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to
the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in
this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known
to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) [Omitted];

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on
such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information;
and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 31, 2022 By: /s/ David McCreight
David McCreight
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION
I, Crystal Landsem, certify that:
1. Thave reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Lulu’s Fashion Lounge Holdings, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to
the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in
this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known
to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) [Omitted];

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on
such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information;
and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 31, 2022 By: /s/ Crystal Landsem
Crystal Landsem
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Lulu’s Fashion Lounge Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”) for the period ended
January 2, 2022 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
§ 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended;
and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations
of the Company.

Date: March 31, 2022 By: /s/ David McCreight
David McCreight
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)




Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Lulu’s Fashion Lounge Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”) for the period ended
January 2, 2022 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
§ 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended;
and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations
of the Company.

Date: March 31, 2022 By: /s/ Crystal Landsem
Crystal Landsem
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)




